
 
1 of  4 

 

 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MONDAY, OCTOBER 1, 2018 
7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 
 
 

A. Call to Order by the Mayor. 
 

B. Roll Call. 
 

C. Approval of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of September 17, 2018. 
 

D. Agenda Revisions. 
 

E. Special Order of Business: 
 
1. Public hearing on a proposed ordinance granting a partial property tax exemption to Standard 

Distribution Co. for construction of a warehouse addition at 317 Savannah Park Drive. 
 
a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 

2018) 
 

b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk. 
 

c. Oral comments. 
 

2. Pass an ordinance granting a partial property tax exemption to Standard Distribution Co. for 
construction of a warehouse addition at 317 Savannah Park Drive, upon its first consideration. 
 

3. Public hearing on a proposed Agreement for Private Development and conveyance of certain city-
owned real estate to Six Kids, L.L.C. 
 
a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 

2018) 
 

b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk. 
 

c. Oral comments. 
 

4. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development and a 
Minimum Assessment Agreement with Six Kids, L.L.C., and approving and authorizing execution of 
a Quit Claim Deed conveying title to certain real estate to Six Kids, L.L.C. 
 

5. Public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, Agricultural District, to HWY-1, Highway 
Commercial District, of property located in the southwest corner of Highway 58 and West 
Ridgeway Avenue, subject to certain conditions. 
 
a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 

2018) 
 



 
2 of  4 

 

b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk. 
 

c. Oral comments. 
 

6. Pass an ordinance amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located in the southwest corner of Highway 58 and West Ridgeway Avenue from A-1, Agricultural 
District, and placing the same in HWY-1, Highway Commercial District, subject to certain 
conditions, upon its first consideration. 
 

7. Public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, Agricultural District, to R-1, Residence District, 
of property located at the north end of Lakeshore Drive. 
 
a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 

2018) 
 

b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk. 
 

c. Oral comments. 
 

8. Pass an ordinance amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property 
located at the north end of Lakeshore Drive from A-1, Agricultural District, and placing the same in 
R-1, Residence District, upon its first consideration. 
 

F. Old Business: 
 
1. Pass Ordinance #2931, amending Chapter 29, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 

design guidelines in the Central Business District Overlay Zoning District, upon its third & final 
consideration. 
 

G. New Business: 
 
1. Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without 

separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be 
considered separately.) 
 
a. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of September 17, 2018 relative to the 

following items: 
(1) Promotion of Household Hazardous Materials Drop-off & Electronics Recycling Event – 
September 22, 2018.  
(2) Bills & Payroll. 
 

b. Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to a certified 
list for the position of Information Systems Technician I. 
 

c. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of August 2018. 
 

d. Approve a request for a street closure and parking variance for the Pink Ribbon Run on 
October 6, 2018. 
 

e. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
(1) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
(2) Chapala 2, 1704 West 1st Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
(3) Peppers Grill & Sports Pub, 620 East 18th Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
(4) Casey's General Store, 601 Main Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
(5) Fareway Store, 214 North Magnolia Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 
(6) Casey's General Store, 2425 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B native wine - adding 



 
3 of  4 

 

Class B wine. 
(7) Casey's General Store, 5226 University Avenue, Class C beer & Class B native wine - 
adding Class B wine. 
(8) Casey's General Store, 5908 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B native wine - adding 
Class B wine. 
 

2. Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion 
without separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific 
item be considered separately.) 
 
a. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow property located 

at 1028 West 12th Street. 
 

b. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow property located 
at 424 Balboa Avenue. 
 

c. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear 
overgrown vegetation on the property located at 933 West 13th Street. 
 

d. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Wantman Group, Inc. 
(WGI) to perform parking consulting services relative to a Downtown Parking Study. 
 

e. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amendment to SIRE Technologies 
Maintenance Agreement with Hyland Software, Inc. relative to the City's agenda 
management software. 
 

f. Resolution approving and authorizing placement of a Gold Star Family monument in 
Veterans Memorial Park, subject to funding by private donations, as recommended by the 
Parks & Recreation Commission. 
 

g. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a 28E Agreement for Tobacco, Alternative 
Nicotine and Vapor Product Enforcement with the Iowa Alcoholic Beverages Division. 
 

h. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Letter of Agreement and Request for 
Provisionally Accredited Levee (PAL) Designation with U.S. Homeland Security relative to 
the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) accreditation of the levee. 
 

i. Resolution approving and accepting completion of public improvements in The Arbors Third 
Addition. 
 

j. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of four Owner Purchase Agreements, and 
approving and accepting four Owner's Temporary Grading Easements and two Public Utility 
Easements, in conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 
 

k. Resolution approving and authorizing Change Order No. 2 to the contract with Iowa Bridge & 
Culvert, LC for the 2017 Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project. 
 

l. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Owner Purchase Agreement, and 
approving and accepting a Partial Release of Real Estate Mortgage and Permanent Utility 
Easement, in conjunction with the 2017 Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project. 
 

m. Resolution approving and accepting completion of traffic signal improvements in the Heritage 
Hills Estates Second Addition. 
 

n. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Aureon 
Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system in the West 



 
4 of  4 

 

1st Street & North Union Road public right-of-way. 
 

o. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Aureon 
Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system in the 
Magnolia Drive & Crescent Drive public right-of-way. 
 

p. Resolution approving and accepting the low bids, and approving and authorizing execution 
of three Rehabilitation Contracts with Kirvan Enterprises LLC, relative to Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) housing rehabilitation projects. 
 

q. Resolution approving a Central Business District Overlay Zoning District site plan for a deck 
addition at 419 Washington Street. 
 

r. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
City of Waterloo relative to Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) 
preparation of the City's FY20-24 Five-Year Consolidated Action Plan for the Community 
Development Block Grant & HOME Programs. 
 

s. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with 
the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) relative to preparation of 
the Five-Year Consolidated Plan and Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing for FFY 19-23 
(City FY20-24). 
 

t. Resolution of support for a grant application to the Black Hawk County Gaming Association 
relative to the Downtown Streetscape Project. 
 

3. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances relative to keeping of 
chickens and ducks, upon its first consideration. 
 

H. Allow Bills and Payroll. 
 

I. City Council Referrals. 
 

J. City Council Updates. 
 

K. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be reasonably expected 
to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce the price the 
governmental body would receive for that property, following Public Forum. 
 

L. Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to 
City business.) 
 

M. Adjournment. 
 

 
 



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, SEPTEMBER 17, 2018 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR JAMES P. BROWN PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, pursuant 
to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member thereof, in the 
City Hall at Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: 
Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Absent: Darrah, Green. 

 
52031 - It was moved by Wieland and seconded by Kruse that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of September 4, 2018 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
Mayor Brown read a proclamation declaring September 17-23, 2018 as Constitution 
Week and Chapter Regent Susan LeQuatte introduced Vice Regent Barb Gregersen 
and member Jeverna Mulligan and spoke on behalf of the Cedar Falls Chapter of the 
Daughters of the American Revolution (DAR). 
 
Mayor Brown read a proclamation declaring September 2018 as Hunger Action 
Month and Marketing Manager Bryan Helleso spoke on behalf of the Northeast Iowa 
Food Bank. 

 
Mayor Brown read a proclamation declaring October 7-13, 2018 as Fire Prevention 
Week and Fire Chief Bostwick commented on events that would be taking place 
during Fire Prevention Week. 
 
Mayor Brown read a proclamation declaring September 23-29, 2018 as National Rail 
Safety Week. 

 
52032 -  Mayor Brown announced that in accordance with the public notice of September 10, 

2018, this was the time and place for a public hearing on proposed submission of the 
City's FY17-18 Consolidated Annual Performance and Evaluation Report for the 
Community Development Block Grant & HOME Programs. It was then moved by 
Miller and seconded by Kruse that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be 
received and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 
 

52033 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written objections filed to the proposed 
report. Upon being advised that there were no written objections on file, the Mayor 
then called for oral comments. Community Services Manager Howard commented 
briefly. There being no one else present wishing to speak either for or against the 
proposed report, the Mayor declared the hearing closed and passed to the next 
order of business. 
 

52034 -  It was moved by Wieland and seconded by deBuhr that Resolution #21,251, 
approving the submission of the City's FY17-18 Consolidated Annual Performance 
and Evaluation Report for the Community Development Block Grant & HOME 
Programs, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put 
the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. 
Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,251 duly passed and 

-1-

Item C. 



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

adopted. 
 

52035 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Wieland that Ordinance #2931, amending 
Chapter 29, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to design guidelines in the 
Central Business District Overlay Zoning District, be passed upon its second 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
52036 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that the following items and 

recommendations on the Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 
Receive and file the resignation of Donna Bash as a member of the Historic 
Preservation Commission. 
 
Receive and file the bids received for the Cedar Falls Public Library Remodel 
Project. 
 
Approve a request for a street closure on Park Drive on September 29, 2018. 
 
Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
 (1) Pablo's Mexican Grill, 310 Main Street, Class B beer - renewal. 
 (2) Doughy Joey's Peetza Joynt, 126 Brandilynn Boulevard, Class C liquor & 

outdoor service - renewal. 
 (3) Little Bigs, 2210 College Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
 (4) The Landmark, 107 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
 (5) Voodoo Lounge, 401 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
 (6) Mary Lou's Bar & Grill, 2719 Center Street, Class C liquor - temporary outdoor 

service. (September 21-22, 2018) 
  (7) Escapology Cedar Falls, 2518 Melrose Drive, Special Class C liquor - new. 
 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 

52037 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by deBuhr that the following resolutions be 
introduced and adopted: 

 
Resolution #21,252, naming official depositories for the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
Resolution #21,253, approving and authorizing submission of the City's FY18 Official 
Financial Report for Streets. 
 

 Resolution #21,254, approving and adopting the rate of $3.89 per $1,000 taxable 
value for the Downtown Cedar Falls Self-Supported Municipal Improvement District 
(SSMID) for FY20. 

 
Resolution #21,255, approving and authorizing execution of a Services Agreement 
with Municipal Code Corporation relative to agenda management software. 
 

 Resolution #21,256, approving and authorizing execution of a Consolidated Public 
Safety Communications 28E Agreement with participating government agencies in 

-2-

Item C. 



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

Black Hawk County relative to providing consolidated dispatch and communications 
services. 

 
  Resolution #21,257, approving and authorizing execution of an Access Agreement 

for Solid Waste Collection Services with Whispering Pines Condominiums Owners' 
Association relative to garbage, yard waste and refuse services. 
 
Resolution #21,258, approving and accepting the low bid of Huff Contracting, Inc. in 
the amount of $103,920.00, for the Cedar Falls Public Library Remodel Project. 
 
Resolution #21,259, approving and accepting the contract and bond of Huff 
Contracting, Inc. for the Cedar Falls Public Library Remodel Project.  
 

 Resolution #21,260, supporting a Grant Application to the Federal Recreation Trails 
Program for the Lake Street Trail Project, and confirming the City's commitment to 
maintain the trail for public use for a minimum of twenty years. 
 

 Resolution #21,261, approving and authorizing execution of six Agreements for 
Professional Services relative to use of Community Development Block Grant 
(CDBG) funds, in conjunction with the FY18-19 Annual Action Plan. 
 
Resolution #21,262, approving and accepting a Lien Notice and Special Promissory 
Note for property located at 815 Olive Street relative to the Rental to Single Family 
Owner Conversion Incentive Program. 
 
Resolution #21,263, approving a Central Business District Overlay Zoning District 
site plan for a mural at 408-412 Main Street. 
 
Resolution #21,264, approving a Central Business District Overlay Zoning District 
site plan for a building addition at 308 Franklin Street. 
 

 Resolution #21,265, approving and authorizing execution of four Owner Purchase 
Agreements and two Tenant Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting 
four Owner's Temporary Grading Easements and one Public Utility Easement, in 
conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project. 

 
 Resolution #21,266, setting October 1, 2018 as the date of public hearing on a 

proposed ordinance granting a partial property tax exemption to Standard 
Distribution Co. for construction of a warehouse addition at 317 Savannah Park 
Drive. 
 

 Resolution #21,267, setting October 1, 2018 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into a proposed Agreement for Private Development with Six Kids, 
L.L.C., conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to Six Kids, L.L.C. and payment 
of certain economic development grants pursuant to said proposed Agreement. 

 
Resolution #21,268, setting October 1, 2018 as the date of public hearing on the 
proposed rezoning from A-1, Agricultural District, to HWY-1, Highway Commercial 
District, of property located in the southwest corner of Highway 58 and West 
Ridgeway Avenue, subject to certain conditions. 
 

-3-

Item C. 



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: 
Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolutions #21,252 through #21,268 duly passed and adopted. 
 

52038 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by Blanford that Resolution #21,269, approving 
and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 1 to the Professional 
Service Agreement with Foth Infrastructure & Environment, LLC relative to the Henry 
Property Traffic Impact Study Peer Review, be adopted. Following a question by 
Councilmember deBuhr and response by City Engineer Resler, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. 
Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #21,269 duly passed and 
adopted. 
 

52039 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #21,270, approving 
and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) relative to preparation of a Federal 
Recreational Trails Program Grant Application for the Lake Street Trail, be adopted. 
Following a question by Councilmember Miller and response by Community 
Development Director Sheetz, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, 
Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then declared 
Resolution #21,270 duly passed and adopted. 
 

52040 - It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse that Resolution #21,271, setting 
October 1, 2018 as the date of public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, 
Agricultural District, to R-1, Residence District, of property located at the north end of 
Lakeshore Drive, be adopted. Following a question by Councilmember deBuhr and 
response by Community Services Manager Howard, the Mayor put the question on 
the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The 
Mayor then declared Resolution #21,271 duly passed and adopted. 
 

52041 -     It was moved by deBuhr and seconded by Wieland that the bills and payroll be 
allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be authorized to issue 
City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in payment of the same. 
Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, 
deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. Motion carried.  
 

52042 -  It was moved by Miller and seconded by Kruse to adjourn to Executive Session to 
discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be 
reasonably expected to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay 
for that property or reduce the price the governmental body would receive for that 
property, following Public Forum. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, Blanford, Wieland. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
52043 -  Barbara Lounsberry, 2120 Tremont Street, provided a summary of events during the 

Cedar Falls Authors Festival over the past year, and expressed appreciation of the 

-4-

Item C. 



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

City and the community for their support. 
 
     Penny Popp, 4805 South Main Street, commented on a ‘Smart Growth Manual’, 

referencing form-based zoning concepts and applicability to zoning codes.  Mayor 
Brown responded that the book is just another tool to use when reviewing options. 

 
     Larry Wyckoff, 4241 Eastpark Road, expressed appreciation for the resurfacing of 

Eastpark Road and recent repairs to Main Street. Mr. Wyckoff also commented 
about a recent accident involving a cement truck in a roundabout, damages 
sustained to another roundabout, and a perceived reduction of traffic on University 
Avenue since the reconstruction.  

 
 The City Council adjourned to Executive Session at 7:34 P.M. 
 

Mayor Brown reconvened the Council Meeting at 8:11 P.M. and stated that Property 
Acquisition had been discussed but that no further action was required at this time. 

  
52044 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the meeting be adjourned at 8:12 

P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  _______________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

-5-

Item C. 



 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Standard Distribution Co.--Industrial Partial Property Tax Exemption 
  317 Savannah Park Road in the Cedar Falls Industrial Park 
 
On September 18, 2017, City Council approved a Developmental Agreement with 
Standard Distribution Co. for a 53,000 square foot industrial use warehouse addition at 
their existing location at 317 Savannah Park Road in the Cedar Falls Industrial Park. 
Construction of the $1,800,000 building addition began last fall and was completed this 
spring. 
 
As part of the executed Developmental Agreement approved by City Council in 
September 2017, the City of Cedar Falls committed to the following actions: 
 

1. Adoption of an Ordinance Granting a partial exemption from taxation of 
industrial property as may be provided by Sections 25-36 through 25-45 of 
the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances, and by Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, 
with respect to the Development Property. 
 

The above item to be completed by the City of Cedar Falls as part of the Developmental 
Agreement is formal adoption of a Partial Property Tax Exemption Ordinance that has 
been prepared by planning staff and reviewed by City Attorney Kevin Rogers.  Since 
construction of the new building is complete, it is now necessary to move forward with 
Ordinance adoption. 
 
The applicable 5-Year Partial Property Tax Exemption schedule is estimated as follows 
based upon the $1,800,000 valuation of the building addition for Standard Distribution 
Co., 10% commercial/industrial valuation rollback, and the FY19 tax rate of 
$33.23/$1,000 valuation ($53,833 annually): 
 
 
 
 
 

-7-

Item E.1. 



  Exemption % Exempt $ Amount Paid $ Amount 
 
Year 1  75%   $40,375  $13,458 
Year 2  60%   $32,300  $21,533 
Year 3  45%   $24,225  $29,608 
Year 4  30%   $16,150  $37,683 
Year 5  15%   $8,075  $45,758 
Year 6  0%   $0           $53,833   
     $121,125  $201,873 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends that in accordance with our 
executed Developmental Agreement, City Council approve and adopt the following 
through the normal three reading process: 
 

1. Ordinance establishing a partial property tax exemption on the actual value 
added to real estate by new construction consisting of a 53,000 square foot 
industrial use warehouse addition constructed on property owned by Standard 
Distribution Co., located at 317 Savannah Park Road, Cedar Falls, Iowa.  

 

If you have any questions pertaining to this memorandum or project, please feel free to 
contact me. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Director 
        
        
 
 

-8-

Item E.1. 



Blackhawk Ln

Shawnee Rd

No
rd

ic 
Dr

Ch
an

ce
llo

r D
r

Enterprise Dr

Savannah Park Rd

Viking Rd I

Standard Distribution Co.

53,000 SF Addition

Standard Distribution Co.
317 Savannah Park Rd
53,000 Sq Ft
Warehouse Addition

-9-

Item E.1. 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Planner II, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. ______ 
 
AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING A PARTIAL PROPERTY TAX EXEMPTION OF THE 
ACTUAL VALUE ADDED TO REAL ESTATE BY NEW CONSTRUCTION 
CONSISTING OF A 53,000 SQUARE FOOT INDUSTRIAL USE WAREHOUSE 
ADDITION CONSTRUCTED ON PROPERTY OWNED BY STANDARD 
DISTRIBUTION CO., LOCATED AT 317 SAVANNAH PARK ROAD, CEDAR FALLS, 
IOWA  
  
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has by ordinance 
provided a partial exemption from property taxation of the actual value added to real 
estate by certain new construction, as authorized in Section 427B.1, Code of Iowa, with 
said exemption being provided for in Division 2, Partial Exemptions for Industrial 
Property, of Article II, Tax Exemptions, of Chapter 25, Taxation, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Standard Distribution Co. has completed a 53,000 square foot 
industrial use warehouse addition on property owned by Standard Distribution Co., 
located at 317 Savannah Park Road, Cedar Falls, Iowa, and legally described as: 
 

Lots 2 and 3, Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase VI, City of Cedar Falls, Black 
Hawk County, Iowa, and Lots 1 and 2, Cedar Falls Industrial Park Phase IX, City 
of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa; 

 
and has requested a partial property tax exemption as provided in the Iowa Code and 
the Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council conducted a public hearing on the proposal for said 
exemption on the 1st day of October, 2018, and more than thirty (30) days have elapsed 
since the date of public hearing, as required by Section 427B.1, Code of Iowa; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council deems it appropriate pursuant to state law and city 
ordinance to grant said exemption. 
 

-11-

Item E.2. 



 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1. The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, by this Ordinance 
hereby grants a partial exemption from property taxation of the actual value added to 
real estate by new construction of a 53,000 square foot industrial use warehouse 
addition constructed by Standard Distribution Co., on property owned by Standard 
Distribution Co., located at 317 Savannah Park Road, Cedar Falls, Iowa, and legally 
described on Exhibit “A” attached hereto, to the extent and upon the terms and 
conditions provided for in Sections 427B.1 through 427B.7 of the Code of Iowa, and 
Sections 25-36 through 25-45 of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa. Responsibility for the proper and timely filing of an application for exemption with 
the Black Hawk County Assessor is that of the property owner. The amount of actual 
value added which is eligible to be exempt from taxation shall be as follows: 
 

1. For the first full assessment year after completion of construction, seventy-
five percent (75%). 

 
2. For the second full assessment year after completion of construction, sixty 

percent (60%). 
 
3. For the third full assessment year after completion of construction, forty-

five percent (45%). 
 
4. For the fourth full assessment year after completion of construction, thirty 

percent (30%). 
 
5. For the fifth full assessment year after completion of construction, fifteen 

percent (15%). 
 

INTRODUCED: October 1, 2018 

1ST CONSIDERATION:  

2ND CONSIDERATION:  

3RD CONSIDERATION:  

ADOPTED:  
 
 
 
       ___________________________ 
       James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

-12-

Item E.2. 



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: June 15, 2016 

 SUBJECT: Six Kids, L.L.C. (Mudd) Economic Development Project 
 

Introduction 
 
For the past few months, staff has been working with Jim Mudd, Jr. of Mudd Advertising 
(Six Kids, L.L.C.) toward the construction of a new 18,000 square foot professional 
office building. The proposed Six Kids, L.L.C. project would occur on Lot 21, Cedar Falls 
Technology Park Phase II (3.04 acres total of which approximately 2.2 acres is 
buildable after set back and detention requirements). This new facility for Six Kids, 
L.L.C. will have a minimum building valuation of $2,500,000 and a total project minimum 
assessed valuation of $2,700,000 (including land). The new professional office building 
will be located just to the west of 1304 Technology Parkway within the Cedar Falls 
Technology Park, which is a multi-tenant professional office building that Six Kids, 
L.L.C. recently constructed. Six Kids, L.L.C. would like to commence construction on 
this project in the spring of 2019, with completion anticipated by spring of 2020. 

Description of Project 
 
Six Kids, L.L.C. is proposing to construct and own a new one story, 18,000 square foot 
professional office facility on Lot 21 in Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II.  The 
building will be the new home office for Rabo AgriFinance, which is currently located in 
a smaller multi-tenant office building along Chancellor Drive. This new proposed 
building will fit the growing needs of the company in Cedar Falls.   
   
As City Council may know, Mudd Advertising through their real estate ownership entities 
such as Six Kids, L.L.C., has developed an entire “Mudd Campus” in the Cedar Falls 
Technology Park.  The Mudd Campus consists of four individual office buildings at the 
corner of Technology Parkway and Chancellor Drive comprising nearly 75,000 square 
feet with a total assessed valuation (land and buildings) of approximately $6,342,000. In 
addition, Six Kids, L.L.C. recently constructed a 3-tenant, 15,000 square foot office 
building directly to the east of this project site, with a total assessed valuation of 

-13-

Item E.3. 



2 
 

$1,875,000.  With the addition of this new office building, the total square footage of 
Mudd Campus buildings would increase to 108,000 square feet and a total assessed 
valuation of approximately $10,917,000. 

City Economic Development Incentives 
 
Land Incentive 
 
For this proposed 18,000 square foot office project, Six Kids, L.L.C. would receive at no 
cost, Lot 21, Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II (3.04 acres total of which 
approximately 2.2 acres is buildable after set back and detention requirements). This 
land incentive is consistent with our general office economic incentive guidelines of 
providing one acre of non-restricted building area for each 7,500 +/- square feet of new 
office space being constructed having a $75.00+ per square foot valuation. Thus, in the 
case of Six Kids, L.L.C., an 18,000 sf. professional office facility with a $2,500,000 
minimum building valuation (excluding land) is consistent with prior City land incentives 
for comparable projects. 
 
Partial Property Tax Rebate 
 
Consistent with our ongoing local economic development incentive guidelines, for office 
type projects with minimum assessed valuations of $1,500,000+ the City of Cedar Falls 
has provided a 5-Year Partial Property Tax Rebate.  (It should be noted that Industrial 
projects are eligible to file for a Partial Property Tax Exemption directly with Black Hawk 
County under local and Iowa statute while “office type” projects require Tax Rebate 
Agreements with the City).  For the proposed Six Kids, LLC project, the following rebate 
schedule is estimated using the existing commercial tax rate/valuation and projecting 
annual property taxes of $80,749: 
 
 
Estimated Annual Applicable Property Taxes for Incentive Purposes:  $80,749 
 
Tax Year Rebate % Rebate $ Value  Taxes Paid  Total 
 
Year 1  75%  $60,562   $20,187  $80,749 
Year 2  60%  $48,449   $32,300  $80,749 
Year 3  45%  $36,337   $44,412  $80,749 
Year 4  30%  $24,225   $56,524  $80,749 
Year 5  15%  $12,112   $68,637  $80,749 
    $181,685   $222,059  $403,745 
 
 
The noted tax rebates only apply to the actual amount of property taxes paid by Six 
Kids, L.L.C.  Each rebate is reviewed annually by staff following submission of proof of 
payment by Six Kids, L.L.C. 

-14-

Item E.3. 



3 
 

Conclusion 
 
As this memorandum indicates, Six Kids, L.L.C. is looking to construct a new 18,000 
square foot professional office building in the Cedar Falls Technology Park.  The new 
building will be part of the Mudd Campus and will have a Minimum Building Permit value 
of $2,500,000 and a Minimum Assessed Valuation of at least $2,700,000 (land and 
building). 
 
Construction is scheduled to begin next spring (no later than May 1, 2019) and is 
anticipated to be completed in early spring 2020 (no later than March 1, 2020). 
Likewise, the provision of a 3.04 acre site in the Cedar Falls Technology Park and the 
request for local partial property tax rebate is consistent with other development projects 
of this scope. 
 
The Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
and Six Kids, L.L.C. is attached for your review.  This Agreement has been reviewed by 
City Attorney Kevin Rogers and is acceptable to both parties. 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that City Council adopt and 
approve the following: 
 

Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Private Development and a Minimum Assessment Agreement by and 
between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and Six Kids, L.L.C., and approving 
and authorizing execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying title to certain 
real estate to Six Kids, L.L.C. 

 

Approval of this Agreement for Private Development and Minimum Assessment 
Agreement is consistent with Organizational Goal 6: Create an environment conducive 
to economic development.  This is further identified on Page 23 of City Council Goals 
under Supporting Policies: 

• Function as a catalyst to encourage and assist businesses to develop and 
expand in Cedar Falls. 

• Continue to support public and private economic development efforts in 
Cedar Falls and the metropolitan area. 

 
If you have any questions pertaining to this project, please contact the Community 
Development Department. 
 
xc:  Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
       Jim Mudd, Jr., Six Kids, L.L.C. 
       Mark Rolinger, Attorney 
        
 

-15-

Item E.3. 



 



Hu
ds

on
 R

d Technology Pkwy

W Ridgeway Ave
W Ridgeway Ave

Waterway Ave

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Cyber Ln

I

Project Location

Six Kids, LLC
18,000 sq. ft.
Professional Office

-17-

Item E.3. 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by:  Shane Graham, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa (319) 268-5160    

 
RESOLUTION NO. _______ 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF AN 
AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT AND A MINIMUM 
ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA, AND SIX KIDS, L.L.C., AND APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 
EXECUTION OF A QUIT CLAIM DEED CONVEYING TITLE TO CERTAIN 
REAL ESTATE TO SIX KIDS, L.L.C.. 

 
 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 21,109 approved and adopted on May 21, 2018 
(Ordinance No. 2926), the City Council has approved and adopted an urban renewal plan 
designated as the “South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Plan” (the “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Urban Renewal Plan be developed 
as part of the overall development area covered by said Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from Six Kids, L.L.C.  ("Developer"), in the 
form of a proposed Agreement for Private Development (the "Agreement") by and between the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and the Developer, pursuant to which, among other things, 
the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined in the 
Agreement) on certain real property located within the Urban Renewal Plan as legally described 
in the Agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference (defined in the 
Agreement as the "Development Property"), consisting of the construction of a 
Corporate/Professional Office Facility totaling at least 18,000  square feet of finished space, 
together with all related site improvements, as outlined in the proposed Development 
Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City provide certain financial 
incentives for the urban renewal project under the terms and following satisfaction of the 
conditions set forth in the Agreement, consisting of the following: 
 

(1) Conveyance of title to the Development Property to the Developer,  the Development 
Property being legally described as follows: 

 
Lot 21, Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, 
Iowa (Contains 3.04 acres more or less); and 

-19-

Item E.3. 



 2

(2) A Minimum Assessment Agreement, whereby the actual taxable value of the land and 
improvements to be constructed thereon would be established at an amount not less 
than $2,700,000 for the period through December 31, 2031; and  

 
(3) Payment of certain economic development grants (the “Economic Development Grants”) 

to the Developer, to-wit: a sum not to exceed certain percentages of the Tax Increments 
collected by the City over a period of five (5) years with respect to the Minimum 
Improvements constructed on the Development Property by the Developer pursuant to 
the Agreement; and 

 
 WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") authorize 
cities to make loans and grants and to convey real property to developers for economic 
development purposes in furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to 
appropriate such funds, make such expenditures and convey such real property as may be 
necessary to carry out the purposes of said Chapters, and to levy taxes and assessments for 
such purposes; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the Agreement is in the best 
interests of the City and the residents thereof, and that the performance by the City of its 
obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Urban 
Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and the City's 
performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development activities and 
objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 403 and 15A of the Iowa Code, taking into 
account the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to-wit: 
 

a) Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 
economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 
b) Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, or 

expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which generate 
tourism-related activities. 

 
c) Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be targeted 

toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which gains and 
benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds dispensed. 

 
d) Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of the 
state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside the state 
or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will generate significant 
new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs in similar Iowa 
businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct jobs for the purpose of 
dispensing funds; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Council hereby finds and determines that the requirements of Iowa 

Code Section 403.8 with respect to the transfer of property in an urban renewal area are 
satisfied insofar as the Development Property is being disposed of for the purpose of 
development of a home office or regional office facility for a multistate business (see Iowa Code 
Section 403.8(2)(b)), and because the terms of the Minimum Assessment Agreement satisfy the 
safe harbor contained in Iowa Code Section 403.8(3). 

 

-20-

Item E.3. 



 3

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the Agreement, 
including but not limited to conveyance of the Development Property to the Developer in 
connection with the development of the Development Property under the terms set forth in the 
Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 
furtherance of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the 
Agreement and the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic 
development activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of chapters 403 and 15A of 
the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 
 
 Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which are 
incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects authorized, 
approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are hereby authorized, 
empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Agreement for and on behalf of 
the City in substantially the form and content now before this meeting, and that from and after 
the execution and delivery of the Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby 
authorized, empowered and directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such 
documents as may be necessary to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement 
as executed, including but not limited to execution and delivery of a Quit Claim Deed conveying 
title to the Development Property to the Developer. 
 
 Section 3.  That the form and content of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the 
provisions of which are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same are hereby in all 
respects authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they are 
hereby authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now 
before this meeting, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and 
directed to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary 
to carry out and comply with the provisions of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as 
executed. 
 
 
 
 
 PASSED AND APPROVED this _____ day of ________________, 2018. 
 
 

     
 _________________________________________ 

      James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
____________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

-21-

Item E.3. 



 4

CERTIFICATE 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
     ) SS: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK: ) 
 
 

I, Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby 

certify that the above and foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution 

No. _____ duly and legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of 

____________________, 2018. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the 

official seal of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 

2018. 

   

  
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
 

-22-

Item E.3. 



 

 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT  
 
 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 
 
 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 

AND 
 
 

SIX KIDS, L.L.C. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-23-

Item E.3. 



2  

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
 
 
ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS………………………………………………..  6 

Section 1.1.  Definitions……………………………………………… 6 
 
ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES………………  8 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City……………  8 
Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer.….……..  9 
 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS…..  12 
Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements……………… 12 
Section 3.2. Building Permit Valuation Amount…………………….  12 
Section 3.3.  Construction Plans……………………………………… 12 
Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction……… 13 
Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion………………………………  13 

 
ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 13 

Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use……………………………………… 13 
 
ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE………………………………………………… 14 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements………………………………… 14 
Section 5.2. Condemnation………………………………………….. 17 
Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment…………………………….. 17 
 

ARTICLE VI.  ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS 17 
 Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement………………….  17 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Properties……………………………..  18 
Section 6.3. Maintenance of Records……………………………….  18 
Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws………………………………...  18 
Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes….……………………………….  18 
Section 6.6.   Sales Tax………………………………………………  19 
Section 6.7.   Utility Usage…………………….…………………….  19 
Section 6.8.   Annual Certification………………..………………….  19 
Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments…………………………………  20 
Section 6.10. Opinion of Counsel……………………………………  20 

 Section 6.11. Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development 
   Property……………………………………………….  20 
 Section 6.12. Relocation .......................................................................  20 
 

-24-

Item E.3. 



3  

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND 
TRANSFER………………………………………………………………….  21 

Section 7.1.  Representation As to Development……………………… 21 
Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of 

Agreement……………..………………………………  22 
Section 7.3.  Approvals………………………………………………  24 
Section 7.4. Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of 
  Interest in Development Property to Permitted  
  Transferees .......................................................................  24 

 
ARTICLE VIII.  CONVEYANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY; 
CONDITIONS……………………………………………………………….. 24 

Section 8.1.  Conveyance of Development Property………………...  24 
Section 8.2.  Form of Deed…………………………………………… 24 
Section 8.3.  Condition of Property; Care and Maintenance…………. 25 
Section 8.4.  Environmental Matters…………………………………. 25 
Section 8.5.  Survey and Platting…………………………………….. 25 
Section 8.6.  Time and Place for Closing and Delivery of Deed……... 25 
Section 8.7.  Recordation of Deed……………………………………. 25 
Section 8.8.  Abstract of Title………………………………………… 25 
Section 8.9.  Conditions Precedent to Conveyance of Property……… 25 
Section 8.10.  Failure to Commence Construction….……………......  26 
Section 8.11.  No Property Tax Exemption…………………………….        26 
Section 8.12.  Economic Development Grant – Property Tax Rebates… 26 
Section 8.13.  Additional Conditions to Payment of Economic 
   Development Grants…………………………………... 28 
Section 8.14.  Source of Grant Funds Limited……………………….. 29 
Section 8.15.  Use of Other Tax Increments………………………….  30 

 
ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION………………………………………  30 

Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants………………..  30 
 
ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES………………………………………………….  31 

Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined…………….………………  31 
Section 10.2   Remedies on Default………………………………….  32 
Section 10.3  No Remedy Exclusive………………………………..  34 
Section 10.4  No Implied Waiver……………………………………  34 
Section 10.5   Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses……..  34 
 

ARTICLE XI.  MISCELLANEOUS………………………………………..  34 
Section 11.1.  Conflict of Interest……………………………………  34 
Section 11.2  Non-Discrimination…………………………………… 34 
Section 11.3.  Notices………………………………………………...  35 

-25-

Item E.3. 



4  

Section 11.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections………………………… 35 
Section 11.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed……………………… 35 
Section 11.6.  Governing Law………………………………………… 35 
Section 11.7.  Entire Agreement……………………………………… 36 
Section 11.8.  Successors and Assigns……………………………….  36 
Section 11.9.  Termination Date……………………………………… 36 
Section 11.10.  Memorandum of Agreement………..……………….. 36 
Section 11.11.  Immediate Undertaking……………………………… 36 
Section 11.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture……………………… 36 
Section 11.13.  Captions……………………………………………… 36 
Section 11.14.  Number and Gender of Words………………………  36 
Section 11.15.  Invalid Provisions……………………………………  36 
Section 11.16.  Multiple Counterparts… ……………………………  37 
Section 11.17.  Authorization………… ……………………………..  37 
Section 11.18.  Time of the Essence… ………………………………  37 
Section 11.19.  Survival…………… … ……………………………..  37 

 
 
 
EXHIBIT A  Development Property…………………………………. 39 
EXHIBIT B   Minimum Improvements………………………………. 40 
EXHIBIT C  Certificate of Completion……………………………… 41 
EXHIBIT D  Minimum Assessment Agreement…………………….. 43 
EXHIBIT E  Form of Legal Opinion………………………………… 47 
EXHIBIT F  Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development... 49 
EXHIBIT G  Form of Deed…………………………………………..  52 

  

-26-

Item E.3. 



5  

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
 
 THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 
"Agreement"), is made on or as of the _____ day of __________________, 2018, by and 
between the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City"), 
established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the authorization of 
Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 hereinafter called "Urban 
Renewal Act"); and Six Kids, L.L.C,  (hereinafter called the "Developer"),  an Iowa 
limited liability company having its principal place of business at 915 Technology 
Parkway, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. 
 
 WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City 
has undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area and, in 
this connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in an area 
known as the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or “Urban Renewal Area”) 
as set forth in the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Plan (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal 
Plan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan has been recorded 
among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer desires to acquire certain real property located in the 
foregoing Urban Renewal Plan and as more particularly described in Exhibit A annexed 
hereto and made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as 
the "Development Property"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Developer is willing to develop the Development Property for and 
in accordance with the uses specified in the Urban Renewal Plan and in accordance with 
this Agreement by constructing certain Minimum Improvements (as hereafter defined) on 
the Development Property; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 
pursuant to this Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement, are in the vital 
and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and 
provisions of the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the 
foregoing project has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to 
Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations of 
the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the others as 
follows: 

-27-

Item E.3. 



6  

 
ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 
 Section 1.1.  Definitions.  In addition to other definitions set forth in this Agreement, 
all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following 
meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 
 
 Agreement means this Agreement and all appendices hereto, as the same may be 
from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 
 
 Assessment Agreement means the Minimum Assessment Agreement substantially in 
the form of the agreement contained in Exhibit D attached hereto and hereby made a part 
of this Agreement, among the Developer, the City and the Assessor for the County, 
entered into pursuant to Article VI of this Agreement. 
 
 Assessor's Minimum Actual Value means the agreed minimum actual taxable value 
of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property for 
calculation and assessment of real property taxes as set forth in the Assessment 
Agreement.  
 
 Building Permit Valuation Amount means the amount described in Section 3.2 of 
this Agreement. 
 
 Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate attached 
hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Agreement. 
 
 City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its 
functions.   
 
 Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2017, as amended. 
 
 Commencement Date means the date of the issuance by the City of a City issued 
building permit for the Minimum Improvements. 
 
 Construction Plans means the plans, specifications, drawings and related documents 
of the construction work to be performed by the Developer on the Development Property; 
the plans (a) shall be as detailed as the plans, specifications, drawings and related 
documents which are submitted to the building inspector of the City, and (b) shall include 
at least the following: (1) site plan; (2) foundation plan; (3) basement plans; (4) floor plan 
for each floor; (5) cross sections of each (length and width); (6) elevations (all sides); and 
(7) landscape plan. 
 
 County means the County of Black Hawk, Iowa. 

-28-

Item E.3. 



7  

 
 Deed means the form of Quit Claim Deed substantially in the form contained in 
Exhibit G attached hereto, by which the City shall convey the Development Property to 
the Developer. 
 
 Developer means Six Kids, L.L.C.  
 
 Development Property means that portion of the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal 
Area of the City described in Exhibit A hereto. 
 
 Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 10.1 of this 
Agreement. 
 
 Corporate/Professional Office Facility means the Minimum Improvements. 
 
 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of a Corporate/Professional 
Office Facility totaling at least 18,000 square feet of finished space, together with all 
related site improvements described in the Construction Plans, as outlined in Exhibit B 
hereto, including the land. 
 
 Mortgage means any mortgage or security agreement in which the Developer has 
granted a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Property, or any portion 
or parcel thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 
 
 Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to the Developer under a policy 
or policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by the Developer pursuant 
to Article V of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses (including fees 
and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 
 
 Ordinance shall mean Ordinance(s) of the City under which the taxes levied on the 
taxable property in the Urban Renewal Area shall be divided, with a portion of said taxes 
to be paid into the Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund, referred to and 
authorized by Section 403.19(2) of the Code of Iowa. 
 
 Project shall mean the construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements, as 
described in this Agreement and the Exhibits hereto. 
 
 State means the State of Iowa. 
 
 Tax Increments means the property tax increment revenues on the Minimum 
Improvements and Development Property divided and made available to the City for 
deposit in the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund, under the 
provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code of Iowa and the Ordinance. 

-29-

Item E.3. 



8  

 
 Termination Date means the date of expiration of the Assessment Agreement, as 
provided in Section 11.9 of this Agreement. 
 
 Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 
reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, 
floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, 
boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material 
or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or 
local governmental unit (other than the Party claiming the delay). 
 
 Urban Renewal Area means the area included within the boundaries of the South 
Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Area. 
 
 Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved in respect of the 
South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Area, described in the preambles hereof. 
 
   ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 
 
 Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City.  The City makes the 
following representations and warranties:  
 
 (a) The City is a municipal corporation and political subdivision organized under 

the provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power 
to enter into this Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 
(b) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the City and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the 
Developer, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding 
instrument of the City enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the 
same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws 
relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally. 

 
 (c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 
conflict with, nor will they result in a breach of, the terms, conditions or 
provisions of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement 
or instrument of whatever nature to which the City is now a party or by which 
it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

 
 (d) The City has not received any notice from any State or federal official that the 

activities of the Developer with respect to the Development Property may or 

-30-

Item E.3. 



9  

will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those 
notices, if any, of which the Developer has previously been notified in 
writing).  The City is not currently aware of any State or federal claim filed or 
planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, State or 
federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable to the 
Development Property, and the City is not currently aware of any violation of 
any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure 
which would give any person a valid claim under any State or federal 
environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 
 (e) The City will cooperate fully with the Developer in resolution of any building, 

traffic, parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in 
connection with the design, construction and operation of the Minimum 
Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may arise 
with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 
Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 
 (f) The City would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement without the 

consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
 (g) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the City 

contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, 
agreements and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body 
member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the City in the individual 
capacity thereof. 

  
 (h) The Development Property is zoned “BR, Business/Research Park District”.  

The “BR, Business/Research Park District” zoning classification permits by 
right the construction, equipping and operation of the Minimum 
Improvements.  

 
 Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of the Developer.  The Developer 
makes the following representations and warranties: 
 
(a) The Developer is a limited liability company duly organized and validly 

existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, is properly authorized to conduct 
business in the State of Iowa, and has all requisite power and authority to own 
and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as 
presently proposed to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its 
obligations under the Agreement. 

  
(b) The Developer desires to construct a Corporate/Professional Office Facility 

("Minimum Improvements") on the 3.04 acre Development Property, which is 

-31-

Item E.3. 



10  

to be acquired by the Developer pursuant to this Agreement, and which is 
more particularly described in Exhibit A.  

 
(c) This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and delivered 

by the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by 
the other parties hereto, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally 
binding instrument of the Developer enforceable in accordance with its terms, 
except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization 
or other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 
 (d) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in 
conflict with, nor will  they result in a violation or breach of, the terms, 
conditions or provisions of the certificate of organization and operating 
agreement, together with all amendments thereto, of the Developer or of any 
contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or instrument of 
whatever nature to which the Developer is now a party or by which it or its  
properties are bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the 
foregoing. 

 
 (e) There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting the Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by 
any governmental body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse 
decision which could materially adversely affect the business (present or 
prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 
which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the 
Agreement or the ability of Developer to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement. 

 
 (f) The Developer will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Urban Renewal Plan and all 
local, State and federal laws and regulations, except for variances necessary to 
construct the Minimum Improvements contemplated in the Construction Plans.  

 
 (g) The Developer will use its best efforts to obtain, or cause to be obtained, in a 

timely manner, all required permits, licenses and approvals, and will meet, in a 
timely manner, all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws 
and regulations which must be obtained or met before the Minimum 
Improvements may be lawfully constructed. 

 
 (h) The construction of the Minimum Improvements will require a total 

investment of not less than Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars and 

-32-

Item E.3. 



11  

no/100 Dollars ($2,500,000.00), and a taxable valuation of Two Million Seven 
Hundred Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($2,700,000) is reasonable for 
the Minimum Improvements and the land that together comprise the 
Development Property. 

 
 (i) The Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal 

official that the activities of the Developer with respect to the Development 
Property may or will be in violation of any environmental law or regulation 
(other than those notices, if any, of which the City has previously been notified 
in writing). The Developer is not currently aware of any State or federal claim 
filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of any local, 
State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable 
to the Development Property, and the Developer is not currently aware of any 
violation of any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review 
procedure which would give any person a valid claim under any State or 
federal environmental statute with respect thereto. 

 
 (j) The Developer has equity funds and/or has commitments for financing in 

amounts sufficient to successfully complete the construction of the Minimum 
Improvements, in accordance with the Construction Plans contemplated by 
this Agreement. 

 
 (k) The Developer will cooperate fully with the City in resolution of any traffic, 

parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in 
connection with the construction and operation of the Minimum 
Improvements, including but not limited to any problems which may arise 
with respect to traffic at the intersections where access drives on the 
Development Property meet roadways or streets owned by the City. 

 
 (l) The Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be substantially completed by the 1st day of March, 2020.  
 
 (m) The Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement 

without the consideration being made to the Developer pursuant to this 
Agreement. 

 
 (n) All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements and obligations of the 

Developer contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, 
promises, agreements and obligations of the Developer, and not of any 
member, officer, agent, servant or employee of the Developer in the individual 
capacity thereof. 

 
 

-33-

Item E.3. 



12  

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. The Developer agrees that it 
will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property in 
conformance with the Construction Plans submitted to the City.  The Developer agrees 
that the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be 
significantly less than the scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and 
outlined in the Construction Plans, and shall in no event require a total investment of less 
than Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($2,500,000.00). 
 
 Section 3.2  Building Permit Valuation Amount.  The Developer shall apply to the 
City for a building permit, and shall pay all necessary permit fees in connection with the 
construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property, based upon a 
building permit valuation amount (hereinafter the "Building Permit Valuation Amount") 
of a minimum of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars 
($2,500,000.00), by no later than the 1st day of May, 2019. 
 
 Section 3.3.  Construction Plans.  The Developer shall cause Construction Plans to 
be provided for the Minimum Improvements which shall be subject to approval by the 
City as provided in this Section 3.3.  The Construction Plans shall be in conformity with 
the Urban Renewal Plan, this Agreement, and all applicable federal, State and local laws 
and regulations, except for variances the Developer and the City agree are necessary to 
construct or operate the Minimum Improvements.  The City shall approve the 
Construction Plans in writing if: (a) the Construction Plans conform to the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement; (b) the Construction Plans conform to the terms and 
conditions of the Urban Renewal Plan; (c) to the best of City's knowledge, the 
Construction Plans conform to all applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances, 
rules and regulations and City permit requirements; (d) the Construction Plans are 
adequate for purposes of this Agreement to provide for the construction of the Minimum 
Improvements and (e) no Event of Default under the terms of this Agreement has 
occurred; provided, however, that any such approval of the Construction Plans pursuant to 
this Section 3.3 shall constitute approval for the purposes of this Agreement only and shall 
not be deemed to constitute approval or waiver by the City with respect to any building, 
fire, zoning or other ordinances or regulations of the City, and shall not be deemed to be 
sufficient plans to serve as the basis for the issuance of a building permit if the 
Construction Plans are not as detailed or complete as the plans otherwise required for the 
issuance of a building permit.  The site plans submitted by the Developer to the building 
official of the City for the Development Property shall be adequate to serve as the 
Construction Plans, if such site plans are approved by the building official. 
 
 Approval of the Construction Plans by the City shall not relieve the Developer of 
any obligation to comply with the terms and provisions of this Agreement, or the 
provisions of applicable federal, State and local laws, ordinances and regulations, nor shall 

-34-

Item E.3. 



13  

approval of the Construction Plans by the City be deemed to constitute a waiver of any 
Event of Default. 
 
 Approval of Construction Plans hereunder is solely for purposes of this Agreement, 
and shall not constitute approval for any other City purpose nor subject the City to any 
liability for the Minimum Improvements as constructed. 
 
 Section 3.4.  Commencement and Completion of Construction.  Subject to 
Unavoidable Delays, the Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum 
Improvements to be undertaken by no later than the 1st day of May, 2019, and completed 
(i) by no later than the 1st  day of March, 2020, or (ii) by such other date as the parties 
shall mutually agree upon in writing.  Time lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays shall be 
added to extend the completion date by a number of days equal to the number of days lost 
as a result of Unavoidable Delays.  However, an extension of the completion of the 
Minimum Improvements shall not affect the date upon which the Assessor's Minimum 
Actual Value shall become effective.  All work with respect to the Minimum 
Improvements to be constructed or provided by the Developer on the Development 
Property shall be in conformity with the Construction Plans as submitted by the Developer 
and approved by the City.  The Developer agrees that it shall permit designated 
representatives of the City to enter upon the Development Property during the 
construction of the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction. 
 
 Section 3.5.  Certificate of Completion.  Upon written request of the Developer after 
issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish the 
Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form 
set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto.  Such Certificate of Completion shall be a 
conclusive determination of satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of 
this Agreement with respect to the obligations of the Developer to cause construction of 
the Minimum Improvements.  
 
 The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the Black Hawk County 
Recorder's office at the Developer's sole expense.  If the City shall refuse or fail to provide 
a Certificate of Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section 3.5, the City 
shall, within twenty (20) days after written request by the Developer, provide to the 
Developer a written statement indicating in adequate detail in what respects the Developer 
has failed to complete the Minimum Improvements in accordance with the provisions of 
this Agreement, or is otherwise in default under the terms of this Agreement, and what 
measures or acts it will be necessary, in the opinion of the City, for the Developer to take 
or perform in order to obtain such Certificate of Completion.  
 
ARTICLE IV.  RESTRICTIONS UPON USE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 
 Section 4.1.  Restrictions on Use.  The Developer shall: 

-35-

Item E.3. 



14  

 
(a) Use the Development Property for any lawful use, and devote the 

Development Property to, and only to and in accordance with, the uses 
specified in the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Plan until the Termination 
Date; and 

 
(b) Not discriminate upon the basis of race, creed, color, sex, gender, age, 

disability or national origin in the sale, lease, or rental or in the use or 
occupancy of the Development Property or any improvements erected or to be 
erected thereon, or any part thereof. 

 
(c) It is intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in this 

Section shall be covenants running with the land and that they shall, in any 
event, and without regard to technical classification or designation, legal or 
otherwise, and except only as otherwise specifically provided in this 
Agreement, be binding, to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity, for 
the benefit and in favor of, and enforceable by, the City, its successors and 
assigns, as against every successor in interest to the Development Property, or 
any part thereof or any interest therein, and as against any party in possession 
or occupancy of the Development Property or any part thereof.  It is further 
intended and agreed that the agreements and covenants provided in 
subdivisions (a) and (b) of this Section shall remain in effect only through the 
Termination Date. 

 
(d) It is intended and agreed that the City and its successors and assigns shall be 

deemed beneficiaries of the agreements and covenants provided in this 
Section, both for and in its own right and also for the purposes of protecting 
the interests of the community and other parties, public or private, in whose 
favor or for whose benefit such agreements and covenants have been provided.  
Such agreements and covenants shall run in favor of the City, until the 
Termination Date, during which time such agreements and covenants shall be 
in force and effect, without regard to whether the City has at any time been, 
remains, or is an owner of any land or interest therein to or in favor of which 
such agreements and covenants relate.  The City shall have the right, in the 
event of any breach of any such agreement or covenant, to exercise all the 
rights and remedies, and to maintain any actions or suits at law or in equity or 
other proper proceedings to enforce the curing of such breach of agreement or 
covenant, to which it or any other beneficiaries of such agreement or covenant 
may be entitled. 

 
 
 
 

-36-

Item E.3. 



15  

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE AND CONDEMNATION 
 
 Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 
 
 (a) The Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements (and, from 
time to time at the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of coverage 
or payment of premiums on): 

 
  (i) Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk -- 

Completed Value Basis", in an amount equal to one hundred percent 
(100%) of the insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the 
date of completion, and with coverage available in nonreporting form 
on the so-called "all risk" form of policy;  

 
  (ii) Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations 
and contractual liability insurance), together with an Owner's 
Contractor's Policy, with limits against bodily injury and property 
damage of at least $2,000,000.  The City shall be named as an 
additional insured for the City's liability or loss arising out of or in any 
way associated with the Minimum Improvements and arising out of any 
act, error, or omission of the Developer, its members, managers, 
officers, contractors and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts 
the City may be held responsible (with coverage to the City at least as 
broad as that which is provided to the Developer and not lessened or 
avoided by endorsement).  The policy shall contain a "severability of 
interests" clause and provide primary insurance over any other 
insurance maintained by the City. 

 
  (iii) Worker's compensation insurance, with statutory coverage. 
 
 (b) Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, the Developer shall maintain, or cause to 
be maintained, at its cost and expense  (and from time to time at the request of 
the City shall furnish proof of coverage or the payment of premiums on) 
insurance as follows: 

 
  (i) Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum Improvements 

under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured 
against by similar businesses, including (without limiting the generality 
of the foregoing) fire, extended coverage, vandalism and malicious 
mischief, explosion, water damage, demolition cost, debris removal, 

-37-

Item E.3. 



16  

and collapse in an amount not less than the full insurable replacement 
value of the Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may have a 
deductible amount of not more than $25,000.  No policy of insurance 
shall be so written that the proceeds thereof will produce less than the 
minimum coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason of co-
insurance provisions or otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in 
writing by the City.  The term "full insurable replacement value" shall 
mean the actual replacement cost of the Minimum Improvements 
(excluding foundation and excavation costs and costs of underground 
flues, pipes, drains and other uninsurable items) and equipment, and 
shall be determined from time to time at the request of the City, but not 
more frequently than once every three years, by an insurance consultant 
or insurer selected and paid for by the Developer and approved by the 
City. 

 
  (ii) Comprehensive general public liability insurance, including personal 

injury liability for injuries to persons and/or property, including any 
injuries resulting from the operation of automobiles or other motorized 
vehicles on or about the Development Property, in the minimum 
amount for each occurrence and for each year of $2,000,000. 

 
  (iii) Such other insurance, including worker's compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of the Developer, in such amount as is 
customarily carried by like organizations engaged in like activities of 
comparable size and liability exposure. 

 
 (c) All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the 

Termination Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance 
companies selected by the Developer which are authorized under the laws of 
the State to assume the risks covered thereby.  The Developer will deposit 
annually with the City copies of policies evidencing all such insurance, or a 
certificate or certificates or binders of the respective insurers stating that such 
insurance is in force and effect.  Unless otherwise provided in this Article V, 
each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not cancel or modify 
it without giving written notice to the Developer and the City at least thirty 
(30) days before the cancellation or modification becomes effective.  Not less 
than fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of any policy, the Developer  shall 
furnish the City evidence satisfactory to the City that the policy has been 
renewed or replaced by another policy conforming to the provisions of this 
Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under the terms hereof.  In lieu 
of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or blanket or 
umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total coverage 
required herein, in which event the Developer shall deposit with the City a 

-38-

Item E.3. 



17  

certificate or certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of 
coverage in force upon the Minimum Improvements. 

 
 (d) Developer agrees to notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $25,000 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum 
Improvements or any portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty.  Net 
Proceeds of any such insurance shall be paid directly to the Developer, and 
Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct and  restore the Minimum 
Improvements to substantially the same or an improved condition or value as 
they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, to the extent 
necessary to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, the 
Developer will apply the Net Proceeds of any insurance relating to such 
damage received by Developer to the payment or reimbursement of the costs 
thereof.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply to casualties that occur 
prior to the Termination Date. 

 
 (e) The Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance 
received by Developer for such purposes are sufficient.   

 
 Section 5.2.  Condemnation.  In the event that title to and possession of the 
Minimum Improvements or any other material part thereof shall be taken in condemnation 
or by the exercise of the power of eminent domain by any governmental body or other 
person (except the City), so long as the Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect, the 
Developer or his successor shall, with reasonable promptness after such taking, notify the 
City as to the nature and extent of such taking. 
 
 Section 5.3. Reconstruction or Payment.  Upon receipt of any Condemnation 
Award or property insurance proceeds, the Developer shall use the entire Condemnation 
Award to reconstruct the Minimum Improvements (or, in the event only a part of 
Minimum Improvements have been taken, then to reconstruct such part) upon the 
Development Property or elsewhere within the Urban Renewal Area. 
    
       

ARTICLE VI.  ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT AND OTHER COVENANTS 
 
 Section 6.1. Execution of Assessment Agreement.  The Developer shall agree to, 
and with the City shall execute, concurrently with the execution of this Agreement, an 
Assessment Agreement pursuant to the provisions of Section 403.19, Code of Iowa, 
substantially in the form and content of Exhibit D attached hereto, specifying the 
Assessor's Minimum Actual Value for the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on 
the Development Property for calculation of real property taxes.  Specifically, the 
Developer shall agree to a minimum actual taxable value for the Minimum Improvements 

-39-

Item E.3. 



18  

and the land that together comprise the Development Property, which will result in a 
minimum actual taxable value upon substantial completion of the Minimum 
Improvements, but no later than January 1, 2021, of not less than Two Million Seven 
Hundred Thousand Dollars and no/100 Dollars ($2,700,000.00) (such minimum actual 
taxable value at the time applicable is herein referred to as the "Assessor's Minimum 
Actual Value").  Nothing in the Assessment Agreement shall limit the discretion of the 
Assessor to assign an actual taxable value to the Minimum Improvements or the land, in 
excess of such Assessor's Minimum Actual Value nor prohibit the Developer or its 
successors from seeking through the exercise of legal or administrative remedies a 
reduction in such actual taxable value for property tax purposes; provided, however, that 
the Developer or its successors shall not seek a reduction of such actual taxable value 
below the Assessor's Minimum Actual Value in any year so long as the Assessment 
Agreement shall remain in effect.  The Assessment Agreement shall remain in effect until 
the 31st day of December, 2031 (the "Termination Date").  The Assessment Agreement 
shall be certified by the Assessor for the County as provided in Section 403.19 of the 
Code of Iowa, and shall be filed for record in the office of the County Recorder of the 
County, and such filing shall constitute notice to any subsequent encumbrancer or 
purchaser of the Development Property (or part thereof), whether voluntary or 
involuntary, and such Assessment Agreement shall be binding and enforceable in its 
entirety against any such subsequent purchaser or encumbrancer, as well as any prior 
encumbrancer consenting thereto. 
 
 Section 6.2.  Maintenance of Properties.   The Developer will maintain, preserve and 
keep the Minimum Improvements in good repair and working order, ordinary wear and 
tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, replacements, 
renewals and additions, until the Termination Date. 
 
 Section 6.3 Maintenance of Records.  The Developer will keep at all times proper 
books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all 
dealings and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of the Developer in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied throughout 
the period involved, and Developer will provide reasonable protection against loss or 
damage to such books of record and account.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply 
for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 
 
 Section 6.4. Compliance with Laws.  The Developer will comply with all laws, 
rules and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements, other than laws, rules and 
regulations the failure to comply with which or the sanctions and penalties resulting 
therefrom, would not have a material adverse effect on the Developer’s business, property, 
operations, or condition, financial or otherwise.  The provisions of this paragraph shall 
apply for all periods prior to the Termination Date. 
 

-40-

Item E.3. 



19  

 Section 6.5. Real Property Taxes.  The Developer shall pay, when due, all real 
property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all and any parts of the 
Development Property acquired and owned by it.  
 
 The Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 
 
 (a) It will not seek any tax exemption (except as may be granted under Section 

8.11 of this Agreement), either presently or prospectively authorized under any 
State or federal law with respect to taxation of real property contained on the 
Development Property between the date of execution of this Agreement and 
the Termination Date.  The foregoing shall not impair any rights to appeal the 
valuation set by the Black Hawk County Assessor as provided by law, but 
subject to the terms of the Assessment Agreement. 

 
 (b) It will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the applicability or 

constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 
contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be 
applicable to the Development Property, Minimum Improvements or to the 
Developer or raise the inapplicability or constitutionality of any such tax 
statute as a defense in any proceedings, including delinquent tax proceedings. 

 
 (c) It will not seek any tax deferral or abatement, except abatement, if any, that is 

specifically provided for in this Agreement, either presently or prospectively 
authorized under Iowa Code Chapter 403 or 404, or any other local, State or 
federal law, of the taxation of real property contained on the Development 
Property between the date of execution of this Agreement and the Termination 
Date. 

 
 Section 6.6.   Sales Tax.  The Developer shall pay all sales tax payable with respect 
to the Minimum Improvements. 
 
 Section 6.7.  Utility Usage.  The Developer agrees for itself and its successors and 
assigns, specifically including all commercial tenants and all other persons, firms or other 
entities operating any business on the Development Property or any portion thereof, that 
for all periods up to the Termination Date that all utility needs for the 
Corporate/Professional Office Facility shall be furnished from City-owned utilities, 
including electricity, natural gas, water, sanitary sewer, cable television, internet and other 
fiber-optic communications, including telephony (if and when telephony is available 
through City-owned utilities).  Although this shall be the sole source for such utility 
services, the Developer and its successors and assigns, as defined and described in this 
section, shall not, however, have any obligation or duty to use or take any minimum 
amount, and shall have no obligation to pay any amount in excess of the generally 
applicable rates for like users based upon actual use. 

-41-

Item E.3. 



20  

  
 Section 6.8.  Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring and performance 
of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of the Developer shall annually provide 
to the City: (a) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property have been 
paid for the prior fiscal year; and (b) certification that, to the best of such officer’s 
knowledge during the preceding twelve (12) months, the Developer  was not  in default in 
the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no Event of 
Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 
become an Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate 
or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or Event of 
Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its period of 
existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect 
thereto.  Such statement, proof and certificate shall be provided not later than November 1 
of each year, commencing November 1, 2021, and ending on November 1, 2032, both 
dates inclusive. 
 
 Section 6.9. Use of Tax Increments.  The City shall be free to use any and all Tax 
Increments collected in respect of the Development Property for any purpose for which 
the Tax Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal 
Act; and the City shall have no obligations to the Developer with respect to the use of 
such increments. 
 
 Section 6.10.  Opinion of Counsel.  Concurrent with execution of this Agreement, 
Developer shall cause its counsel to execute and deliver to City an Opinion of Counsel 
substantially in the form and of the content of Exhibit E attached hereto. 
  
 Section 6.11.  Provisions To Be Included In Leases Covering Development 
Property.  The Developer agrees to include provisions in each commercial lease 
agreement the Developer enters into with any tenant that will occupy the Development 
Property or operate a business thereon, for all periods up to the Termination Date, which 
provide as follows: (a) that tenant acknowledges that the leased premises are part of the 
Development Property and are subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement; (b) 
that this Agreement is binding upon Developer’s successors and assigns, specifically 
including all commercial tenants; (c) that certain of the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement specifically impact the tenant’s use of and conduct of its business operations 
on the Development Property, which terms and conditions include, but are not necessarily 
limited to, Sections 4.1, 5.1(b), 6.2, 6.7, 7.2, 7.3 and 11.2; and (d) that the tenant agrees to 
operate its business and conduct its operations on the Development Property in a manner 
consistent with all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 6.12.  Relocation.  Developer agrees and covenants that it shall not, absent 
written consent from the City, sell or lease the Minimum Improvements or Development 
Property to any enterprise that is relocating (“Relocating”) to the City from another part of 

-42-

Item E.3. 



21  

Black Hawk County or a contiguous county during the term (the “Term”) of this 
Relocation provision (the “Relocation Provision”).  “Relocating” or “Relocation” means 
the closure or substantial reduction of an enterprise’s existing operations in one area of the 
State and the initiation of substantially the same operation in the same county or a 
contiguous county in the State.  The Term of this Relocation Provision will expire on the 
Termination Date as described in Section 11.9.  In general, urban renewal incentives 
cannot be used for projects that involve a Relocating enterprise (whether the relocating 
enterprise is the developer, land owner, tenant, or otherwise) unless there is a written 
agreement regarding the use of economic incentives between the city where the business 
is currently located and the city to which the business is Relocating, either specific to this 
Project or in general (i.e., a fair play or neutrality agreement), or if the City finds that the 
use of tax increments in connection with the Relocation is in the public interest, which 
means that the business has provided a written affirmation that it is considering moving 
part or all of its operations out of the State and such action would result in either 
significant employment or wage loss in Iowa.  Developer understands and agrees that if it 
sells or leases to a Relocating enterprise in violation of the Relocation Provision, as 
determined by the City in its sole discretion, such action shall be deemed an Event of 
Default under this Agreement, and, in addition to any remedies set forth in Section 10.2: 
 
(i) Developer shall be ineligible to receive any future unpaid Economic Development 
Grants, if applicable; 
 
(ii) Developer shall be responsible for paying the City an amount equal to the 
previously paid Economic Development Grants, if applicable, with interest thereon at the 
highest rate permitted by State law; and 
 
(iii) If Developer received all or a portion of the Development Property from the City 
for less than the full fair market value of the Development Property (“Full Value”), then 
the Developer shall pay the City the difference between the Full Value of the 
Development Property and what the Developer actually paid the City for such property.  
At the request of the City (which request need not be in writing), the Full Value of the 
Development Property shall be established by a licensed, certified appraiser to be selected 
by the City.  Developer shall be responsible for paying any fees or costs associated with 
obtaining such appraisal. 
 
ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITIONS AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 
 Section 7.1.  Representation As to Development. The Developer represents and 
agrees that the purchase and improvement of the Development Property, and the other 
undertakings pursuant to this Agreement, are, and will be used, for the purpose of 
development of the Development Property and not for speculation in land holding.  The 
Developer further acknowledges: 
 

-43-

Item E.3. 



22  

(a) the importance of the development of the Development Property to the general 
welfare of the community; 

 
(b) the substantial financing and other public aids that have been made available 

by law and by the City for the purpose of making such development possible; 
and 

 
(c) the fact that any act or transaction involving or resulting in a significant 

change of control of the development, is for practical purposes a transfer or 
disposition of the Development Property then owned and operated by the 
Developer, and the qualifications and identity of the Developer are of 
particular concern to the community and the City.  The Developer further 
recognizes that it is because of such qualifications and identity that the City is 
entering into this Agreement with the Developer. 

 
 Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Transfer of Property and Assignment of 
Agreement.  Except as otherwise expressly provided for in Section 7.4, Transfer of 
Interest in Developer or Transfer of Development Property to Permitted Transferees, for 
the foregoing reasons the Developer represents and agrees for itself, and its successors and 
assigns, that in addition to the provisions of Section 6.12 of this Agreement, prior to 
termination of the Termination Date: 
 
 (a) Except only for (i) the purpose of obtaining financing necessary to enable the 

Developer to perform its obligations with respect to making the Minimum 
Improvements under this Agreement, (ii) leases to commercial tenants for all 
or a portion of the Minimum Improvements, and (iii) any other purpose 
authorized by this Agreement, the Developer (except as so authorized) has not 
made or created, and that the Developer will not, prior to the Termination 
Date, make or create, or suffer to be made or created, any total or partial sale, 
assignment, or conveyance, or any trust or power, or transfer in any other 
mode or form of or with respect to this Agreement or the Development 
Property, or any part thereof or any interest therein, or any contract or 
agreement to do any of the same, without the prior written approval of the 
City. 

  
(b) The City shall be entitled to require, except as otherwise provided in this 

Agreement, as conditions to any such approval that: 
 

(1) Any proposed transferee shall have the qualifications and financial 
responsibility, as determined by the City, necessary and adequate to 
fulfill the obligations undertaken in this Agreement by the Developer 
(or, in the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the 

-44-

Item E.3. 



23  

Development Property, such obligations to the extent that they relate 
to such part). 

 
(2) Any proposed transferee, by instrument in writing satisfactory to the 

City and in form recordable among the land records, shall, for itself 
and its successors and assigns, and expressly for the benefit of the 
City, have expressly assumed all of the obligations of the Developer 
under this Agreement and shall have agreed to be subject to all the 
conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in 
the event the transfer is of or relates to part of the Development 
Property, such obligations, conditions, and restrictions to the extent 
that they relate to such part):  Provided, That the fact that any 
transferee of, or any other successor in interest whatsoever to, the 
Development Property, or any part thereof, shall, whatever the 
reason, not have assumed such obligations or so agreed, shall not 
(unless and only to the extent otherwise specifically provided in this 
Agreement or agreed to in writing by the City) relieve or exempt such 
transferee or successor of or from such obligations, conditions, or 
restrictions, or deprive or limit the City of or with respect to any 
rights or remedies or controls with respect to the Development 
Property or the construction of the Minimum Improvements; it being 
the intent of this provision, together with other provisions of this 
Agreement, that (to the fullest extent permitted by law and equity and 
excepting only in the manner and to the extent specifically provided 
otherwise in this Agreement) no transfer of, or change with respect 
to, ownership in the Development Property or any part thereof, or any 
interest therein, however consummated or occurring, and whether 
voluntary or involuntary, shall operate, legally or practically, to 
deprive or limit the City of or with respect to any rights or remedies 
or controls provided in or resulting from this Agreement with respect 
to the Development Property and the construction of the Minimum 
Improvements that the City would have had, had there been no such 
transfer or change. 

 
(3) Except leases to commercial tenants for all or a portion of the 

Minimum Improvements as provided in subsection (a)(ii) of this 
section, there shall be submitted to the City for review all instruments 
and other legal documents involved in effecting transfer; and if 
approved by the City, its approval shall be indicated to the Developer 
in writing. 

 
Provided, further, that in the absence of specific written agreement by the City to the 
contrary, no such transfer or approval by the City thereof shall be deemed to relieve the 

-45-

Item E.3. 



24  

Developer, or any other party bound in any way by this Agreement or otherwise with 
respect to the construction of the Minimum Improvements, from any of its obligations 
with respect thereto. 
 
 Section 7.3.  Approvals.  Any approval of a transfer of interest in the Developer, 
this Agreement, or the Development Property required to be given by the City under this 
Article VII may be denied only in the event that the City reasonably determines that the 
ability of the Developer to perform its obligations under this Agreement and its statutory 
duty, as owner, to pay ad valorem real property taxes assessed with respect to the 
Development Property, or the overall financial security provided to the City under the 
terms of this Agreement, or the likelihood of the Minimum Improvements being 
successfully constructed and operated pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, will be 
materially impaired by the action for which approval is sought. 
 

Section 7.4.  Transfer of Interest in Developer or Transfer of Interest in 
Development Property to Permitted Transferee. Notwithstanding the provisions of 
Sections 7.2 and 7.3, the City and the Developer agree that a transfer of ownership of the 
Development Property to a newly established corporation or limited liability company the 
ownership of which consists solely of the members of Developer (the “Permitted 
Transferee”), shall not trigger the provisions of Section 7.2 or Section 7.3, provided, 
however, that any transfer of the Development Property to the Permitted Transferee shall 
require the Permitted Transferee to agree in writing with the City (a) to expressly assume 
all of the obligations of the Developer under this Agreement, and (b) to agree to be subject 
to all of the conditions and restrictions to which the Developer is subject (or, in the event 
the transfer is of or relates to only part of the Development Property, such obligations, 
conditions, and restrictions to the extent that they relate to such part). Upon execution of 
an agreement in writing by the Permitted Transferee that (a) assumes all of the obligations 
of the Developer under this Agreement and (b) agrees to be subject to all of the conditions 
and restrictions to which the Developer is subject, the transfer of the Development 
Property, or the part thereof, shall be deemed approved upon delivery of such written 
assumption agreement to the City Clerk of the City.  
 
ARTICLE VIII.  CONVEYANCE OF DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY; CONDITIONS 

 
 Section 8.1  Conveyance of Development Property.  Subject to hearing and 
authorization required under law, the City shall make a conveyance of title to the 
Development Property to Developer without any additional consideration other than the 
Developer’s covenants as contained in this Agreement. 
 
 Section 8.2  Form of Deed.  The City shall convey clear title to the Development 
Property to the Developer by Quit Claim Deed (hereinafter called the “Deed”).  Such 
conveyance and title shall be subject to the conditions, covenants and restrictions 
contained in the Urban Renewal Plan and this Agreement, shall be subject to restrictive 

-46-

Item E.3. 



25  

covenants, ordinances, and limited access provisions of record, if any, and to existing 
easements of record, but shall otherwise be free and clear of all other liens and 
encumbrances of record. 
 
 Section 8.3. Condition of the Property; Care And Maintenance.  As of Closing, 
Developer agrees to take the Development Property "As Is."  The City makes no 
warranties or representations as to the condition of the Development Property.  The City 
and Developer acknowledge and agree that City has undertaken no investigations with 
respect to the suitability of the Development Property for Developer’s proposed uses, 
including but not limited to subsurface investigations regarding the soil conditions of the 
Development Property. Any geological or other inspection of the Development Property is 
the sole responsibility of the Developer (at its own cost). Developer waives all claims 
against the City as to the condition of the Development Property.   
 
 Section 8.4. Environmental Matters. At Closing, although not required by law, the 
City may file with the County Recorder’s office a properly executed Groundwater Hazard 
Statement.  Developer takes the property "As Is" with regard to any environmental 
matters.  The City makes no warranties and representations as to the environmental 
condition of the Development Property, other than the information provided in any 
Groundwater Hazard Statement filed by the City at Closing.  Developer shall be 
responsible for securing and paying for all inspections, remediation efforts, or 
documentation required by the county board of health in order to lawfully transfer the 
Development Property to Developer.  Developer agrees to indemnify, release, defend and 
hold harmless the City for all claims, damages or costs relating to the Development 
Property that arise after the Closing Date. 
  
 Section 8.5. Survey and Platting.  Developer shall be responsible for all survey and 
platting of the Development Property.  The City authorizes Developer and/or its agents 
and contractors access to the Development Property for survey and platting purposes. 
 
 Section 8.6  Time and Place for Closing and Delivery of Deed.  The City shall 
deliver the Deed and possession of the Development Property to the Developer on or 
before the 31st day of October, 2018, or on such other date as the parties hereto may 
mutually agree in writing (the “Closing Date”). 
 
 Section 8.7  Recordation of Deed.  The Developer shall promptly file the Deed for 
recordation among the land records in the office of the Recorder of the County.  The 
Developer shall pay all costs for so recording the Deed. 
 
 Section 8.8  Abstract of Title.  The City shall provide an abstract of title continued 
only to the date of filing of the plat.  It shall be the Developer’s responsibility to pay to 
have the abstract updated.  This abstract shall become the property of the Developer at the 
time of delivery of the Deed. 

-47-

Item E.3. 



26  

 
 Section 8.9  Conditions Precedent to Conveyance of Property.  The City’s obligation 
to convey title and possession of the Development Property to the Developer on the 
Closing Date shall be subject to satisfaction of the following conditions precedent: 
 

(a) The Developer shall be in material compliance with all the terms and 
provisions of this Agreement; 

 
(b) The Developer shall have furnished the City with evidence, in a form 

reasonably satisfactory to the City (such as a letter of commitment from a 
bank or other lending institution), that the Developer has firm commitments 
for financing for the Project in an amount sufficient, together with equity 
commitments, to complete the Project in conformance with the Construction 
Plans, or the City shall have received such other evidence of the Developer’s 
financial ability as in the reasonable judgment of the City is required for the 
Project; 

 
(c) Execution of an Assessment Agreement by the City, the County and the 

Developer pursuant to Section 6.1 of this Agreement; and 
 

(e) Receipt of an opinion of counsel to the Developer in the form attached hereto 
as Exhibit E.  

   
 Section 8.10 Failure to Commence Construction of Minimum Improvements.  In the 
event the Developer has not made substantial progress towards commencement of 
construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property by no later than 
May 1, 2019, and commencement of construction does not appear imminent by no later 
than May 1, 2019, then Developer shall have committed an Event of Default within the 
meaning of Article X and Section 10.1 of this Agreement, and shall convey title to the 
Development Property to the City as provided in Section 10.2(d) of this Agreement by no 
later than July 1, 2019. 
 
 Section 8.11.  No Property Tax Exemption.  In consideration of the covenants of the 
City as contained in this Agreement, Developer agrees that it shall not seek from the 
County or from the City, any partial or other exemption from taxation of industrial 
property as may be provided by Sections 25-36 through 25-45 of the Cedar Falls Code of 
Ordinances, and/or by Chapter 427B, Code of Iowa, with respect to any portion of the 
Development Property, or the Minimum Improvements located on the Development 
Property. 
 
 Section 8.12.  Economic Development Grant – Property Tax Rebates. (a) For and in 
consideration of the obligations being assumed by the Developer in this Agreement, 
specifically, the Developer’s obligation to construct the Minimum Improvements on the 

-48-

Item E.3. 



27  

Development Property as described in Article III, the Developer’s obligation to enter into 
a Minimum Assessment Agreement with respect thereto as described in Article VI, the 
restrictions on Relocation as described in Section 6.12, and in furtherance of the goals and 
objectives of the Urban Renewal Plan and the Urban Renewal Act, the City agrees, subject 
to the Developer being and remaining in compliance with the terms of this Agreement and 
to the terms of this Article VIII, to assume an obligation to make five (5) annual payments 
to the Developer.  The grants shall commence on or about May 31, 2023, and shall end on 
or about May 31, 2027.  Each grant shall be equal in amount to the applicable percentages 
shown in the schedule below of the Tax Increments collected by the City under Iowa Code 
Section 403.19,  with respect to the Minimum Improvements only (which under this 
Agreement have a minimum taxable value of $2,500,000.00), and not with respect to the 
land located on the Development Property, under the terms of the Ordinance (without 
regard to any averaging that may otherwise be utilized under Section 403.19 and 
excluding any interest that may accrue thereon prior to payment to the Developer) for the 
two (2) semi-annual installments of general property taxes falling due in the fiscal year 
within which such annual grant payment is to be made to the Developer in respect of the 
Minimum Improvements only, but not the land, located on the Development Property; but 
subject to limitation and adjustment as provided in this Article (such payments being 
referred to collectively in this Section 8.12 as the "Economic Development Grants"), 
according to the following schedule: 
 
Date of Payment of Grant Amount of Payment as a Percentage of Tax Increments 

Collected on the Taxable Value of the Minimum 
Improvements Only (Minimum of $2,500,000 and Not the 

Land) 
1.  May 31, 2023 75% 
2.  May 31, 2024 60% 
3.  May 31, 2025 45% 
4.  May 31, 2026 30% 
5.  May 31, 2027 15% 

 
(b)  The City shall make payment upon receipt from Developer of a copy of the general 
property tax statement for the Development Property for the applicable fiscal year, and a 
copy of the cancelled checks showing timely payment of the two (2) semi-annual 
installments of general property taxes for such fiscal year, and upon which the annual 
Economic Development Grant is based. 
 
(c)  The aggregate amount of the Economic Development Grants that may be paid to the 
Developer under this Section 8.12 shall be equal to the sum of the total amount of the 
applicable percentage of all Tax Increments collected with respect to the assessments 
imposed on the Minimum Improvements only, and not on the land, as of January 1, 2021, 
and on January 1st of each of the following four (4) years.  Economic Development 
Grants shall, at all times, be subject to suspension and termination, in accordance with the 

-49-

Item E.3. 



28  

terms of this Article VIII and Article X.  Thereafter, the taxes levied on the Development 
Property, including both the Minimum Improvements and the land, shall be divided and 
applied in accordance with the Urban Renewal Act and the Ordinance. 
 
 Each annual grant payment shall be the percentage of tax increments collected 
for that fiscal year, and otherwise subject to the provisions of this Article. 
 
 In the event the Developer fails to pay, in full and before they become 
delinquent, any semi-annual installment of the general property taxes on the Development 
Property for any fiscal year, or in the event the Developer fails to submit proof of timely 
payment of any such property taxes by April 1 following the due date of the second semi-
annual installment of general property taxes for that fiscal year, the Developer shall forfeit 
the right to any grant payment from the City for such fiscal year. 
 
 Section 8.13.  Additional Conditions to Payment of Economic Development Grants. 
 
(a) The obligation of the City to make an Economic Development Grant to the 
Developer under Section 8.12 of this Article in any year shall further be subject to and 
conditioned upon the timely filing by the Developer of the annual statement, proof and 
certification required under Section 6.8 hereof and the City Council's approval thereof.  If 
the Developer's annual statement, proof and certification is timely filed and contains the 
information required under Section 6.8 and the City Council approves of the same, the 
City shall certify to the County prior to December 1 of that year its request for the 
available Tax Increments resulting from the assessments imposed by the County as of 
January 1 of that year, to be collected by the City as taxes are paid during the following 
fiscal year and which shall thereafter be disbursed to the Developer by May 31 of said 
following fiscal year, as shown in the schedule set forth in subsection (a) of Section 8.12, 
with respect to the payments described in Section 8.12. 
 
(b) In the event that the annual statement, proof or certificate required to be 
delivered by the Developer under Section 6.8 is not delivered to the City by November 1 
of any year, the Developer recognizes and agrees that the City may have insufficient time 
to review and approve the same and certify its request for Tax Increments to the County 
and that, as a result, no Economic Development Grant may be made to the Developer 
under Section 8.12 of this Article in respect thereof.  The City covenants to act in good 
faith to appropriately review and consider any late certification on the part of the 
Developer, but the City shall not be obligated to make any certification to the County for 
the available Tax Increments or make any corresponding payment of the Economic 
Development Grant to the Developer if, in the reasonable judgment of the City, it is not 
able to give appropriate consideration (which may include, but not be limited to, specific 
discussion before the City Council at a regular City Council meeting with respect thereto) 
to the Developer's certification due to its late filing.  In the event Developer fails to timely 
file an annual statement, proof or certificate due to an Unavoidable Delay and, as a result, 

-50-

Item E.3. 



29  

an Economic Development Grant cannot be made, the Developer may give written notice 
to the City and, if the City finds that Developer's failure is due to an Unavoidable Delay, 
the missed Economic Development Grant shall be made in the year succeeding the last 
scheduled Economic Development Grant under Section 8.12, subject to Developer's filing 
under Section 6.8 and all other provisions of this Article VIII with respect to such grant. 
 
(c) In the event that any certificate filed by the Developer under Section 6.8 
discloses the existence or prior occurrence of an Event of Default that was not cured or 
cannot reasonably be cured under the provisions of Section 10.2 (or an event that, with the 
passage of time or giving of notice, or both, would become an Event of Default that 
cannot reasonably be cured under the provisions of Section 10.2), the City shall have no 
obligation thereafter to make any further payments to the Developer in respect of the 
Economic Development Grants described in this Article VIII, and may proceed to take 
one or more of the actions described in Section 10.2 hereof. 

 
 Section 8.14. Source of Grant Funds Limited. (a) The Economic Development 
Grants described in Section 8.12 of this Agreement shall be payable from and secured 
solely and only by amounts deposited and held in the Six Kids, L.L.C., TIF Account of the 
City.  The City hereby covenants and agrees, subject to this subsection, to maintain the 
Ordinance in force during the term hereof and to apply the appropriate incremental taxes 
collected in respect of the Development Property and Minimum Improvements and 
allocated to the Six Kids, L.L.C., TIF Account to pay the Economic Development Grants, 
as and to the extent set forth in Article VIII hereof.  The Economic Development Grants 
shall not be payable in any manner by other tax increment revenues or by general taxation 
or from any other City funds. 
 
 The right of non-appropriation reserved to the City in this Section is intended by the 
parties, and shall be construed at all times, so as to ensure that the City’s obligation to 
make future Economic Development Grants shall not constitute a legal indebtedness of the 
City within the meaning of any applicable constitutional or statutory debt limitation prior 
to the adoption of a budget which appropriates funds for the payment of that installment or 
amount.  In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are determined by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to create, or result in the creation of, such a legal 
indebtedness of the City, the enforcement of the said provisions shall be suspended, and 
the Agreement shall at all times be construed and applied in such a manner as will 
preserve the foregoing intent of the parties, and no event of default by the City shall be 
deemed to have occurred as a result thereof. 
 
 (b) Notwithstanding the provisions of Article VIII hereof, the City shall have no 
obligation to make an Economic Development Grant to the Developer, if at any time 
during the term hereof the City Council fails to appropriate funds or the City receives an 
opinion or decision from a court of competent jurisdiction to the effect that the use of Tax 
Increments resulting from the Minimum Improvements to fund an Economic 

-51-

Item E.3. 



30  

Development Grant to the Developer, as contemplated under said Article VIII, is not 
authorized or otherwise is not an appropriate project activity permitted to be undertaken 
by the City under the Urban Renewal Act or other applicable provisions of the Code or 
Iowa Constitution, as then constituted.  Upon receipt of such an opinion, the City shall 
promptly forward a copy of the same to the Developer.  In the event of non-appropriation, 
or if the circumstances or legal constraints giving rise to the opinion continue for a period 
during which two (2) Economic Development Grants would otherwise have been paid to 
the Developer under the terms of Article VIII, the City may terminate this Agreement, 
without penalty or other liability to the Developer, by written notice to the Developer. 
 
 (c) The City makes no representation with respect to the amounts that may finally be 
paid to the Developer as the Economic Development Grants under this Article VIII, and 
under no circumstances shall the City in any manner be liable to the Developer so long as 
the City timely applies the Tax Increments actually collected and held in the Six Kids, 
L.L.C., TIF Account (regardless of the amounts thereof) to the payment of the Economic 
Development Grants to the Developer, as and to the extent described in this Article. 
 
 Section 8.15. Use of Other Tax Increments. Subject to this Article VIII, the City 
shall be free to use any and all Tax Increments collected in respect of the Development 
Property or any other properties within the Project Area, or any available Tax Increments 
resulting from the suspension or termination of the Economic Development Grants under 
Article VIII hereof, for any purpose for which the Tax Increments may lawfully be used 
pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal Act, and the City shall have no 
obligations to the Developer with respect to the use thereof. 
 

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION 
 
 Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 
 
 (a) The Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this 
Article IX, the "indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the 
indemnified parties shall not be liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend and 
hold harmless the indemnified parties against, any loss or damage to property 
or any injury to or death of any person occurring at or about or resulting from 
any defect in the Minimum Improvements. 

 
 (b) Except for any willful misrepresentation, or any willful or wanton misconduct, 

or any unlawful act, or any negligent act or omission of the indemnified 
parties, Developer agrees to protect and defend the indemnified parties, now or 
forever, and further agrees to hold the indemnified parties harmless, from any 
claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings whatsoever by any person or 
entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from any violation of any 

-52-

Item E.3. 



31  

agreement or condition of this Agreement by the Developer, including but not 
limited to claims for the construction, installation, ownership, and operation of 
the Minimum Improvements. 

 
 (c) The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of the Developer or its officers, agents, servants or 
employees or any other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements 
due to any act of negligence, including a negligent failure to act, of any person, 
other than any act of negligence on the part of any such indemnified party or 
its officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 
 (d) The provisions of this Article IX shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 
 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES 
 
 Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined.  The following shall be "Events of 
Default" under this Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is 
used in this Agreement, any one or more of the following events: 
  
 (a) Failure by the Developer to cause the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements to be commenced and completed pursuant to the terms, 
conditions and limitations of Article III of this Agreement, subject to 
Unavoidable Delays; 

 
 (b) Failure by the Developer or its successors to cause the Minimum 

Improvements to be reconstructed when required pursuant to Article III of this 
Agreement. 

 
 (c) Failure by the City to cause the Development Property to be conveyed to the 

Developer pursuant to the terms, conditions and limitations of Section 8.1 of 
this Agreement, subject to Unavoidable Delays; 

 
 (d) Transfer of the Developer's ownership interest in the Development Property or 

any interest of Developer in this Agreement, or the assets of Developer in 
violation of the provisions of Article VII of this Agreement, until the 
Termination Date; 

 
 (e) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date, to pay ad valorem taxes 

on the Development Property (except as may be specifically excluded by 
exemption under Section 8.11of this Agreement);  

 

-53-

Item E.3. 



32  

 (f) Failure by the Developer until the Termination Date to substantially observe or 
perform any other covenant, condition, obligation or agreement on its part to 
be observed or performed under this Agreement; 

 
 (g) The holder of any Mortgage on the Development Property, or any 

improvements thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure 
proceedings as a result of any default under the applicable Mortgage 
documents; 

 
 (h) Sale or lease of the Minimum Improvements or Development Property in 

violation of the provisions of Section 6.12, Relocation, of this Agreement; 
 
 (j) The Developer shall: 
 
  (i) file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief 
under the United States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under 
any similar federal or state law; or 

 
  (ii) make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 
 
  (iii) admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due; or 
 
  (iv) be adjudicated a bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing adjudication as a bankrupt or reorganization under any 
present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state 
law shall be filed in any court and such petition or answer shall not be 
discharged or denied within ninety (90) days after the filing thereof; or a 
receiver, trustee or liquidator of the Developer or the Minimum 
Improvements, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings 
brought against the Developer and shall not be discharged within ninety 
(90) days after such appointment, or if the Developer shall consent to or 
acquiesce in such appointment; or 

 
 (k) Any obligation, representation or warranty made by any party to this 

Agreement, any Exhibit hereto, or made by any party in any written statement 
or certificate pursuant to this Agreement, shall prove to have been incorrect, 
incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or as of the date of the 
issuance or making thereof.   

 
 Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 
Section 10.1 of this Agreement occurs and is continuing, any party not in default may take 

-54-

Item E.3. 



33  

any one or more of the following actions after the giving of thirty (30) days' written notice 
to the party in default, and the holder of the Mortgage, of the Event of Default, but only if 
the Event of Default has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or if the Event of 
Default cannot reasonably be cured within thirty (30) days and the party in default does 
not provide assurances reasonably satisfactory to the party giving notice that the Event of 
Default will be cured as soon as reasonably possible: 
 
 (a) The party giving notice may suspend its performance under this Agreement 

until it receives assurances from the party in default, deemed adequate by the 
party giving notice, that the party in default will cure the default and continue 
performance under this Agreement; 

 
 (b) The party who is not in default may withhold the Certificate of Completion;  
 
 (c) The party who is not in default may take any action, including legal, equitable 

or administrative action, which may appear necessary or desirable to recover 
damages proximately caused by the Default, or to enforce performance and 
observance of any obligation, agreement, or covenant, under this Agreement. 

 
 (d) In the event the Developer fails to perform any one or more of the material 

obligations described in Article III of this Agreement in a timely manner, 
Developer shall thereupon immediately convey title to the Development 
Property to the City, free and clear of all liens and encumbrances, but subject 
to restrictive covenants, ordinances, and limited access provisions of record, if 
any, and to existing easements, if any.  Developer shall also establish to the 
satisfaction of City and its legal counsel that no labor has been performed and 
no materials have been furnished by any contractor, subcontractor, or any 
other person, firm or entity, in connection with any improvements made to the 
Development Property within the ninety (90) days immediately preceding the 
date of said conveyance.  Developer shall also deliver to City an abstract of 
title covering the Development Property, certified to a date subsequent to the 
date of said conveyance, showing that marketable title to the Development 
Property is vested in Developer and complies with the requirements of this 
subsection.  Developer shall pay to City all general property taxes and special 
assessments, if any, due or to become due with respect to the Development 
Property, continuing until the Development Property is assessed to the City 
and is exempt from assessment for general property taxes by reason of its 
conveyance to and ownership by the City as a tax-exempt governmental body.  
Developer shall pay for all costs associated with conveyance of the 
Development Property to the City, including, but not limited to, abstracting, 
recording fees, and reasonable attorneys' fees.  In the event the Developer fails 
to comply with the terms and conditions of this subsection (d) within the thirty 
(30) day period described in Section 10.2 of this Article, then the City may 

-55-

Item E.3. 



34  

proceed as provided in Section 10.2(c) of this Article, to obtain a decree of 
specific performance against Developer for the conveyance of the 
Development Property to the City or, in lieu thereof, at the City’s sole 
discretion, to obtain a judgment for monetary damages to compensate the City 
for the Developer’s default, plus attorneys’ fees and expenses as provided in 
Section 10.5. 

 
 Section 10.3.  No Remedy Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 
to the parties is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but 
each and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy 
given under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute.  
No delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall 
impair any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such 
right and power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed 
expedient.   
 
 Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver.  In the event any agreement contained in this 
Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, 
such waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to 
waive any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 
 
 Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any 
Event of Default occurs and a party not in default shall employ attorneys or incur other 
expenses for the collection of payments due or to become due or for the enforcement or 
performance or observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of a party in default 
herein contained, the party in default agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the 
party not in default the reasonable fees of such attorneys and such other expenses as may 
be reasonably and appropriately incurred by the party not in default in connection 
therewith. 
 

ARTICLE XI.  MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 Section 11.1.  Conflict of Interest.  Developer agrees that, to its best knowledge and 
belief, no member, officer or employee of the City, or its designees or agents, nor any 
consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and no other public official of the 
City who exercises or has exercised any functions or responsibilities with respect to the 
Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position to participate in a decision-making 
process or gain insider information with regard to the Project, shall have any interest, 
direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, or the proceeds thereof, for work to be 
performed in connection with the Project, or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is 
part of this Project at any time during or after such person's tenure. 
 

-56-

Item E.3. 



35  

 Section 11.2.  Non-Discrimination.  In carrying out the construction and operation 
of the Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any 
employee or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, gender, sexual 
orientation, gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.  The Developer 
shall insure that applicants for employment are employed, and the employees are treated 
during employment, without regard to their race, creed, color, gender, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, religion, sex, national origin, age or disability.   
 
 Section 11.3.  Notices.  Whenever this Agreement requires or permits any consent, 
approval, notice, request, proposal, or demand (collectively, "Notice") from one party to 
another, the Notice must be in writing and shall be effective upon actual receipt by the 
intended recipient, at the following addresses:    
 
DEVELOPER:  Mr. James A. Mudd, Jr. 
    Member 
    Six Kids, L.L.C.  
    915 Technology Parkway 
    Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613    
 
With a copy to:  Mark S. Rolinger 
    Redfern, Mason, Larsen and Moore, P.L.C. 
    415 Clay Street 
    Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
     
CITY   City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
    City Administrator 
    220 Clay Street 
    Cedar Falls, IA  50613 
 
or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party shall 
have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith.  Any party entitled to 
receive a Notice hereunder may change the address which it previously had specified for 
receiving the same, at any time and from time to time, by delivering a written change 
notice in accordance with the above provisions to the other parties at least five (5) 
business days prior to the effective date of such change. 
 
 Section 11.4.  Titles of Articles and Sections.  Any titles of the several parts, 
Articles, and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only 
and shall be disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 
 
 Section 11.5.  Provisions Not Merged With Deed.  None of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be merged by reason of the delivery of the Deed, and the Deed shall not 
be deemed to affect or impair the provisions and covenants of this Agreement. 

-57-

Item E.3. 



36  

 
 Section 11.6.  Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 Section 11.7.  Entire Agreement.  This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect the 
entire agreement between the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes 
and replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or written.  
This Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by all parties 
hereto. 
 
 Section 11.8.  Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement is intended to and shall 
inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective 
successors and assigns. 
 
 Section 11.9.  Termination Date of Assessment Agreement.  This Agreement shall 
terminate and be of no further force or effect with respect to the Minimum Improvements 
on the termination of the Minimum Assessment Agreement, as provided in Section 6.1 of 
this Agreement and in the Minimum Assessment Agreement, the form of which is 
attached hereto as Exhibit D. 
 
 Section 11.10.  Memorandum of Agreement.  The parties agree to execute and 
record a Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the form 
attached as Exhibit F, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of 
this Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  Developer 
shall pay all costs of recording. 
 
 Section 11.11.  Immediate Undertaking.  All parties agree to undertake immediately 
upon execution of this Agreement all of those obligations which require immediate action. 
 
 Section 11.12.  No Partnership or Joint Venture.  The relationship herein created 
between the parties is contractual in nature and is in no way to be construed as creating a 
partnership or joint venture between the Developer and any or all of the other parties. 
 
 Section 11.13.  Captions.  The captions, headings, and arrangements used in this 
Agreement are for convenience only and shall not in any way affect, limit, amplify, or 
modify the terms and provisions hereof. 
 
 Section 11.14.  Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular 
number is used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any 
gender shall include each other where appropriate. 
   
 Section 11.15.  Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or any 
agreement contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under 

-58-

Item E.3. 



37  

present or future laws effective during the term of such agreement; then: (i) such provision 
shall be fully severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such 
illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such 
agreement; and (iii) the remaining provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force 
and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision 
or by its severance from such agreement.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, void, 
invalid, or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as a part of such 
agreement a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable 
provision as may be legal, valid, and enforceable, whether or not such a substitute 
provision is specifically provided for in such agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
in the event any provision involving material consideration by the City for the benefit of 
the Developer shall be held illegal, void, invalid or unenforceable, then the Developer 
shall have the right to cancel this Agreement, and upon such cancellation, this Agreement, 
in its entirety, shall be rendered null and void; however, in that event, Developer shall 
proceed as described in Section 10.2(d) of this Agreement. 
 
 Section 11.16.  Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement has been executed in a 
number of identical counterparts, each of which is to be deemed an original for all 
purposes and all of which constitute collectively one agreement, but in making proof of 
this Agreement it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 
counterpart. 
 
 Section 11.17.  Authorization.  Each party hereto represents that prior to its 
execution hereof all necessary company, governmental or other appropriate action, as 
applicable, including without limitation resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, 
has been taken to authorize the execution of this Agreement and the performance by such 
party of its respective obligations hereunder. 
 
 Section 11.18.  Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to all 
matters described in this Agreement and related documents.  
 
 Section 11.19.  Survival.  Each provision of this Agreement shall survive the 
occurrence of the other provisions of this Agreement to the extent necessary to ensure full 
performance of said surviving provision. 
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed 
in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested by 
its City Clerk, and the Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its 
name and behalf by its member, all on or as of the day first above written. 
 
 

-59-

Item E.3. 



38  

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
      By: _________________________________ 
              James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
By: ________________________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk      
       
Six Kids, L.L.C., 
an Iowa limited liability company  
 
By: ________________________________________ 
 James A. Mudd, Jr., Member 
 
 
DEVELOPER 
 
STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ss.  
 
 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 
2018, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
     ______________________________________________ 
     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss. 
 
 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2018, 
by James A. Mudd, Jr., Member, Six Kids, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company. 
 
     ____________________________________________ 
     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 
 
  

-60-

Item E.3. 



39  

 
EXHIBIT A 

 
DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 
 
 The Development Property is described as consisting of all that certain parcel or 
parcels of land located generally in the City of Cedar Falls, County of Black Hawk, State 
of Iowa, more particularly described as follows: 
 

Lot 21, Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 
County, Iowa (Contains 3.04 acres more or less). 
 

 
  

-61-

Item E.3. 



40  

EXHIBIT B 
 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 
 
 The Minimum Improvements shall consist of the construction of a 
Corporate/Professional Office Facility totaling at least 18,000 square feet of finished 
space, all as set forth in the Construction Plans and being as more particularly shown and 
in substantially the same configuration and scope as the Site Plans attached hereto and 
made a part hereof. 
 
 The Developer agrees to connect to the sanitary sewer, storm sewer, natural gas, 
electricity, water, underground telephone cable, internet and any other utilities services 
from their present locations to such location or locations on the Development Property as 
Developer deems appropriate, at its cost.  The Developer also agrees to construct any 
driveway approaches and other paving, at its cost, in accordance with City ordinances.  
 
 The Developer also agrees to perform or cause to be performed all necessary 
grading, land preparation and all necessary building improvements, landscaping, storm 
water detention, signage, and all other site improvements, in all respects in entire 
conformity with all applicable codes and ordinances of the City, all at the Developer's 
cost.  The submittal to City of plans for the construction of said improvements shall be in 
substantial conformity with the following schedule: 
 

Schedule of Performance 
 
Activity to be Completed    Completion Date 
 
Issuance of Building Permit   May 1, 2019 
 
Substantial Completion     March 1, 2020 
 
Issuance of Occupancy Permit   March 1, 2020 
 
 

-62-

Item E.3. 



 

41  

EXHIBIT C 
 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 
called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 
authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2015 (Chapter 403 
hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and Six Kids, L.L.C.,  (hereinafter called the 
"Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its principal place of business at 
915 Technology Parkway, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; did on or about the _____ day of 
_______________, 2018, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 
Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in 
accordance with the terms of the Agreement, to develop and maintain certain real property 
located within the City and as more particularly described as follows: 
 

Lot 21, Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 
County, Iowa (Contains 3.04 acres more or less). 
 

 
(the "Development Property"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and 
restrictions with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated 
Developer to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance 
with the Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Developer performed said covenants and conditions insofar as they 
relate to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed by the City 
to be in conformance with the approved building plans to permit the execution and 
recording of this certification. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, pursuant to the Agreement, this is to certify that all covenants 
and conditions of the Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer and its 
successors and assigns, to construct the Minimum Improvements have been completed 
and performed by Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated 
insofar as they apply to the land described herein.  The County Recorder of Black Hawk 
County is hereby authorized to accept for recording and to record the filing of this 
instrument, to be a conclusive determination of the satisfactory termination of the 
covenants and conditions of said Agreement with respect to the construction of the 
Minimum Improvements. 
 

-63-

Item E.3. 



 

42  

 All other provisions of the Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect 
until termination as provided therein. 
 
 (SEAL)    THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
 
      By: ________________________________ 
             James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
By: _________________________________________ 
       Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA          ) 
                         )  ss: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK )  
 
 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 
2018, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
 
     ______________________________________________ 
     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 

 
 
  

-64-

Item E.3. 



 

43  

EXHIBIT D 
 

MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT 
 
 THIS MINIMUM ASSESSMENT AGREEMENT, dated as of this _________ day of 
______________, 2018, by and among the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, (the "City"), and 
Six Kids, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company, (the "Developer"), and the COUNTY 
ASSESSOR for the County of Black Hawk, State of Iowa (the "Assessor"). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, on or before the date hereof the City and Developer have entered into an 
Agreement for Private Development dated as of ______________________________, 2018 (the 
"Agreement") regarding certain real property located in the City legally described as: 
 

Lot 21, Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 
County, Iowa (Contains 3.04 acres more or less). 

 
(the "Development Property"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is contemplated that pursuant to said Agreement, the Developer will 
undertake the development of the Development Property, which is within the Cedar Falls Unified 
Highway 58 Corridor Urban Renewal Plan; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 403.6(19) of the Code of Iowa, 2017, as amended, the 
City and the Developer desire to establish a minimum actual taxable value for the facilities 
thereon to be constructed by the Developer pursuant to the Agreement (defined therein as the 
"Minimum Improvements"); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and the Assessor have reviewed the preliminary plans and 
specifications for the Minimum Improvements which it is contemplated will be erected. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, the parties to this Minimum Assessment Agreement, in 
consideration of the promises, covenants and agreements made by each other, do hereby agree as 
follows: 
 
 1.   Upon substantial completion of construction of the above-referenced Minimum 
Improvements by the Developer, but no later than January 1, 2021, the minimum actual taxable 
value which shall be fixed for assessment purposes for the Minimum Improvements to be 
constructed on the Development Property by the Developer and the land that together comprise 
the Development Property, shall be not less than Two Million Seven Hundred  Thousand Dollars 
and no/100 Dollars ($2,700,000.00) (hereafter referred to as the "Minimum Actual Value") until 
termination of this Minimum Assessment Agreement.  The parties hereto expect that the 
construction of the above-referenced Minimum Improvements will be completed on or before 
March 1, 2020. 
 

-65-

Item E.3. 



 

44  

 Nothing herein shall be deemed to waive the Developer's rights under Iowa Code Section 
403.6(19) to contest that portion of any actual taxable value assignment made by the Assessor in 
excess of the Minimum Actual Value established herein, or any actual taxable value assignment 
made by the Assessor to the Minimum Improvements or to the 3.04 acres of land, which together 
comprise the Development Property.  In no event, however, shall the Developer seek to reduce 
the actual taxable value assigned below the Minimum Actual Value established herein during the 
term of this Agreement. 
 
 2.   The Minimum Actual Value herein established shall be of no further force and effect 
and this Minimum Assessment Agreement shall terminate on December 31, 2031. 
 
 3.   This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall be promptly recorded by the Developer 
with the Recorder of Black Hawk County, Iowa.  The Developer shall pay all costs of recording. 
 
 4.   Neither the preambles nor provisions of this Minimum Assessment Agreement are 
intended to, or shall be construed as, modifying the terms of the Agreement between the City and 
the Developer. 
 
 5.   This Minimum Assessment Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon 
the successors and assigns of the parties, and all holders of mortgages upon or security interests in 
the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum Improvements,   to secure any 
loans with respect to the Development Property, including the land and the Minimum 
Improvements. 
 
      THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
      By: ____________________________________ 
       James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
________________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 
DEVELOPER: 
 
Six Kids, L.L.C. 
An Iowa limited liability company  
 
By: ________________________________________ 
 James A. Mudd, Jr., Member 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-66-

Item E.3. 



 

45  

STATE OF IOWA   ) 
       ) ss:   
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK   ) 
 
 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 
2018, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
 
     __________________________________________ 
     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA ) 
                       )  ss: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 
2018, by James A. Mudd, Jr., Member, Six Kids, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability 
company. 
    
 
     ____________________________________________ 
     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 
 
 
  

-67-

Item E.3. 



 

46  

 
CERTIFICATION OF ASSESSOR 

 
 The undersigned, having reviewed the plans and specifications for the Minimum 
Improvements to be constructed and the market value assigned to such Minimum 
Improvements, and being of the opinion that the minimum market value contained in the 
foregoing Minimum Assessment Agreement appears reasonable, hereby certifies as 
follows:  The undersigned Assessor, being legally responsible for the assessment of the 
property described in the foregoing Minimum Assessment Agreement, upon completion 
of Minimum Improvements to be made on it and in accordance with the Minimum 
Assessment Agreement, certifies that the actual taxable value assigned to such Minimum 
Improvements and the 3.04 acres of land on which such Minimum Improvements are to be 
constructed, which together comprise the Development Property, upon completion shall 
not be less than $2,700,000.00, until termination of this Minimum Assessment Agreement 
pursuant to the terms hereof. 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      Date 
 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA   ) 
                       )  ss. 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 
 
 Subscribed and sworn to before me by _______________________________, 
County Assessor for Black Hawk County, Iowa. 
 
      ______________________________________ 

Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 
 
      _______________________________________ 
      Date 
 
 

-68-

Item E.3. 



 

47  

EXHIBIT E 
 

FORM OF LEGAL OPINION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
Attn: City Clerk 
City Hall 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
 
 

RE: Agreement for Private Development by and between the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa and Six Kids, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company 

 
Gentlemen: 
 
 As counsel for Six Kids, L.L.C.  (the "Developer"), and in connection with the 
execution and delivery of a certain Development Agreement (the "Development 
Agreement") between the Developer and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") dated 
as of ________________, 2018, we hereby render the following opinion: 
 
 We have examined the original certified copy, or copies otherwise identified to our 
satisfaction as being true copies, of the following: 
 

(a) The certificate of organization and operating agreement, together with 
all amendments thereto, of the Developer; 

 
(b) Resolutions of the members of the Developer at which action was 

taken with respect to the transactions covered by this opinion; 
 
  (c) The Development Agreement; 
 
and such other documents and records as we have deemed relevant and necessary as a 
basis for the opinions set forth herein. 
 
 Based on the pertinent law, the foregoing examination and such other inquiries as we 
have deemed appropriate, we are of the opinion that: 
 
 1. The Developer has been duly organized and is validly existing as a limited 
liability company under the laws of the State of Iowa and is authorized to do business in 
the State of Iowa.  The Developer has full power and authority to execute, deliver and 
perform in full the Development Agreement and the Minimum Assessment Agreement; 
and the Development Agreement and the Minimum Assessment Agreement have been 

-69-

Item E.3. 



 

48  

duly and validly authorized by action of the members, have been executed and delivered 
by an authorized manager of the Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution 
and delivery by the City, are  in full force and effect and are  valid and legally binding 
instruments of the Developer enforceable in accordance with their  terms, except as the 
same may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to or 
affecting creditors' rights generally. 
 
 2. The execution, delivery and performance by the Developer of the 
Development Agreement, the Minimum Assessment Agreement, and the carrying out of 
the terms thereof, will not result in violation of any provision of, or in default under, the 
certificate of organization and operating agreement of the Developer or any indenture, 
mortgage, deed of trust, indebtedness, agreement, judgment, decree, order, statute, rule, 
regulation or restriction to which the Developer is a party or by which it or its property is 
bound or subject. 
 
 3. To our knowledge and after inquiry to Developer, there are no actions, suits 
or proceedings pending or threatened against or affecting the Developer in any court or 
before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental body in which there is a reasonable 
possibility of an adverse decision which could materially adversely affect the business 
(present or prospective), financial position or results of operations of the Developer or 
which in any manner raises any questions affecting the validity of the Development 
Agreement, the Minimum Assessment Agreement, or the Developer's ability to perform 
its obligations thereunder. 
 
 
Very truly yours, 
 
REDFERN, MASON, LARSEN, & MOORE, P.L.C. 
 
 
By:______________________________________ 
 Mark S. Rolinger, Attorney at Law 
       415 Clay Street 
 Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
  

-70-

Item E.3. 



 

49  

EXHIBIT F 
 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter 
called "City"), established pursuant to the Code of the State of Iowa and acting under the 
authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2017 (Chapter 403 
hereinafter called "Urban Renewal Act"); and Six Kids, L.L.C.,  (hereinafter called the 
"Developer"), an Iowa limited liability company having its principal place of business at 
915 Technology Parkway, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613, did on or about the _____ day of 
______________, 2018, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for 
Private Development (the "Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in 
accordance with the terms of the Agreement and the South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal 
Plan (the "Plan"), to develop certain real property located within the City and within the 
South Cedar Falls Urban Renewal Area and as more particularly described as follows: 
 

Lot 21, Cedar Falls Technology Park Phase II, City of Cedar Falls, Black Hawk 
County, Iowa (Contains 3.04 acres more or less). 

 
(the "Development Property"), and  
 
 WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement commenced on the ___ day of 
___________, 2018, and terminates on the 31st day of December, 2031, with respect to 
the Development Property, unless otherwise terminated as set forth in the Agreement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Parties desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement referring 
to the Development Property and their respective interests therein.   
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Agreement for Private 
Development shall serve as notice to the public that the Agreement contains provisions 
restricting conveyance, development and use of the Development Property and the 
improvements located and operated on such Development Property, and contains 
provisions dealing with the dollar amount of the minimum taxable value of the 
Development Property for general property tax purposes, and the length of time during 
which said minimum assessed value continues in effect, as provided for in Section 
403.6(19), Code of Iowa. 
 
 2. That all of the provisions of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments 
thereto, if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this Memorandum of 
Agreement for Private Development made a part hereof by reference, and that anyone 
making any claim against any of said Development Property in any manner whatsoever 

-71-

Item E.3. 



 

50  

shall be fully advised as to all of the terms and conditions of the Agreement, and any 
amendments thereto, as if the same were fully set forth herein.   
 
 3. That a copy of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if 
any, shall be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the 
office of the City Clerk, City Hall, Cedar Falls, Iowa.   
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Memorandum of 
Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of _______________________, 
2018. 
 
(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
      By: _________________________________ 
               James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
By: _________________________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 
 
Six Kids, L.L.C.. 
an Iowa limited liability company. 
 
By: ________________________________________ 
 James A. Mudd, Jr., Member 
 
 
  
STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 
 
 This record was acknowledged before me on the _______ day of ______________, 
2018, by James P. Brown as Mayor, and Jacqueline Danielsen as City Clerk, of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
     _________________________________________ 
     Notary Public in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa 
 
STATE OF IOWA    )  
      )  ss: 
COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK  ) 
 

-72-

Item E.3. 



 

51  

 This record was acknowledged before me on the _____ day of ____________, 2018, 
by James A. Mudd, Jr., Member, Six Kids, L.L.C., an Iowa limited liability company. 
 
     ____________________________________________ 
     Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 
 

 

-73-

Item E.3. 



 



-75-

Item E.3. 



-76-

Item E.3. 



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Planner II 

 DATE: September 27, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning request at the southwest corner of Highway 58 and West Ridgeway 
Avenue  

 
 
REQUEST: 
 

Conditionally rezone property from A-1, Agricultural District to HWY-1, 
Highway Commercial District 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC, Buyer; Bayer Becker, Engineer 
 

LOCATION: 
 

Southwest corner of Highway 58 and West Ridgeway Avenue 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant has submitted a request to 
rezone 49.52 acres of land at the southwest 
corner of Highway 58 and W Ridgeway 
Avenue from the A-1 Agricultural District to 
the HWY-1, Highway Commercial District as 
shown on the map to the right. The rezoning 
will allow for a retail commercial development 
on the property, consisting of one large retail 
store along with several other retail uses. 
Several additional outlots on the site will also 
be available for future commercial 
development.  
 
BACKGROUND 
This property has been zoned as agricultural 
since adoption of the Zoning Ordinance in 1970. The property is surrounded by a mobile home 
park to the west, a recreational vehicle sales establishment to the east (across Highway 58), 
and a convenience store, hotel and two residential acreages to the north. The applicant has an 
agreement to purchase the property from the current owners, and plans to develop the site with 
retail commercial uses. The rezoning of this property must be carefully considered by evaluating 

-77-

Item E.5. 



2 
 

the characteristics of the land and surrounding properties. This staff report will outline a number 
of these elements in order to have a firm understanding of the future use of this property. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The purpose of the A-1, Agricultural Zoning District is to act as a “holding zone” for future 
development when municipal services (sanitary sewer, water, roads) are accessible to the site.  
When these services are available, the development of the land is threefold, beginning with the 
rezoning of the land, platting and construction. 
 
Zoning considerations for undeveloped properties involve evaluation of three main criteria: 
 

1) Is the rezoning request consistent with the Future Land Use Map and Comprehensive 
Plan?  
The Future Land Use Map identifies this and a majority of the surrounding properties as 
Commercial Corridor. Characteristics of the Commercial Corridor designation include 
auto-oriented, primarily retail/service/office commercial and high density residential areas 
that serve surrounding neighborhoods as well as citywide customers. These 
developments typically contain small scale retail and personal services as well as 
community uses such as major grocery stores and office buildings. Commercial Corridor 
uses are typically located along major transportation corridors, and pedestrian traffic 
should be encouraged.  
 

 
 

2) Is the property readily accessible to public 
water and sanitary sewer service?  
As part of the technical review of this 
proposal, Cedar Falls Utilities personnel 
have no major concerns with the proposed 
HWY-1 rezoning request. A 12” sanitary 
sewer main is located along the north 
property line along W. Ridgeway Avenue, 
and a 12” water main is located along the 
north side of W Ridgeway Avenue (see 
map to the right). This 12” water main will 
need to be looped throughout this site in 
order to provide adequate fire protection. 

Future Land Use Map with Categories 

-78-

Item E.5. 



3 
 

Other utilities such as electric, gas and communication can be extended to the site. 
 

3) Does the property have adequate roadway/pedestrian access?  
The property currently has one farm access driveway off W Ridgeway Avenue. Although 
this property has frontage along both Highway 58 and US Highway 20, no access will be 
allowed from those frontages. The overall development plan shows two new accesses to 
the site: one across from Nordic Drive, and one across from a shared drive that serves 
two residential dwellings along the north side of W Ridgeway Avenue.  
 
In addition to adequate roadway access, another transportation component that should 
be analyzed when considering a rezoning, particularly when changing the use of land 
from an agricultural use to a commercial use, include pedestrian access and 
accommodations. Whenever a new development is proposed, City Code requires the 
developer to install a sidewalk along the entire street frontage of the property. On this 
particular property, there is no sidewalk currently located along W Ridgeway Avenue. 
However, there is a recreational trail located along the north side of W. Ridgeway Avenue 
at Nordic Drive, and along the south side of W Ridgeway Avenue east of Highway 58. 
Adding this sidewalk section in front of this development will connect the two trail 
networks, which in turn benefits the community as a whole. There may be some 
challenges to installing the sidewalk along the entire street frontage, as there is a 
drainage way located near W Ridgeway Avenue. It is the responsibility of the developer 
to determine how best to provide a sidewalk in this location.  City staff will work with the 
developer if an alternative location or design is necessary due to site conditions. The 
location and design of the sidewalk will be reviewed during site plan review. 
 
To move forward with the rezoning, the applicant has agreed to certain conditions to 
ensure appropriate infrastructure improvements are completed to support the requested 
upzoning from agricultural use to commercial use. These conditions include 
improvements to the public right-of-way and to the traffic and pedestrian circulation 
network on the private property to support commercial development and the significant 
traffic it will generate to and from this large site. These conditions were reviewed and 
approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission and have been incorporated into a 
formal conditional zoning agreement, which will be recorded as an integral part of the 
ordinance rezoning the property from A-1 to HWY-1. These conditions are outlined in 
more detail below in the recommendation. 
 
In order to determine the improvements to public roadways necessary to support the 
rezoning, the City required the applicant to conduct a traffic study.  The traffic study was 
originally submitted to the City on July 23, 2018, and a review of the study was completed 
by City staff and by City-hired peer review. It was determined that certain corrections 
needed to be made to the study to adequately address future traffic impacts. The 
applicant has been working to revise the study to address these issues and has indicated 
that an updated study will be forwarded to the City by Friday, September 28. Once 
submitted, the City will review it. Although the revised traffic study has not yet been 
submitted and reviewed, the developer has indicated that it is likely that the traffic study 
findings will indicate that the main entrance drive be a controlled intersection, likely a 
roundabout, and that their proposed access drive across from Nordic Drive be limited to 
right in, right-out movements only.  In addition, these roadway improvements will likely 
affect traffic movements to and from W Ridgeway Avenue from Nordic Drive. In 

-79-

Item E.5. 



4 
 

anticipation of the traffic study results, staff is scheduling a public meeting with property 
owners and businesses that may be affected by future changes to the roadway. The 
applicant has agreed to attend the meeting and present the traffic study findings and 
recommended roadway improvements.  
 
Once the City has received the traffic study report and finds it acceptable, the next step 
will be to draft a development agreement that specifies the traffic improvements that will 
be required, the timeline for making those improvements and any cost sharing between 
the developer and the City.  This draft agreement will be forwarded to and considered by 
the Council at the same meeting as the third reading of the rezoning ordinance, at which 
time it is also anticipated that a detailed site plan will have been reviewed by the Planning 
and Zoning Commission and forwarded to the Council for consideration.  
 

Other Zoning Considerations:  
 
Additional features of this property include a waterway along the front of the property along W 
Ridgeway Avenue. This waterway is not in a special flood hazard area, however it is designated 
as a wetland. Development cannot occur within this area unless there are mitigation practices in 
place. According to their overall development plan, the only wetland areas that would be 
disturbed would be the two entrance drives to the property. This area amounts to approximately 
1/3 of an acre, and according to the applicant, this area would be mitigated through a wetland 
bank credit. These areas would have appropriately sized culverts or piping installed underneath 
the road to allow the water to maintain its current flow. It should be noted that the exact extent of 
the encroachment into the wetland area will not be precisely known until the roadway 
improvements are designed. Mitigation requirements and the type of permit needed will be 
determined based on the extent of disturbance. 
 
Also, the development plan shows approximately 11 acres along the south and east ends of the 
property as being reserved for future highway right-of-way. The Iowa Department of 
Transportation conducted a Highway 58 Corridor Study several years ago, which shows a layout 
of a new interchange at US Highway 20 and Highway 58. The applicant utilized the DOT model 
to leave this area open on their property for this potential future interchange. By designating this 
area as open space for future right-of-way, that leaves approximately 39 acres available for 
development. When a more detailed site plan is submitted for review and approval this area will 
need to be delineated and reserved for future interchange improvements.  
 
Proposed Zoning:  
 
The purpose of the HWY-1 district is to promote and facilitate comprehensively planned 
commercial developments which are harmoniously located adjacent to major transportation 
corridors and interchanges. It is further the purpose of these regulations to encourage high 
standards of building architecture and site planning, which will foster commercial development 
that maximizes pedestrian convenience, comfort and pleasure. 
 
A Highway Commercial District is a commercial project containing general service facilities on 
larger tracts of land intended to serve the traveling public or for the establishment of regional 
commercial service centers. Said districts can be established adjacent to state or interstate 
highway corridors at sites best suited to serve the traveling public.  
 

-80-

Item E.5. 



5 
 

Another commercial zoning district could have been considered for this site (PC-2, Planned 
Commercial District), however, the HWY-1 District was established and intended for planned 
commercial developments located along major transportation corridors and interchanges. With 
this property being located adjacent to the interchange of Highway 20 and Highway 58, as well 
as being located along a major transportation corridor in W Ridgeway Avenue, staff believes this 
to be the most appropriate zoning district to classify this property. 
 
Public Notice:  
 
A notice of public hearing was published in the Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier on Friday, 
September 21, 2018.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the request to rezone this 
property from A-1 Agricultural District to HWY-1 Highway Commercial District, subject to the 
following conditions: 
 

1. All street, intersection, and traffic control improvements necessary to provide for safe and 
efficient traffic control and circulation to serve the long term needs of the subject 
development at full build out without causing undue traffic circulation and congestion 
problems be designed and agreed upon prior to approval of the rezoning at City Council 
and that said improvements must be constructed and accepted by the City prior to 
issuance of an occupancy permit for any portion of the development;  

2. The area shown as “Future R/W (right-of-way)” on the concept site plan shall remain as 
open space and shall not be developed with any structures, fences, buildings, hard 
surfacing, driveways or sidewalks; 

3. If and when the property to the west ever redevelops with commercial uses, a cross-
access drive shall be constructed by the property owner at their expense within a 30-foot 
wide cross-access easement that will be established at the time of site plan approval. 
The exact location of the easement will be determined with the site plan; 

4. A 5-foot wide sidewalk shall be installed along the entire frontage of the property along 
W. Ridgeway Avenue. The City will work with the developer to determine the best 
location for the easternmost sidewalk segment to avoid the wetland and provide for safe 
pedestrian access to the corner of Ridgeway and Hwy 58; 

5. Sidewalks shall be installed throughout the interior of the development site to provide a 
continuous sidewalk network between all the commercial buildings on the site. A sidewalk 
network plan shall be required at the time of site plan review.  

 PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction  
6/27/2018 

Chair Oberle introduced the item and Mr. Graham provided background 
information. He explained that it is proposed to rezone the 50 acre property from 
A-1, Agricultural to HWY-1, Highway Commercial to allow for retail commercial 
development, including a large retail store, as well as smaller retail outlets. Staff 
would like to gather any comments from the public or planning commission at this 
time to bring forward at the next meeting. 
 

-81-

Item E.5. 



6 
 

Mr. Holst asked about the plan to mitigate the wetland area. Ms. Chimento with 
Midland Atlantic noted that it will be mitigated through a wetland bank credit. Mr. 
Arntson asked about the timing of the traffic study and the next piece in the 
process. Mr. Graham stated that the traffic study would be done and reviewed by 
the time the site plan comes to the Commission. Ms. Giarusso asked about the 
interchange at the corner of Ridgeway and Highway 58. Mr. Graham stated that 
the stoplights would probably be removed and off ramps added. Mr. Leeper 
asked the applicant to keep in mind that this is a gateway to the community and 
to be conscious of that in their design.  
 

Public 
Hearing 
and 
Discussion 
7/11/2018 
 
 
Public 
Hearing 
and Vote 
7/25/2018 

Chair Oberle introduced the item and Mr. Graham provided information about the 
request. Mr. Graham indicated that the applicant is in the process of completing a 
traffic impact study and staff would like to review the study before approval. Staff 
recommends continuing the public hearing to the next meeting. The Commission 
agreed to continue the discussion at the July 25 meeting.  
 
 
Chair Oberle introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background 
information. She explained that the rezoning is intended to facilitate 
redevelopment of the site from agricultural use to a large mixed commercial 
development. On the future land use map, the property is shown as part of the 
commercial corridor; therefore the rezoning would be consistent with the 
comprehensive plan. She noted that utilities are available to the site. Staff was 
waiting for the traffic impact study to provide an analysis of traffic flow in the area. 
The study was submitted recently, but staff has not had enough time for adequate 
review. Any improvements recommended could be conditions in the rezoning 
request. Staff feels that this development would be a valuable improvement to the 
community and recommends approval with conditions. 

 

Ms. Saul asked whether applying conditions is a common practice. Ms. Howard 
explained that the conditions are placed at the rezoning time because that is the 
time the City is deciding whether rezoning is appropriate. State law allows 
conditional zoning agreements.  

 

Mr. Holst made a motion to approve with the staff recommended conditions 
provided to the Commission. Ms. Giarusso seconded the motion. The motion was 
approved unanimously with 6 ayes (Adkins, Giarusso, Hartley, Holst, Oberle and 
Saul), and 0 nays. 
 

 
Attachments: Location map 
  Rezoning Plat 
  Overall Development Concept Plan 
   

-82-

Item E.5. 



Technology
Park

Industrial
Park

Prairie
Lakes Park

Ac
e P

l

Pr
inc

eto
n A

ve

N o
rd i

c D
r

Butterfield Rd

Lexingto nB lvd

Tre
nto

n A
ve

Cha nc ello rDr
Columbia St

Saratoga St

Scranton St

Concord St

Richmond St

Fa
st 

Ln

Camden St

Montclair St

Riders Rd

Technology Pkwy

Commerce Dr

Performance Dr

Waterway Ave (Planned)

E Ridgeway AveW Ridgeway Ave

R-4

M-2-P

M-1

HWY-1

HWY-1

PC-2

HWY-1

BR
A-1

A-1

A-1 A-1

®¬27

®¬58

£¤20

Cedar Falls City Council
October 1, 2018

Rezoning of Property from A-1
Agricultural to HWY-1 Highway Commercial -
Midland Atlantic Development Company, LLC

W Viking
Industrial

Park

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

Hu
ds

on
Rd

Greenhill Rd

Rainbow Dr
University Ave

Waterloo Rd

Orchard Dr

V ikin

gRd

W 18th St

CenterS t

E Dunkerton Rd

S M
ain

 St
Ma

in
St

W 1st St

W 12th St

Un
ion

 R
d

E 1st St

W 27th St

NUnion Rd

Lincoln St

E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ve

rse
eR

d

W Ridgeway Ave

®¬57

®¬58

®¬27£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

-83-

Item E.5. 



 



-85-

Item E.5. 



 



-87-

Item
 E

.5. 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by: Shane Graham, Planner II, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO._____________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 29-107, DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
OF DIVISION I, GENERALLY OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT 
REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-NINE (29) ZONING, OF THE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND 
RE-ENACTING SAID SECTION 29-107 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS 
AMENDED, SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE TO THE CHANGE IN THE 
ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY 
THIS ORDINANCE 

 
  WHEREAS, the applicant, Midland Atlantic Development Company, has requested a 
rezoning of property located at the southwest corner of the intersection of W Ridgeway 
Avenue and Highway 58 in Cedar Falls, Iowa from A-1(Agricultural) to HWY-1 (Highway 
Commercial); and 
 
  WHEREAS, the Comprehensive Plan indicates that this property is designated for 
future commercial use; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has the reviewed the proposed 
rezoning and determined that it complies with the Comprehensive Plan provided that it meets 
conditions addressing the need for sidewalk, street, intersection, and traffic control 
improvements necessary to provide for safe and efficient pedestrian and traffic control and 
circulation; and 
 
  WHEREAS, Iowa Code Section 414.5 provides that as a part of an ordinance 
changing land from one zoning district to another zoning district, a city council may impose 
conditions on a property owner which are in addition to existing regulations, if the additional 
conditions have been agreed to in writing by the property owner before the public hearing 
required by Iowa Code Section 414.5, or any adjournment of the hearing, and if the conditions 
are reasonable, and are imposed to satisfy public needs which are directly caused by the 
requested change; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the owners of the property to be rezoned and applicant have agreed that 
the property shall be developed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 

-89-

Item E.6. 



Conditional Zoning Agreement attached hereto to ensure appropriate development in this 
area of the city. 
  

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, finds that, as a condition 
of the approval of the rezoning request, certain conditions must be imposed on the property 
owner and on the property which the City Council finds are reasonable and necessary in 
order to satisfy public needs which would be directly caused by the rezoning of the property 
as described herein; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best interests 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve said rezoning, subject however, to the conditional 
zoning agreement attached hereto and incorporated herein; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the 
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said 
Ordinance; 
 
 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and 
such hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 
 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 
IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 
 
All that part of the East ½ of the Northwest Fractional Quarter of Section 2, Township 88 
North, Range 14 West of the 5th P.M., Black Hawk County, Iowa, lying Northerly of 
Highway No. 20 described in 539 LD 76 and 571 LD 973, except those parts conveyed for 
public highway in 113 LD 199 and 539 LD 85, and also except that part thereof conveyed to 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, in Doc. No. 2011-00009788. 
 
AND 
 
All that part of the West ½ of the Northeast Fractional Quarter of Section 2, Township 88 
North, Range 14 West of the 5th P.M., Black Hawk County, Iowa, lying Northerly and 
Westerly of Highway No. 20 described in 539 LD 76 and lying Westerly and Southerly of the 
public highway described in 569 LD 205 and 539 LD 85. 

 
Be and the same is hereby removed from the A-1 Agricultural District and added to the 
HWY-1 Highway Commercial District, subject however, to the conditions set forth in the 
conditional zoning agreement attached hereto, and by this reference incorporated herein as 
fully as though set out word for word in this ordinance, which conditions are hereby imposed 
upon the property owner, his successors and assigns, and upon the above-described real 
estate, and shall run with the land. 
 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 
hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the 

-90-

Item E.6. 



HWY-1 Highway Commercial District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the 
zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 
 
 Section 3. That said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the 
Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed 
and hereby re-enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same 
shall apply to and include the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
INTRODUCED:     October 1, 2018    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                            James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

-91-

Item E.6. 



 



-93-

Item E.6. 



-94-

Item E.6. 



-95-

Item E.6. 



-96-

Item E.6. 



-97-

Item E.6. 



-98-

Item E.6. 



-99-

Item E.6. 



-100-

Item E.6. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
  

 TO: Mayor and City Council 

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request – Park Ridge Estates 
 
 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from A-1, Agricultural to R-1, Residence District 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Larry Hill, Owner; Wingert Development, CGA, Inc., Engineer 

LOCATION: 
 

20.8 acre parcel at the north end of Lakeshore Drive 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicants have submitted a request to 
rezone 20.8 acres of land off the north end of 
Lakeshore Drive from A-1, Agricultural to 
R-1, Residential as shown on the location map. 
The rezoning will allow development of single 
family homes similar to the adjacent subdivisions 
of the Lakewood Estates, Lakewood Hills and 
the Ridges 7th developments.  
 
BACKGROUND 
This property has been zoned as agricultural 
since adoption of the Zoning Ordinance in 1970. 
The land is surrounded by R-1 zoning on the 
south and east sides. The current owner is 
interested in selling this land for future development. There is a current buyer with an offer to 
purchase the land with the condition to rezone the land for future residential development. The 
rezoning of this property must be carefully considered by evaluating the characteristics of the 
land and surrounding properties. This staff report will outline a number of these elements in 
order to have a firm understanding of the future use of this property. 
 
 
 

-101-

Item E.7. 



ANALYSIS 
The purpose of the A-1, agricultural zoning district is to act as a “holding zone” for future 
development when municipal services (sanitary sewer, water, roads) are accessible to the site.  
When these services are available, the development of the land is threefold, beginning with the 
rezoning of the land, platting and construction. 
 
As previously mentioned, this 20-acre property is surrounded by residential development on the 
west, south and east. The west side includes A-1, agricultural large lot residential homes with 
access onto Skyview Drive and Union Road. The south and east are residential subdivisions in 
the R-1, residential zoning district. The north side of the property is city owned Ulrich Park. 
Additional features of the property include steep slopes on the east and north which is part of 
the floodplain district. There are approximately 9 acres of land located in the aforementioned 
floodplain district. This leaves approximately 12 acres for development that is out of the 
floodplain and steep slopes area. The zoning ordinance allows the platting of land in the 
floodplain as long as the building area and no more than 25% of the lot area is in the floodplain. 
This basically allows the back yard area to be situated in the floodplain and in this case the 
ravine along the east and north side of the property. 
 
Zoning considerations normally involve evaluation of three main criteria: 
 

1) Is the rezoning request consistent with the Future Land Use Map and the Comprehensive 
Plan? 
The Future Land Use Map identifies this and the surrounding properties as Low Density 
Residential and Greenways/Floodplain. Low density residential emphasizes single family 
detached development. Typical densities range from 1 to 4 units per acre. These 
developments, as well as any development in the city will be provided with full municipal 
services. Residential growth centers are identified along W. 1st Street and Union Road. In 
order to develop the land to the west of this proposed site, the necessary infrastructure (i.e. 
sanitary sewer) will need to be extended through the north end of this site from the east 
end of Skyview Drive. From this point, the sanitary sewer will follow the ravine along the 
south side of Skyview Drive to service the area along Union Road. The intended use of the 
developable area of the property is less than 1 unit per acre. 

 
Future Land Use Map with Categories 

-102-

Item E.7. 



The next land use category is floodplain. 
This property includes steep slopes, 
drainage ways and wooded areas on the 
east and north edge of the property which 
is part of the floodplain district. There are 
approximately 9 acres of land located in the 
aforementioned floodplain district. This 
leaves approximately 12 acres for 
development that is out of the floodplain 
and steep slopes area. These 
environmentally sensitive areas must be 
maintained to avoid flooding, erosion and 
other adverse impacts to this and the 
surrounding properties, which is a principle 
goal of the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
These environmentally sensitive areas will be reviewed as part of the platting process. The 
developer submitted an environmental report and grading plan for stormwater control with 
the preliminary plat. The floodplain area is identified along the north and east edge of the 
property that must be preserved in open space. The zoning ordinance allows the platting of 
land in the floodplain as long as the building area and no more than 25% of the lot area is 
in the floodplain. This basically allows the back yard area to be situated in the floodplain 
and in this case the ravine along the east and north side of the property. The intent in this 
case is to create “outlots” in the floodplain to be conveyed to the owner of the adjoining lot. 
The future use of these outlots must be clearly defined as part of the platting process.  
 
Currently, there are concerns with the storm water drainage on surrounding properties. 
Concerns were expressed at the Planning and Zoning Commission meetings regarding 
stormwater drainage on adjacent properties. City staff and the applicant for this rezoning 
have met with surrounding property owners to discuss whether there are ways the 
stormwater management facilities for the future subdivision can be designed that might 
improve conditions for other properties. More details about these discussions and the 
resulting subdivision design will be forwarded to the Council with the preliminary plat.  
 

2) Is the property readily accessible to sanitary sewer service?  
Yes, sanitary sewer is readily available to the site. This sewer is located off the north end 
of Lakeshore Drive approximately 200 feet into the petitioner’s property. This sewer line is 
located in the Lakeshore Drive right of way. At this point, a sewer manhole changes the 
route of the sewer line by heading east to the lift station near the southeast corner of the 
property. Sanitary sewer will extend from the aforementioned manhole in the Lakeshore 
Drive right of way to the end of the street to service the proposed lots in the subdivision. 
Typically, the sanitary sewer must be extended to the limits of the plat, per City’s 
subdivision ordinance in order to accommodate the future growth in the northwest portion 
of Cedar Falls. The petitioner’s engineer provided a preliminary sanitary sewer study to 
identify a future location of the sewer extension to the limits of the property (plat). It was 
determined that due to the steep slopes, floodplain and soil conditions, a sanitary sewer is 
not feasible through the north end of the Lakeshore Drive extension or along the easterly 
property line. The proposed development of this property will utilize the existing lift station 
at the southeast corner of the property. 
 

-103-

Item E.7. 



The intent for future sanitary sewer is to extend the existing sewer line along the Cedar 
River to a new lift station in Ulrich Park, which is located adjacent to the north side of the 
property. A future sewer line will extend through the north edge of the petitioner’s property 
for sewer service to the northwest portion of Cedar Falls. 
 

3) Does the property have adequate roadway access?  
The property currently has access off the north end of Lakeshore Drive. The International 
Fire Code allows up to 30 dwelling units in a residential development on a single access 
road or public street. Since the west half of Lakewood Hills and the Lakewood Estates 
subdivision includes 30 residential dwellings, a secondary access to this site is needed. 
Multiple access roads are needed to ensure that if one road is blocked, the other road will 
provide access to the site. This secondary access could be provided with a street that 
continues through this property and connecting into the east end of Skyview Drive. This 
would require a structure or bridge to cross the floodplain and ravine along the north end of 
the property. An exception to this rule is that the single access road may be provided for 
more than 30 residential dwellings, these dwellings must be equipped with an approved 
automatic sprinkler system in accordance with the International Fire Code. 

 
Lastly, there is an earthen dam located adjacent to the southeast corner of the property for the 
Lakewood Hill pond. Future development near this dam must be restricted in order to maintain 
access and the integrity of the structure.   
     
As part of the technical review of this proposal, Cedar Falls Utilities personnel, have no 
concerns with the proposed rezoning request. All utility services are located in the adjacent 
residential subdivisions and will be extended into this property as part of the platting process. 
 
The rezoning of this property would allow for the development of residential lots. A notice was 
mailed to the adjoining property owners on September 26, 2018 regarding this public hearing 
and rezoning request.  
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Introduction and 
Public Hearing 
8/22/2018 

Mrs. Oberle introduced this item and Mr. Sturch provided background information. He 
explained that the item is an introduction to a rezoning request for a 20 acre parcel at 
the north end of Lakeshore Drive from A-1, Agricultural to R-1, Residential. He 
discussed the elements that are considered for this kind of request including future 
land use, public utilities, street access and existing environmental features including 
floodplain, tree stands, tree slopes, wetlands and drainage. 
 
There were several nearby residents in the audience concerned about stormwater 
issues, flooding, erosion and the siltation of the existing lake. The Commission had 
questions regarding the sanitary and storm sewer. The project engineer from 
Clapsaddle Garber summarized the stormwater management. 
 
Chair Oberle reiterated that the issue at hand is the rezoning portion of the project. 
There were no other comments and the public hearing and discussion will continue at 
the next Planning and Zoning Commission meeting on September 12, 2018. 
 

Public Hearing 
9/12/18 

Vice Chair Holst introduced this site plan and Mr. Sturch provided some background 
information. He summarized the rezoning request, future land use and public 
infrastructure to the property. 
 

-104-

Item E.7. 



The adjacent property owner and the developer’s engineer commented on the 
proposed rezoning. The Commission provided comments and agrees that the request 
follows the future land use map. There were no comments and the Commission 
recommended approval of the rezoning request from A-1 to R-1. 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the request to rezone this 
property from A-1 Agricultural District to R-1 Residential District. 

-105-

Item E.7. 



 



W
IN
D
IN
G
 R
ID
G
E
 R
D

NORTH RIDGE CIR

NORTHVIEW

LN

FALCON LN

WALTERS POND PL

R
ID
G
E
 D
R

Ulrich Park

SKYVIEW DR

E
A
G
L
E
 R
ID
G
E
 R
D

ALICE AVE

L
E
C
L
A
IR
 S
T

S
T
A
N
L
E
Y
 S
T

M
IN
N
E
T
O
N
K
A
 D
R

L
A
K
E
V
IE
W
 D
R

JUANITA AVE

LI
LL
IP
U
T 
LN

 

 

S
H
IR
L
E
Y
 S
T

 

M
A
G
N
O
L
IA
 D
R

M
A
G
N
O
L
IA
 D
R

HORIZON

DR

WYNN
EWOOD

 DR

WYNN
EWOOD

 DR

LAKE SHORE DR

S
O
U
T
H
 R
ID
G
E
 R
D

C
O
U
N
T
R
Y
 M
E
A
D
O
W
 LN

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
GLEN OAKS

DR

L
A
K
E

W
HITETAIL DR

HIGHWAY 57

R-1

R-2

S-1

R-1SF
R-5

C-1

R-1

RP
R-3

C-1R-1

A
-1 C
-2

R-1

C-2

A-1

R-1

Rezoning Request A-1, Agricultural to
R-1, Residential

1

Location
Map

Cedar Falls City Council

-107-

Item E.7. 



 



-109-

Item E.7. 



 



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Prepared by: David Sturch, Planner III, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
ORDINANCE NO._____________ 

 
AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 29-107, DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 
OF DIVISION I, GENERALLY OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS OF CHAPTER TWENTY-NINE (29) ZONING, 
OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

AND RE-ENACTING SAID SECTION 29-107 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS AMENDED, 
SO AS TO APPLY TO AND INCLUDE THE CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP 

OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS ORDINANCE 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that all that area 
described as follows shall be removed from the A-1 Agricultural Zoning District and placed in the 
R-1 Residence Zoning District, as follows: 
 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER (NW 1/4), OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER 
(SE 1/4) OF SECTION THREE (3), TOWNSHIP EIGHTY-NINE NORTH (T89N), RANGE 
FOURTEEN WEST (R14W) OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, BLACK HAWK, COUNTY, IOWA, LYING NORTH OF LAKEWOOD HILLS, EXCEPT 
THE EAST SIX HUNDRED FIVE (605) FEET THEREOF. 
 
Also 
 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER (NE 1/4), OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 
(SW 1/4) OF SECTION THREE (3), TOWNSHIP EIGHTY-NINE NORTH (T89N), RANGE 
FOURTEEN WEST (R14W) OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, BLACK HAWK, COUNTY, IOWA, LYING NORTH OF LAKEWOOD HILLS, EXCEPT 
THE WEST ONE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED FORTY-EIGHT (1,248) FEET THEREOF 
 
And 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to the best 
interests of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 
 

-111-

Item E.8. 



 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 
hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 
 
 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 
 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER (NW 1/4), OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER 
(SE 1/4) OF SECTION THREE (3), TOWNSHIP EIGHTY-NINE NORTH (T89N), RANGE 
FOURTEEN WEST (R14W) OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, BLACK HAWK, COUNTY, IOWA, LYING NORTH OF LAKEWOOD HILLS, EXCEPT 
THE EAST SIX HUNDRED FIVE (605) FEET THEREOF. 
 
Also 
 
THAT PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER (NE 1/4), OF THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER 
(SW 1/4) OF SECTION THREE (3), TOWNSHIP EIGHTY-NINE NORTH (T89N), RANGE 
FOURTEEN WEST (R14W) OF THE FIFTH PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN IN THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, BLACK HAWK, COUNTY, IOWA, LYING NORTH OF LAKEWOOD HILLS, EXCEPT 
THE WEST ONE THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED FORTY-EIGHT (1,248) FEET THEREOF 
 
Be and the same is hereby removed from the A-1 Agricultural District and added to the R-1 
Residence District. 
 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 
hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the R-1 
Residence District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map of the City 
of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 
 
 Section 3. That said Section 29-107, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-nine (29), Zoning, of the Code of 
Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby re-
enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and 
include the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
INTRODUCED:     October 1, 2018    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:       

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       

ADOPTED:          

 
 
 

_____________________________ 
                                                                            James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

-112-

Item E.8. 



 1

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: Iris Lehmann, Planner I, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 (319) 273-8600 
 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2931 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 29-2, DEFINITIONS, OF ARTICLE I, IN 
GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 29, ZONING OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY 
OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA AND REPEALING AND REPLACING SECTION 29-168, CBD, 
CENTRAL BUSINESS DISTRICT OVERLAY ZONING DISTRICT, OF DIVISION 2, 
SPECIFIC DISTRICTS, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICTS AND DISTRICT REGULATIONS, OF 
CHAPTER 29, ZONING OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR 
FALLS, IOWA 

 
WHEREAS, it is the purpose of the Central Business District Overlay to provide guidance for building, 

site design standards, maintenance, and development within the district; and 
 
WHEREAS, these amendments clarify the review process and provide more objectivity to the design 

criteria; and 
 
WHEREAS, these amendments outline best practices of storefront design with the intent to continue 

and strengthen the quality of development in the downtown; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has reviewed the proposed changes to the 

ordinance and recommends approval; and 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
SECTION 1. The Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa is hereby amended as follows: 

 
A. Amend Section 29-2, Definitions, Article I, In General, of Chapter 29, Zoning by adding the following 
definitions: 
 

Façade means the entire exterior wall of a building along a street, including all stories. 

Storefront means the façade of the ground-level story of a building. The area of the storefront will be 
calculated using the first 15 vertical feet of the façade, unless otherwise demonstrated by applicant, 
as evidenced by the storefront cornice height or interior ceiling height. 
 

-113-

Item F.1. 



 2

B. Section 29-168, CBD, Central Business District Overlay Zoning District, of Division 2, Specific Districts, of 
Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter 29, Zoning is hereby repealed in its entirety and the 
following Section 29-168, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 
 
Sec. 29-168. - CBD, Central business district overlay zoning district.  
 

(a)     Purpose and intent. The purpose of the CBD, central business district overlay zoning district 
(hereinafter the "overlay district") is to provide guidance for future development in the specified 
area and to encourage continued successful business development in the downtown Cedar Falls 
area. The overlay district is intended to allow land uses and to encourage appropriate building 
design standards in a manner that complements and strengthens the downtown retail and 
service business sector. Originally developed as a compact, multi-functional, walkable 
environment, the overlay is intended to support pedestrian access and use. The provisions of 
this section shall apply in addition to any other zoning district regulations and requirements in 
which the land may be classified. In case of conflict, the more specific standard shall apply. 

(b)     Boundaries. The CBD, central business district overlay boundaries are generally outlined in the 
image below. The legal description and official zoning map of the overlay is on file in the office of 
the city clerk.  

 
Figure 1 – CBD boundary map 

 (c)  Permitted uses.  

(1)     Allowable uses within the overlay district include typical commercial, professional office 
and service oriented businesses, uses or facilities, including hotels and lodging facilities, 
all such uses currently allowed in the C-1 commercial, C-2 commercial and C-3 
commercial districts unless herein limited. If the underlying zoning district is more 
restrictive than the C-3 commercial district, then only those uses permitted in the more 
restrictive district shall be allowed.  

-114-

Item F.1. 



 3

(2)    Residential uses are allowable subject to planning and zoning commission and city council 
review and approval. No residential use may be established on the ground floor of any 
building within the commercial area bounded by First Street south to Sixth Street from 
Washington Street east to State Street. Residential uses are encouraged to be 
established in upper levels of downtown commercial buildings (hereinafter referred to as 
“mixed-use buildings”).  

(d)  Conditional uses. Where some question arises whether a particular commercial use is 
appropriate within the overlay district, the use may be allowed subject to planning and zoning 
commission and city council review and approval, provided that the proposed use conforms to 
the prevailing character of the downtown area and provided that the use will not necessitate the 
use of outdoor storage areas. In addition, such uses must not generate excessive amounts of 
noise, odor, vibrations or fumes, or truck traffic. If the underlying zoning district is more 
restrictive than the C-3 commercial district, allowable conditional uses will be those generally 
compatible with the more restrictive standards of the underlying zoning district. Examples of 
uses that may be allowed subject to approval of a conditional use permit are:  

(1)  Auto repair shop.  

(2)  Printing or publishing facility.  

(3)  Limited manufacturing activity that is directly related to the operation of a retail business 
conducted on the premises.  

(4)  Plumbing and heating shop.  

(5)  Sign painting shop.  

(6)  Appliance repair shop.  

(7)  Home supply business.  

(e)  Prohibited uses. In all cases the following uses will not be allowed within the overlay district 
either as permitted or conditional uses:  

(1)  Lumber yards.  

(2)  Used or new auto sales lots and displays.  

(3)  Auto body shop.  

(4)  Storage warehouse or business.  

(5)  Mini-storage warehouse.  

(6)  Sheet metal shop.  

(7)  Outdoor storage yard.  

(f)   Site plan review. Any proposed substantially improved or new building structure or development, 
including proposed residential facilities, must submit a detailed site plan and building plans for 
review and approval by the planning and zoning commission and the city council. Applicants are 
encouraged, but not required, to consult with Community Main Street’s Design Guidelines and 
Design Committee as a design resource. Elements to be considered in this review process are 
proposed use, proposed building improvements or new structural elements, with particular 
attention to exterior building design elements, parking provision (see section 29-177 parking 
regulations), and how the proposed improvement or development will complement existing 
nearby uses and building design elements.  

“Substantial improvement " includes any new building construction within the overlay district or 
any renovation of an existing structure that involves any modification of the exterior appearance 

-115-

Item F.1. 



 4

of the structure by virtue of adding or removing exterior windows or doors or altering the color or 
exterior materials of existing walls. All facade improvements, changes, alterations, modifications 
or replacement of existing facade materials will be considered a substantial improvement. 
Included in this definition are any new, modified or replacement awning structures or similar 
material extensions over the public sidewalk area. A substantial improvement also includes any 
increase or decrease in existing building height and/or alteration of the existing roof pitch or 
appearance. 
 
The following shall be exempt from site plan review: 

(1)      Existing detached single-unit and multi-unit dwellings containing less than seven units; 
not including mixed-use buildings.  

(2)     Routine repair or replacement of existing roof materials, awnings, or other minor façade 
elements that do not materially change the appearance, shape or configuration of the 
existing building will not be considered a "substantial improvement".  

(3)     Emergency repairs needed as the result of unanticipated building or facade damages due 
to events such as fire, vandalism, or weather related damages, provided that the needed 
repairs do not alter the appearance of the structure prior to the event causing the 
unanticipated damages. 

 
(g)     Parking: On-site parking in the downtown area will not be required for principal permitted 

commercial, professional office or service business uses or facilities. Any proposed residential 
use established within the overlay district must conform to the parking regulations described in 
section 29-177.  

(h)     Front Setbacks.  

(1)     New commercial and mixed-use buildings shall be placed to the front and corner of lots, 
and set back a minimum of 0 feet and maximum of 10 feet from any street-side lot line.  

(2)     New residential or expansions of residential buildings shall be setback a minimum of 10 
feet.  

(i)    Building design review. All substantially improved or new building structures within the overlay 
district shall be reviewed by the planning and zoning commission and the city council for 
architectural compatibility with surrounding structures. Paramount to this review will be 
consideration of building materials, exterior building materials on all sides, coloration of 
materials, building height, roof line, size and location of windows and doors, roof mounted 
appurtenances, and facades. For the purposes of this section, when a building is located on a 
corner lot the primary street shall be the north-south street, with other streets being considered 
secondary. In addition to consideration of typical physical structural improvements to structures, 
review is also required of any wall painting, mural wall signs or painted artwork or other similar 
applications to exterior walls. The purpose of review of said exterior wall paintings or drawings 
is to ensure that said applications are consistent with the prevailing standards and character of 
the downtown area. The following design elements will be reviewed:  

(1)     Proportion: The relationship of width and height of the front elevations of adjacent 
buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. An effort 
should be made to generally align horizontal elements along a street frontage, such as 
cornice lines, windows, awnings and canopies. The relationship of width and height of 

-116-

Item F.1. 



 5

windows and doors of adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. Particular attention must be given to the scale of street level 
doors, walls and windows. Blank walls at the street level are to be discouraged. Elements 
such as windows, doors, columns, pilasters, and changes in materials, artwork, or other 
architectural details that provide visual interest must be distributed across the façade in a 
manner consistent with the overall design of the building.  

(2)    Roof shape, pitch and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, pitch and 
direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. Routine repair and maintenance or replacement of existing roof 
materials will not be subject to review provided that the existing roof line and 
configuration is not altered during the course of said repairs or maintenance.  

(3)    Pattern: Alternating solid surfaces and openings (wall surface versus doors and windows) 
in the front facade, sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to viewers. 
This pattern of solid surfaces and openings shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building.  

(4)     Building Composition (See Figure 2):  

(i) To create visual interest and visually break up long building walls, facades on 
buildings greater than 50 feet in length shall be divided vertically into bays. 
Façade bays shall be a minimum of 20 feet wide and a maximum 40 feet wide. 
The bays shall be distinctive but tied visually together by a rhythm of repeating 
vertical elements, such as window groupings, pilasters, window bays, balconies, 
changes in building materials and textures, and/or by varying the wall plane of the 
façade.  

(ii) To avoid flat, continuous, and overly long upper floor facades, the maximum 
length of a wall plane of the façade is 60 feet. Articulation between continuous 
upper floor façade sections shall be accomplished by recessing the façade 1 foot 
minimum for a distance of at least 10 feet. This recessed section would count as a 
façade bay per paragraph (i), even if the width is less than 20 feet.   

(iii) Storefronts in mixed-use buildings shall be distinguished from the upper floors by 
a horizontal element, such as a cornice, band board, or soldier course to create a 
distinctive base to the building.  

(iv) For all mixed-use and commercial buildings, the minimum ground floor, floor-to-
structural ceiling height is 14 feet.  

-117-

Item F.1. 



 6

 
Figure 2 – Building composition example 

 
 
(5)     Windows and Transparency: The size, proportion, and type of windows need to be 

compatible with existing neighboring buildings. For storefronts, the following standards 
shall apply:    

(i) A minimum of 70% of the storefront area between 2 and 10 feet in height above 
the adjacent ground level shall consist of clear and transparent storefront 
windows and doors that allow views into the interior of the store. The bottom of 
storefront windows shall be no more than 2 feet above the adjacent ground level, 
except along sloping sites, where this standard shall be met to the extent possible 
so that views into the interior of the store are maximized and blank walls are 
avoided. Exceptions may be allowed for buildings on corner lots where window 
coverage should be concentrated at the corner, but may be reduced along the 
secondary street façade, and for repurposing of buildings not originally designed 
as storefront buildings (e.g. re-purposing of an industrial or institutional building).   

(ii) Transom windows are encouraged above storefront display windows. Residential 
window types, reflective (mirrored), or colored glass are not allowed for 
storefronts.  

(iii) Glazing should be clear and highly transparent to maximize views into the store. 
Low-E or tinted glazing will reduce transparency, so is discouraged for storefront 
windows, but if used, the glass chosen should have a high visible light 
transmittance and low reflectivity.  

(iv) Removing storefront windows or reducing storefront window coverage is 
discouraged and will require Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council 
approval. 

(6)    Materials and texture: The similarity or compatibility of existing materials and texture on 
the exterior walls and roofs of the buildings in the immediate area shall be considered in 
the construction or alteration of a building. A building or alteration will be considered 
compatible if the materials and texture used are appropriate in the context of other 
buildings in the immediate area.  

-118-

Item F.1. 



 7

        Street-facing facades shall be comprised of at least 50% brick, stone, or terra cotta. Side 
and rear walls shall be comprised of at least 25% brick, stone, or terra cotta. These high 
quality materials should be concentrated on the base of the building.   

        The following materials may be used in limited amounts:  

(i) Fiber cement, aluminum, metal, pre-formed panels, painted wood, or anything 
similar – Up to 35 percent of any one siding material may be used on the street-
facing façade and up to 40 percent of any other sides. These materials are not 
generally allowed for storefronts. Fiber cement board should be high quality and 
smooth-faced. Metal shall be heavy gauge and non-reflective. Durability and 
maintenance of the metal shall be carefully considered if used in high use areas.  

(ii) Concrete and Precast Concrete- This includes site-poured or preformed concrete 
items. Use is limited to architectural elements such as window hoods, cornices, 
columns, capitals, etc. Architectural CMU may be used in combination with other 
materials such as brick, stone or terra cotta. Except for burnished/polished or 
glazed units, CMU is not generally allowed on the storefront level, however, 
architectural CMU, such as split-face, ground-face, and rock-face, may be used 
as an accent material on the storefront level. 

 
(iii) EFIS may only be used for architectural detailing above the ground floor 
 
(iv) In the case of an unenclosed rear or roof deck, stained wood is permitted.  

 
(7)    Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 

buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 
Buildings in the CBD utilize earth and neutral tones; however, other colors can highlight 
the architectural features of a building and are acceptable as accents. Accents generally 
include trim areas and comprise up to 15% of the façade. Painting unpainted brick or 
stone is discouraged. 

(8)    Architectural features: Architectural features including but not limited to cornices, 
entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, fanlights and other elements prevailing in the area 
shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not intended that the 
details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those features shall be suggestive 
of the extent, nature and scale of details that would be appropriate on new buildings or 
associated with building alterations.  

(9)    Building Entries: This section applies to new mixed use and commercial buildings.  

(i)  Primary entries to ground floor building space and to common lobbies accessing 
upper floor building space shall be located along street-facing facades. For 
buildings with more than one street-facing façade, entries along facades facing 
primary streets are preferred. Building entries along rear and side facades or 
from parking garages may not serve as principal building entries. Buildings with 
more than three street-facing facades shall have building entries on at least two 
street-facing sides.  

(ii)  For buildings that contain residential dwelling units, there must be at least one 
main entrance on the street-facing façade or façade facing a prominent 
residential courtyard that provides pedestrian access to dwelling units within the 
building. Access to dwelling units must not be solely through a parking garage or 
from a rear or side entrance.   

-119-

Item F.1. 



 8

(ii) For storefronts with frontage of 100 feet or more, a visible entryway shall be 
provided a minimum of every 50 feet. 

(iii) Entryways into a storefront will be at grade with the fronting sidewalks. 

(iv) Entryways shall be designed to be a prominent feature of the building. The use 
of architectural features such as awnings, canopies, and recessed entries are 
encouraged. 

(10)  Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork, exterior painting: These elements shall be 
reviewed to consider the scale, context, coloration and appropriateness of the proposal in 
relation to nearby facades and also in relation to the prevailing character of the downtown 
area. Exterior painting of detached single unit and two-unit residential structures within the 
district shall be exempt from this provision. Other multi-unit dwelling structures will be 
subject to this review.  

(j)    Signage. All signage shall conform to requirements of the Cedar Falls sign regulations outlined 
in the Zoning Ordinance Section 29-202, except as provided for below:  

(1)    Freestanding signs:  

(i) When located adjacent to any street other than First Street, shall not exceed 15 
feet in height and 40 square feet in surface area.  

(ii) When located adjacent to First Street, shall not exceed 25 feet in height and 60 
square feet in surface area.  

(iii)  One freestanding or monument sign shall be allowed per lot provided all 
components are entirely on private property. In the case of a double frontage lot, 
a second sign may be considered. 

(iv) Monumental signs: Shall not exceed 8 feet in height and 40 square feet in 
surface area.  

(2)    Projecting signs: One projecting sign per business is permitted on the primary façade. 
Signs which are permitted to encroach over or upon public rights-of-way shall meet the 
following standards and clearance height: 

(i) Vehicular ways: 14 feet clear above the vehicular way, unless public services 
necessitate higher clearance. 

(ii) Pedestrian ways: 10 feet clear above the pedestrian way. For blade signs and 
awnings, the minimum clearance height shall be 8 feet.  

(iii) Blade signs are limited to an area of 4 square feet and a projection of 2.5 feet 
from an exterior wall. 

(iv) All projecting signs, excluding blade signs, shall project no further than half the 
width of the sidewalk that the storefront is located on or 5 feet, whichever is less. 

(v) All projecting signs, excluding blade signs, shall be no larger in size than 1 
square foot for each linear foot of the side of the building to which the sign is 
attached, not to exceed 40 square feet per sign face. 

(vi) Corner projecting signs are those that are visible from two or more intersecting 
streets, and shall be allowed as long as they do not exceed 40 square feet per 
sign face. 

(3)    Window Signs and film: Permanent or adhered window signage and film shall not exceed 
25% of glazing of the first 15 vertical feet of wall area and shall not be placed in a manner 
that prevents views into a storefront.  

-120-

Item F.1. 



 9

(4)    Wall Signs: Wall signs shall not exceed 10% of the total wall area, and in no case shall 
exceed 10% of the area of the storefront. Wall signs on storefronts shall not extend 
beyond or above an existing sign band or extend over or detract from the architectural 
features of the building facade, such as cornices, pilasters, transoms, window trim, and 
similar.  

(5)    Billboards: Prohibited 

(6)    Roof signs: Prohibited 

(7)    Illuminated signs: Illuminated signs are permitted. External illumination should be provided 
by a continuous light source directed onto the sign. The use of internally lit signs (back-lit 
plastic) is acceptable for monument and freestanding signs. The use of internally lit wall 
and projecting signs (back-lit plastic) are permitted when the background is opaque at 
night.   

(k)  Removal or demolition of building structures. Removal or demolition of structures within the 
overlay district is allowable, subject to securing a demolition permit with the city inspection 
services division. If no immediate building reconstruction plans are proposed within 30 days 
following building removal or demolition, the site shall be filled and graded to a topographic 
elevation equal to or level with surrounding adjacent property natural grade levels. All drainage 
shall be directed away from existing buildings. Within 30 days of final grading of the site or at the 
earliest opportunity during the growing season conducive to plant germination, the site shall be 
seeded with grass. Reasonable efforts shall be taken by the property owner to ensure proper 
germination of the vegetation and the property owner must maintain the property in accordance 
with city ordinances.  

(l)     Exceptions: The Planning and Zoning Commission and City Council may approve deviations 
from the standards if there are characteristics of the site or building that makes it difficult or 
infeasible to meet the requirements outlined in this section, such as buildings located on a corner 
lot, sloping sites, reuse of an existing building that was not originally designed as a storefront 
building, or other similar situation. To be granted an exception the applicant must provide: 

(1)   A detailed explanation of why the specific standard cannot be met;  

(2)   The proposed building is uniquely designed to fit the characteristics of the site and the 
surrounding neighborhood, is consistent with the purpose and intent of the CBD, Central 
Business District Overlay, and will not detract from or be injurious to other properties in the 
vicinity.  

(3)   The Planning and Zoning Commission or City Council may require an alternative design 
solution that is consistent with the intent of the standard being modified.  

 
 
INTRODUCED:     September 4, 2018    
PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   September 4, 2018    
PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:   September 17, 2018    
PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:       
ADOPTED:          
 

____________________________ 
       James P. Brown, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

-121-

Item F.1. 



 



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

September 17, 2018 
 

The Committee of the Whole met in the Council Chambers at 6:30 p.m. on September 
17, 2018, with the following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Jim Brown, Tom 
Blanford, Susan deBuhr, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and David Wieland. Frank Darrah 
and Rob Green were absent.  Staff members attended from all City Departments. Tom 
Nelson with the Waterloo Courier, Tammy Turner with Waste Trac, and other members 
of the community attended.  

Mayor Brown called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda 
Promotion of Household Hazardous Material Drop off and Electronics Recycling Event 
September 22, 2018.  Tammy Turner with Waste Trac stated the event will take place at 
the Cedar Falls Public Works Complex at 2200 Technology Parkway from 9 am to 2 pm.  
She explained the items Black Hawk County residents may drop off for free, and extra 
items may have an additional fee.  She stated they still need a few additional volunteers 
as it takes 50-60 volunteers to host the event.  She thanked the City for partnering on 
past events.   

Mayor Brown introduced the final item on the agenda bills and payroll.  Daryl Kruse 
motioned to approve the bills and payroll as presented and David Wieland seconded the 
motion. The motion carried unanimously. 

There being no further discussion Mayor Brown adjourned the meeting at 6:35 p.m.  

Minutes by Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer 

-123-

Item G.1.a. 



 



-125-

Item G.1.b. 



 



-127-

Item G.1.c. 



-128-

Item G.1.c. 



-129-

Item G.1.c. 



-130-

Item G.1.c. 



-131-

Item G.1.c. 



-132-

Item G.1.c. 



-133-

Item G.1.c. 



-134-

Item G.1.c. 



-135-

Item G.1.c. 



-136-

Item G.1.c. 



-137-

Item G.1.c. 



-138-

Item G.1.c. 



-139-

Item G.1.c. 



-140-

Item G.1.c. 



-141-

Item G.1.c. 



-142-

Item G.1.c. 



-143-

Item G.1.c. 



-144-

Item G.1.c. 



-145-

Item G.1.c. 



-146-

Item G.1.c. 



-147-

Item G.1.c. 



-148-

Item G.1.c. 



-149-

Item G.1.c. 



-150-

Item G.1.c. 



-151-

Item G.1.c. 



-152-

Item G.1.c. 



-153-

Item G.1.c. 



-154-

Item G.1.c. 



-155-

Item G.1.c. 



-156-

Item G.1.c. 



-157-

Item G.1.c. 



-158-

Item G.1.c. 



-159-

Item G.1.c. 



-160-

Item G.1.c. 



-161-

Item G.1.c. 



-162-

Item G.1.c. 



-163-

Item G.1.c. 



-164-

Item G.1.c. 



-165-

Item G.1.c. 



-166-

Item G.1.c. 



-167-

Item G.1.c. 



-168-

Item G.1.c. 



-169-

Item G.1.c. 



-170-

Item G.1.c. 



-171-

Item G.1.c. 



-172-

Item G.1.c. 



-173-

Item G.1.c. 



-174-

Item G.1.c. 



-175-

Item G.1.c. 



-176-

Item G.1.c. 



-177-

Item G.1.c. 



-178-

Item G.1.c. 



-179-

Item G.1.c. 



-180-

Item G.1.c. 



-181-

Item G.1.c. 



-182-

Item G.1.c. 



-183-

Item G.1.c. 



-184-

Item G.1.c. 



-185-

Item G.1.c. 



-186-

Item G.1.c. 



-187-

Item G.1.c. 



-188-

Item G.1.c. 



-189-

Item G.1.c. 



-190-

Item G.1.c. 



-191-

Item G.1.c. 



-192-

Item G.1.c. 



-193-

Item G.1.c. 



-194-

Item G.1.c. 



-195-

Item G.1.c. 



-196-

Item G.1.c. 



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 
  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  September 20, 2018 

Re:  Special Event Related Requests 

Police Operations has received the following special event related requests and 
recommends approval:  

(1) Street closure and parking variance, Pink Ribbon Run, October 6, 2018. 

-197-

Item G.1.d. 



 



-199-

Item G.1.d. 



-200-

Item G.1.d. 



-201-

Item G.1.d. 



 



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 
  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director/Chief of Police 

Date:  September 27, 2018 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

(1) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

(2) Chapala 2, 1704 West 1st Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

(3) Peppers Grill & Sports Pub, 620 East 18th Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

(4) Casey's General Store, 601 Main Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
 
(5) Fareway Store, 214 North Magnolia Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 

 
(6) Casey's General Store, 2425 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B native wine - 

adding Class B wine. 
 
(7) Casey's General Store, 5226 University Avenue, Class C beer & Class B native 

wine - adding Class B wine. 
 
(8) Casey's General Store, 5908 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B native wine - 

adding Class B wine. 
 

-203-

Item G.1.e. 



 



-205-

Item G.2.a. 



 



-207-

Item G.2.a. 



-208-

Item G.2.a. 



-209-

Item G.2.a. 



-210-

Item G.2.a. 



-211-

Item G.2.a. 



-212-

Item G.2.a. 



-213-

Item G.2.a. 



-214-

Item
 G

.2.a. 



-215-

Item
 G

.2.a. 



-216-

Item
 G

.2.a. 



-217-

Item
 G

.2.a. 



-218-

Item
 G

.2.a. 



-219-

Item G.2.b. 



-220-

Item G.2.b. 



-221-

Item G.2.b. 



-222-

Item G.2.b. 



-223-

Item G.2.b. 



-224-

Item G.2.b. 



-225-

Item G.2.b. 



-226-

Item
 G

.2.b. 



-227-

Item
 G

.2.b. 



-228-

Item
 G

.2.b. 



-229-

Item
 G

.2.b. 



-230-

Item
 G

.2.b. 



-231-

Item
 G

.2.b. 



 



-233-

Item G.2.c. 



-234-

Item G.2.c. 



-235-

Item G.2.c. 



-236-

Item G.2.c. 



-237-

Item G.2.c. 



-238-

Item
 G

.2.c. 



-239-

Item
 G

.2.c. 



-240-

Item
 G

.2.c. 



-241-

Item
 G

.2.c. 



-242-

Item
 G

.2.c. 



-243-

Item
 G

.2.c. 



 



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

 M E M O R A N D U M
Public Records Division

 TO: Mayor Brown and City Councilmembers 

 FROM: Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk 

 DATE: September 28, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Downtown Parking Study – Consultant Agreement 
     
 
In goal setting, City Council identified a detailed objective within Organizational Goal 6 to 
develop a downtown parking plan to maximize on-street and public parking, and budgeted 
$50,000 for a downtown parking study. City staff recently formed a parking study 
committee and distributed a Request for Proposal to conduct a parking study of the 
downtown area.  The committee received and reviewed six proposals.  After conducting 
interviews, the committee selected WGInc. as the consultant to complete the downtown 
parking study.  The study will include a number of public stakeholder meetings and 
workshops, as well as an assessment of parking inventory, occupancy and turnover. 
 
The WGInc. quote is $48,475 and they would like to get started as soon as possible, 
therefor we recommend approval of the attached agreement with WGInc. 
 
Please feel free to contact me at 268-5152 with any questions.  Thank you. 
 

-245-

Item G.2.d. 



 



 

5136 Lovers Lane, Suite 200, Kalamazoo, MI 49002   t: 269.381.2222   f: 269.349.4656   www.WGInc.com 
 

 

September 27, 2018 

 

Ms. Jacque Danielsen, MMC      Email: Jacque.danielsen@cedarfalls.com 

City Clerk/Parking Enforcement 

City of Cedar Falls 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 

RE: Letter Agreement for Downtown Parking Study 

 

Dear Jacque, 

 

Please accept this as our written agreement to perform parking consulting services as requested in the City of Cedar 

Falls RFP dated August 1, 2018. We are delighted to have been selected for this assignment and look forward to 

working with the Parking Committee on a successful project. We are prepared to be on site as early as the week of 

October 15th for project kickoff and for our initial data collection and field observation activities. We anticipate 

completing our core work by December 31, 2018, with an anticipated contract closeout date of January 31, 2019. 

 

We anticipate a total of four (4) on-site trips to Cedar Falls as follows: 

 

Trip #1 – Project Kickoff/Initial Data Collection/Stakeholder Meetings (Four Days Minimum). 

Trip #2 – Supplemental Data Collection/Stakeholder Meetings/Internal Report on Initial Findings (Three Days). 

Trip #3 – Public Workshop to Present Preliminary Findings & Recommendations (Three Days). 

Trip #4 – Presentation of Primary Findings and Recommendations (Two Days). 

 

Proposed Fee 
 

We propose to provide consulting services as described in the attached scope of services (Attachment A) for a total 

lump sum fee of $48,475, which includes all anticipated expenses.   Additional services over and above our written 

scope of services, when authorized in writing, will be billed at $150.00 per hour plus reimbursable expenses.  
 

If you agree with our recommended approach, including our standard terms and conditions (Attachment B), please 

sign below to authorize our services. Our certificate of insurance is also included as Exhibit 1 attached. We look 

forward to working with you on this project. Please call us if you have any questions, or if you need additional 

information. 
 

Sincerely, 

 

WGI Michigan, Inc. 

 

 

 

 

Michael C. Ortlieb, PE     Andrew W. Miller, AICP  

 Vice President      Project Manager 

-247-

Item G.2.d. 



   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

ACCEPTED BY: 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

 

_____________________________________ 

Signature 

 

_____________________________________ 

Printed Name 

 

_____________________________________ 

Title 

 

_____________________________________ 

Date 
 

-248-

Item G.2.d. 



   

ATTACHMENT A – SCOPE OF WORK 

 

 

Detailed Work Plan 

Phase 1 – Project Kickoff and Communications Plan  

 

1. The first goal of the project is to understand and clearly define the goals and objectives of this study. The 

clear identification of goals drives the remainder of the study process. With the entire project team 

understanding desired outcomes, time and energy can be focused on achieving the goals of the project.  

 

2. Review existing data and previous planning projects and reports such as: 

 

A. The previous 2015 Parking Task Force Report and Survey 

B. In-House Data 

a. Year-end Financial Reports for previous four years plus current fiscal year 

b. Operational policies 

c. Customer Service policies and procedures 

d. Technology applications 

C. Current parking-related codes, zoning requirements and development standards 

D. Information on any parking-related committees, groups, key stakeholders, etc.  

E. Current parking inventory maps 

F. Available information concerning special events in the study area (e.g., number of events, typical 

attendance levels, parking lot closures, street closures and event planning/staging). 

G. Parking enforcement policies, staffing, technology and number of citations issued 

H. Available information concerning current transportation demand management (TDM) policies or 

programs. 

 

3. Assist the City/Community Main Street (CMS) in creating a communication strategy to foster engagement, 

keep stakeholders and the public informed on the schedule and project progress, and promote the public 

input processes. Activities may include: 

 

A. Develop Project Communication Plan 

B. Identifying potential media outlets, specifically digital media 

a. Social media 

b. Email lists 

C. Develop project specific content to be posted to the City/CMS websites 

a. Project schedule and updates 

b. Online message board forum allowing citizens to voice concerns and ask questions 

D. Recommendations on promotional and content strategies 

E. Creating a project hashtag 

 

  

-249-

Item G.2.d. 



   

Phase 2 – Current Conditions Assessment  

 

Document Parking Inventory and Utilization 

1. We will perform detailed GIS mapping of on-street and off-street public and private parking. We believe 

GIS mapping of all parking assets will be a fundamental, but important tool for future planning and policy 

making.  

 

2. GIS mapping will be used to digitally record locations of the following parking and transit assets: 

 

A.  Individual meter locations 

B.  Time limited free spaces 

C.  Bus/transit stops 

D.  Loading zone locations 

E.  On-Street ADA spaces 

F.  Off-street ADA spaces 

G.  Public ramps and lots 

H.  Private ramps and lots 

I.  No parking areas 

J.  Bike racks 

 

3. Once the parking inventory is confirmed, we will perform parking occupancy counts on multiple weekdays 

during peak parking activity periods and document our findings. We will also perform occupancy counts on 

one weekend period which will include Friday and Saturday evening counts and field observations. This 

occupancy and utilization information will be documented in table and graphic form, to include “heat maps” 

that visually illustrate parking occupancies in aerial map form. 

 

4. We will perform parking turnover counts on key streets that offer time-limited parking to observe and 

document actual use and turnover patterns at prime on-street parking areas. 

 

 

Operations, Policy & Technology Review 

 

1. Review operational policies to identify whether goals expressed in Phase 1 are currently being met. This 

review will include: 

 

A. Standard operating procedures 

B. Off-Street and On-Street rates, fees, and time limits 

C. Integration of parking with other modes of transportation 

D. Customer service standards 

E. Enforcement policies, fines, enforcement times, appeals and final adjudication  

F. Payment technologies employed 

G. Staffing patterns 

 

-250-

Item G.2.d. 



   

2. Review existing parking related technologies and assess the opportunities to leverage new technologies. 

The analysis portion of the study will consider factors such as: 

 

A. Capital outlay and monthly data costs 

B. Customer ease of use 

C. Management and operational requirements 

D. Opportunities to increase revenue 

E. Effectiveness of enforcement 

F. Improved efficiencies  

 

3. Review zoning and planning code regulations specific to parking and downtown development to identify 

current requirements and potential changes. 

 

4. Review current organizational model, management practices and staffing and provide recommendations 

on potential improvements. 

 

Parking Budget & Financial Analysis 

1. We will review the current fiscal year budget and previous four (4) years of year-end actual revenue and 

expense reports to identify and document financial trends. 

 

2. The analysis will include a review of options such as special assessments, payment-in-lieu of parking, tax 

increment financing (TIF), public/private partnerships (P3), and other possible revenue sources. 

 

Parking Enforcement 

 

1. A review of existing parking citation issuance policies, management, technologies, and back-end ticket 

processing system will be performed; and specific recommendations will be provided to improve efficiencies 

and enhance the customer experience. 

 

Comparable Cities Analysis  

 

1. We will obtain detailed information on four (4) other downtown parking programs (as directed by client) 

that are comparable to Cedar Falls in terms of size, market conditions, geographic proximity, and 

demographics. 

 

2. This Comparable Cities analysis will include information on parking rates and fines charged by other 

downtowns; information on how each of the downtown parking programs are organized and managed; 

how each city finances its parking capital improvements and ongoing maintenance programs; the types of 

parking technologies deployed; and a summary of any special marketing, branding, validation programs, or 

promotions employed by the other cities included in the analysis.  

 

Review Parking Branding, Signage, and Advertising 

 

1. We will review existing webpages, maps, brochures and wayfinding signage as it relates to parking and 

provide recommendations for potential improvements. 

 

-251-

Item G.2.d. 



   

2. As part of the Comparable Cities analysis, we will include information on what other cities are doing to 

market and promote their respective downtown parking systems. 

 

3. We will also provide additional examples of successful parking marketing programs we have observed 

throughout the country which could be leveraged in Cedar Falls. WGI’s Creative Services group has years of 

demonstrated experience designing branding and marketing programs for a variety of public and private 

clients. 

 

 

Phase 3 – Public Outreach 

The WGI team excels at designing processes that effectively engage multiple stakeholder groups, including the 

public. We use a variety of methods to ensure broad participation, which help to achieve consensus and stakeholder 

buy-in to the results of the study. When the project has been completed, the high level of stakeholder and public 

involvement used to conduct the process will lead to a clear consensus on next steps and the path forward. Our 

public engagement process is described below. 

Engagement Groups:  

 

1. Project Working Group: Consisting primarily of City/CMS staff, this small group will work directly with the 

Consulting Team to ensure tasks are completed fully and on schedule. The Consulting Team will meet or 

talk regularly to review products and progress and suggest changes to approach as conditions might 

dictate.  

 

2. Key Stakeholders: 10-15 individuals/organizations who may have particular insights or a level of 

investment in the study area that warrants more direct interaction with the Consulting Team. While not 

exhaustive, the following list is representative of the types of stakeholder groups we would expect to involve 

in this project. 

 

• Elected officials 

• Met Transit 

• Local Convention & Visitors Bureau 

• University of Northern Iowa (UNI) 

• Cedar Valley Cyclists 

• Downtown business and property owners 

• Local institutional and organizational leaders 

• Representatives of major downtown employers 

 

3. General Public: To build consensus for any plan of this scope and breadth, outreach should begin early 

and should cast a broad net.  

 

  

-252-

Item G.2.d. 



   

Input Forums:  

 

1. Round Tables: Conduct a series of focus groups of those who utilize the parking system. These focus groups 

will be led by our team and will direct attention to perceptions about current parking facilities, technology, 

ease of use, availability, signage and wayfinding, and overall patron satisfaction. 

 

2. One-On-One Interviews: These interviews will be geared toward soliciting input from key stakeholders and 

select members of City/CMS leadership. Interviews will be one-on-one format allowing participants to 

provide a candid assessment of conditions and challenges.  

 

3. Public Workshops: An initial informational and interactive session followed by a second session to present 

findings and recommendations will be conducted to allow attendees to share their ideas within a structured 

and informed setting. The Consulting Team will be responsible for providing meeting content and materials 

including presentation boards, PowerPoint presentations, base maps, etc.  

 

 

4. Online Survey: We will develop and host an online survey via Survey Monkey. The City/CMS will help to 

promote the survey effort by providing links to the online survey site via webpages, Facebook, and direct 

email blasts. The survey will seek to determine among other topics: 

▪ User demographics 

▪ Frequency coming downtown 

▪ Reason for visiting downtown 

▪ Acceptable walking distances 

▪ Acceptance of newer technologies and parking apps 

▪ Use of multi-modal transportation options 

▪ Transportation preferences 

▪ Cost sensitivity 

▪ Residential parking and mobility behavior 

▪ Open ended responses to gather specific opinions 

 

Phase 4 – Parking Adequacy/Demand Modeling 

1. We will compare the projected parking demand against the existing supply of spaces to determine if 

additional parking capacity will be needed to accommodate current and future demand. 

 

2. We will review information provided by the City regarding future development plans in the study area such 

as projected employment data, existing and projected land use data, location of proposed future buildings, 

new developments, creation of new residential space in existing buildings, any anticipated loss of existing 

parking capacity, and development of new parking facilities or programs. 

 

3. Develop estimates of future parking sufficiency based on current capacity, projected land uses, and 

application of parking demand ratios.  Sufficiency estimates will include Shared Parking Demand modeling 

to account for shared parking opportunities as they are available throughout the study area. Future parking 

demand will be presented in the following formats:  

▪ Short term (1-3 year) and long term (4-7) year estimates. 

-253-

Item G.2.d. 



   

▪ Zone basis. 

▪ Weekday and weekend demand estimates. 

 

Phase 5 - Planning for Future Parking Supply 

1. Develop options for addressing current and projected parking demand. The Project Team will focus on 

improving the utilization and management of existing parking supplies before adding any new lots or 

facilities. This could include (but not be limited to): 

 

▪ Reviewing existing public parking facilities and recommending efficiency improvements. 

▪ Identifying opportunities to increase on-street parking supplies in the study area (either through 

the creation of new spaces or the reconfiguration of existing spaces). 

▪ Recommending strategies that the City could use to improve the availability of privately-owned 

parking through potential shared parking opportunities. 

▪ Providing recommendations to manage existing public parking inventories, improve current 

operations, and improve the utilization of existing parking.  

 

2. Evaluate the feasibility of renovating existing parking facilities to better serve the downtown areas. The 

feasibility analysis will include technical considerations, practicality and cost considerations. 

 

3. Provide recommendations for future parking facility changes/additions. Identify locations for additional 

parking in off-street lots and possible structures. Determine the number of parking spaces needed and 

provide preliminary estimates on how much parking could be provided at the potential sites based on 

available site footprints. 

 

4. Provide preliminary concept drawings of potential parking structure options for sites that are identified as 

suitable for structured parking. Design concepts will include options for possible commercial mixed-use 

and/or residential “wrap” options. Estimates of probable construction costs will be included for all concepts 

that are developed.   

 

Initial Recommendations Review  

1. Upon completion of our analysis and public outreach efforts, we will submit an Initial Recommendations 

Report. The document will present our primary findings and recommendations, and provide preliminary 

costs for our recommended improvements, including a timeline and phasing plan for implementation. 

 

2. The Initial Recommendations Review will provide a focused opportunity for City/CMS staff to consider how 

their goals can be achieved and discuss the details of an implementation plan.  

 

  

-254-

Item G.2.d. 



   

Draft and Final Report Submission 

 

Draft Report: We will prepare a draft report summarizing the results of tasks identified above and submit for review. 

The report will include a set of management, organizational, and financial options, as well as possible planning and 

code modifications for the City/CMS to consider in redefining the downtown parking and mobility program to 

position it for future development activity for the downtown area. 

 

Final Report: We will incorporate the feedback and comments received from the draft report into the final report 

document. The final report document will include an executive summary summarizing all elements of our analysis, 

along with tables, aerial maps, graphs, graphics, and appendices. A recommended implementation plan, including 

the estimated costs, benefits, and risks of each recommendation, will be included with a breakdown of short-term, 

mid-term, and long-term parking management and implementation strategies. WGI will provide a presentation of 

the final report to City leaders and the public. 

 

  

-255-

Item G.2.d. 



   

 

 

 

 

 

 

ATTACHMENT – B 

 

WGI Standard Agreement Provisions  

 

 

-256-

Item G.2.d. 



WANTMAN GROUP, INC. 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS AGREEMENT PROVISIONS 

SEPTEMBER 2018 

1. Performance: Wantman Group, Inc.’s (“WGI”) services pursuant to this Agreement (“Services”) will be performed in a

manner consistent with that degree of skill and care ordinarily exercised by members of the same profession currently

practicing under similar circumstances in the same geographic area.  No other warranties, expressed or implied, are made with

respect to WGI's performance of Services.  WGI is not a guarantor of the Project for which its Services are directed, and its

responsibility is limited to work performed for the Client.  WGI is not responsible for acts or omissions of the Client, nor third

parties not under its direct control.  Client’s acceptance of WGI’s Services constitutes acceptance of these Terms and

Conditions.

2. Billing/Payments: Invoices for WGI's Services and reimbursable expenses shall be submitted on a monthly basis. Payment

shall be due on the date each invoice is received and shall be deemed delinquent 30 calendar days after issuance.  Delinquent

invoices shall accrue interest on the balance due at a rate of 5% per annum.  Outstanding invoices delinquent beyond 45

calendar days may at WGI’s election be deemed a notice to stop performance under this contract, and WGI may in that event

suspend its Services until the invoice is paid, with no liability to WGI.  Client shall make payment in full at or before delivery

to Client of any reports, plans, record drawing, or certifications prepared under this Agreement.  Client’s failure to timely pay

any WGI invoice within 45 calendar days of issuance shall constitute a waiver of any and all claims against WGI.  Retainers

shall be credited on WGI’s final invoice.

3. Fees: The WGI fee is a fixed fee, and includes anticipated expenses.  All fees for Services are based on a one-time performance

only.  Additional Services and/or changes in service, whether field or office, shall be performed only after authorization by

Client.  Fees for changes and/or additional services are not included in this Agreement and shall be invoiced on an hourly fee

basis.

4. Reimbursable Expenses: Reimbursable expenses are included in the fixed fee.  If Additional Services are necessary and

authorized by the Client, associated reimbursable expenses, including travel and reproduction, will be invoiced at cost.

5. Cost Estimates: Client hereby acknowledges that WGI cannot warrant that estimates of probable construction or operating

costs provided by WGI will not vary from actual costs incurred by Client.

6. Storage: Material samples not consumed in the performance of WGI’s Services may be discarded 30 days after submission

of the test report unless Client requests other disposition.  After notification to Client, WGI may charge Client for extended

storage of materials, records, or equipment.

7. Consequential Damages: Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, and to the fullest extent permitted by law,

neither Client nor WGI, their respective officers, directors, partners, employees, contractors or subconsultants shall be liable

to the other or shall make any claim for any incidental, indirect or consequential damages arising out of or connected in any

way to the Project, WGI’s Services, or this Agreement.  This mutual waiver of consequential damages shall include, but is not

limited to, loss of use, loss of profit, loss of business, loss of income, loss of reputation and any other consequential damages

that either party may have incurred from any cause of action including negligence, strict liability, breach of contract and breach

of strict or implied warranty.  Both Client and WGI shall require similar waivers of consequential damages protecting all the

entities or persons named herein in all contracts and subcontracts with others involved in this Project.

8. Hazardous Materials: WGI shall have no responsibility for the discovery, presence, handling, removal or disposal of or

exposure of persons to hazardous materials in any form at the Project site, including but not limited to asbestos, asbestos

products, polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) or other toxic substances.  WGI’s Services expressly exclude any Services for Client

involving or related in any manner to hazardous substances.

9. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: To the fullest extent permitted by law, should WGI or any of its employees (professional

or otherwise) be found to have been negligent in the performance of the Services, or to have made or breached any express or

implied warranty, representation, or obligation under this Agreement, Client, all parties claiming through Client and all parties

claiming to have in any way relied upon WGI’s Services or the representations of the employees and agents of WGI agree

that the maximum aggregate amount of the liability of WGI, its officers, employees and agents shall be limited to $50,000.00

or the total amount of the fee actually paid to WGI for its Services performed with respect to the Project, whichever is greater.

In the event Client is unwilling or unable to limit WGI’s liability in accordance with the provisions set forth in this subsection, 

Client may, upon written request of Client received within five days of Client’s acceptance hereof, increase the limit of WGI’s 

liability to a maximum of $1,000,000.00 by agreeing to pay WGI a sum equivalent to an additional amount of 10% of the total 

fee, or $10,000.00, whichever is greater, to be charged for WGI’s Services.  In the event professional fees increase during the 

Project, Client agrees to pay an additional 10% of said increase for the aforementioned higher limits on professional liability.  

This charge is not to be construed as being a charge for insurance of any type but is increased consideration for the greater 

liability involved.  In any event, attorney’s fees expended by WGI in connection with any claim shall reduce the amount 

available and only one such amount will apply to any Project.    

If any of the above provisions of this paragraph is/are deemed invalid or unenforceable for any reason, WGI’s liability shall 

not exceed the policy limits of any insurance policy providing coverage for WGI’s Services on the Project.  The provisions of 

this paragraph shall inure to the benefit of WGI’s agents, representatives, consultants, officers, directors, and employees. 

-257-

Item G.2.d. 



Agreement Provisions 

Page 2 

WGI’s agents, representatives, consultants, officers, directors, and employees shall be considered third-party beneficiaries for 

the purposes of this paragraph.  The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the termination of this Agreement.  

10. Termination of Services: Except in situations involving default for non-payment by Client to WGI, in the event of any default 
arising under this Agreement, the defaulting party shall be entitled to receive written notice specifying the default and the 

actions to be taken to cure the default.  The party receiving the notice of default shall have 7 business days from the date of 
receipt of the notice to cure the specified default.  In the event that the party fails to cure the specified default, the adverse 
party may declare a breach of this Agreement and terminate this Agreement upon serving a written notice of termination.  In 
the event of such termination, Client shall pay WGI in full for all Services rendered up to the time of termination.

11. Events of Default: Client shall be in default under this Agreement if (i) it fails to pay in full any invoice from WGI on the 
due date or fails to make any other payment due to WGI under this Agreement, (ii) it fails to observe or perform any other 
term, condition or covenant under this Agreement, (iii) it breaches any warranty or representation made under this Agreement,

(iv) it dissolves, terminates or liquidates its business, or its business fails or its legal existence is terminated or suspected, (v) 
it commences any voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency receivership, or other similar proceeding 
is commenced by or against Client, or (vi) it becomes insolvent, makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors, or coveys 
substantially all of its assets.

12. Ownership of Instruments of Service: All plans, data, reports, drawings, specifications, maps, surveys, ideas, scripts, 
sketches, designs, CADD files, field data, notes, and other documents and instruments prepared by WGI or its subconsultants, 

whether such work product is tangible or intangible (“Instruments of Service”) shall remain the sole and exclusive property 
of WGI until such time as Client makes full and final payment to WGI pursuant to the terms set forth in this Agreement, and 
until such time, Client shall not use, deliver, solicit, transmit, or otherwise employ the Instruments of Service, whether directly 
or indirectly, by any means or manner.  Client understands that changes or modifications to the documents made by anyone 
other than WGI may result in adverse consequences which WGI can neither predict nor control.

13. Electronic Files: Any electronic files provided are non-certified recordings of printed documents prepared by WGI.  These 
files are provided only for the convenience of Client, or other Receiving Party, and are intended solely for the exclusive use 
by that party for the purposes expressly authorized.  In accordance with standard industry practice, only printed copies of 
documents conveyed by WGI may be relied upon.   Under no circumstances shall these files be used for construction or 
staking.  Any use of the information obtained or derived from these electronic files will be at Client’s, or other Receiving 
Party’s, sole risk.  Because data stored in electronic media format can deteriorate or be modified inadvertently or otherwise 
without authorization of the data’s creator, Client, or other Receiving Party, agrees that it has 30 days to perform acceptance 
tests, after which it shall be deemed to have accepted the data thus transferred.

14. Successors and Assigns: Client shall not assign, sublet, or transfer any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the 
prior written consent of WGI.  WGI shall not assign, sublet, or transfer any rights under or interest in this Agreement without 
the prior written consent of the Client. Except where specifically stated otherwise in this Agreement, nothing herein shall be 
construed to give any rights or benefits hereunder to anyone other than Client or WGI.

15. Third Parties: Except as expressly provided herein, nothing in this Agreement shall confer any right, remedy or claim upon 
any person or entity not a signatory to this Agreement.

16. Severability and Survival: If any term of this Agreement is to any extent held to be invalid or unenforceable, then such term 
shall be excluded to the extent of such invalidity or unenforceability, and all other terms hereof shall remain in full force and 
effect.  All obligations arising prior to the termination of this Agreement and all provisions of this Agreement allocating 
responsibility or liability between Client and WGI shall survive the completion of WGI’s Services hereunder and the 
termination of this Agreement.

17. Merger and Amendment: This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between WGI and Client, and all negotiations 
and oral understandings between the parties are merged herein.  This Agreement can be supplemented and/or amended only 
by a written document executed by both WGI and Client.

18. Applicable Law and Venue: This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the state of Iowa.  Venue for all disputes 
between the Parties arising from or relating to this Agreement shall lie exclusively in a court of competent jurisdiction in the 
county in which the subject project is located.

19. Mediation: All disputes between the Parties arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be submitted to non-binding 
mediation as a condition precedent to litigation, unless the Parties mutually agree otherwise in writing.

20. Insurance: WGI will maintain the minimum insurance coverage and limits in accordance with the Client’s Insurance 
Schedule Exhibit 1 (appended to this document).

21. Term: This Agreement will end 180 days after the date of execution. 

-258-

Item G.2.d. 



EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                            
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 
  

-259-

Item G.2.d. 



CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

-260-

Item G.2.d. 



CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

-261-

Item G.2.d. 



INSR ADDL SUBR
LTR INSR WVD

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

PRODUCER CONTACT
NAME:

FAXPHONE
(A/C, No):(A/C, No, Ext):

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

INSURER A :

INSURED INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

POLICY NUMBER
POLICY EFF POLICY EXP

TYPE OF INSURANCE LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY) (MM/DD/YYYY)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

Y / N

N / A
(Mandatory in NH)

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

EACH OCCURRENCE $
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $

$

PRO-

OTHER:

LOCJECT

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT
$(Ea accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person) $ANY AUTO
OWNED SCHEDULED BODILY INJURY (Per accident) $AUTOS ONLY AUTOS

AUTOS ONLY
HIRED PROPERTY DAMAGE $

AUTOS ONLY (Per accident)

$

OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE $

CLAIMS-MADE AGGREGATE $

DED RETENTION $ $
PER OTH-
STATUTE ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT $

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE $
If yes, describe under

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

POLICY

NON-OWNED

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE    EXPIRATION   DATE    THEREOF,    NOTICE   WILL   BE   DELIVERED   IN
ACCORDANCE   WITH   THE   POLICY   PROVISIONS.

THIS  IS  TO  CERTIFY  THAT  THE  POLICIES  OF  INSURANCE  LISTED  BELOW  HAVE BEEN ISSUED  TO THE  INSURED  NAMED ABOVE  FOR THE  POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.   NOTWITHSTANDING  ANY   REQUIREMENT,  TERM  OR  CONDITION OF  ANY  CONTRACT OR  OTHER  DOCUMENT  WITH  RESPECT  TO  WHICH  THIS
CERTIFICATE  MAY  BE  ISSUED  OR  MAY  PERTAIN,   THE  INSURANCE  AFFORDED  BY  THE  POLICIES  DESCRIBED  HEREIN  IS  SUBJECT  TO  ALL  THE  TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS  AND  CONDITIONS  OF  SUCH  POLICIES.   LIMITS  SHOWN  MAY  HAVE  BEEN  REDUCED  BY  PAID  CLAIMS.

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer any rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORDACORD 25 (2016/03)

ACORDTM CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

National Union Fire Ins. Co.

The Continental Insurance Company

New Hampshire Ins. Co.

Lexington Insurance Company

9/25/2018

Greyling Ins. Brokerage/EPIC
3780 Mansell Road, Suite 370
Alpharetta, GA  30022

Katie Kresner
770.552.4225 866.550.4082

Katie.Kresner@greyling.com

Wantman Group, Inc.
2035 Vista Parkway
Suite 100
West Palm Beach, FL  33411

19445
35289
23841
19437

18-19

A X
X

X

4613985 08/01/2018 08/01/2019 1,000,000
500,000
25,000
1,000,000
2,000,000
2,000,000

A
X

X X

9775972 08/01/2018 08/01/2019 1,000,000

B X X

X 10,000

6049958687 08/01/2018 08/01/2019 5,000,000
5,000,000

C

N

11569886 08/01/2018 08/01/2019 X
1,000,000

1,000,000
1,000,000

D Professional Liab
Incl Pollution
Liability

027015040 08/01/2018 08/01/2019 Per Claim $5,000,000
Aggregate $5,000,000

Re: Downtown Parking Study
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and
their board members, employees, and volunteers are named as Additional Insureds with respects to General
Liability where required by written contract.
(See Attached Descriptions)

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, IA  50613

1 of 2
#S1222737/M1140858

WANTGROUClient#: 25411

KKRE1
-262-

Item G.2.d. 



SAGITTA 25.3 (2016/03)      

DESCRIPTIONS (Continued from Page 1)
The above referenced liability policies with the exception of workers compensation and professional
liability are primary & non-contributory where required by written contract.
Should any of the above described policies be cancelled by the issuing insurer before the expiration date
thereof, we will endeavor to provide 30 days' written notice (except 10 days for nonpayment of premium) to
the Certificate Holder.
Waiver of Subrogation is applicable where required by written contract & allowed by law.

2 of 2

#S1222737/M1140858

-263-

Item G.2.d. 



4613985

-264-

Item G.2.d. 



-265-

Item G.2.d. 



4613985

-266-

Item G.2.d. 



This page has been left blank intentionally.

-267-

Item G.2.d. 



 



DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M
Information Systems Division

 

 TO: Mayor Jim Brown and City Council Members 

 FROM: Julie Sorensen, Information Systems Manager 

 DATE: September 28, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Amendment to SIRE Technologies Maintenance Agreement 

 

The Sire Technologies maintenance agreement is due on October 1, 2018.  The original 

agreement was for annual terms.  I have asked to amend the agreement to quarterly 

terms as we are implementing replacement agenda management software.  We will be 

discontinuing use of SIRE in the next year.  

 

I’ve attached the amendment to the original agreement that is needed in order to switch 

to the quarterly terms.  As a reference, I’ve also attached the original agreement which 

was signed in 2009.   

 

The amendment has been reviewed City attorney Kevin Rogers.  If you need further 
information please feel free to see myself.  
 
 
Attachment:  Agreement  
                     Amendment 

-269-

Item G.2.e. 



 



Contract #: EU-14468-17201068 

Copyright  2018 Hyland Software, Inc.   (Confidential)                                            1 of 1      

AMENDMENT TO SIRE TECHNOLOGIES 
MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 

 
 This AMENDMENT TO SIRE TECHNOLOGIES MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT (“Amendment”) is 
made and entered into effective as of the date that the last party to sign this Amendment has executed the same (as 
indicated by the date entered by such party with its signature below) (the “Amendment Effective Date”), by and 
between Hyland Software, Inc. (as successor-in-interest to SIRE Technologies) (“Hyland”) and City of Cedar Falls 
(“Customer”) and amends that certain SIRE TECHNOLOGIES Maintenance Agreement between Hyland and 
Customer dated June 1, 2009 (the “Maintenance Agreement”).  
 
1. DEFINED TERMS:  Capitalized terms used in this Amendment and not defined herein are used herein 
with the same meanings given such terms under the Maintenance Agreement.  The term “Agreement” as used in the 
Maintenance Agreement and in this Amendment hereafter shall mean the Maintenance Agreement as amended by 
this Amendment. 
 
2. AMENDMENT TO TERM:  From and after the Amendment Effective Date, the term of the Maintenance 
Agreement shall commence on the Amendment Effective Date and will be quarterly and shall automatically renew 
for additional consecutive terms of one quarterly period, unless either party elects to terminate this Maintenance 
Agreement effective at the end of the then-current quarterly period by providing written notice to the other party of 
its intent to terminate at least thirty (30) days prior to the expiration thereof. Upon termination by Customer, any 
outstanding fees incurred through the date of termination will become due and payable to Hyland. 
 
3. PAYMENT OF ANNUAL MAINTENANCE FEES ON QUARTERLY BASIS: From and after the 
Amendment Effective Date, the parties agree that Hyland shall invoice Customer for the annual maintenance fees 
for each renewal maintenance period in quarterly (4) installments, with each such invoice to be sent at least forty-
five (45) days prior to the end of the then-current quarter. Customer shall pay each such invoice in full on or prior to 
the first day of the quarter to which such invoice relates. 
 
4. NO OTHER CHANGES:  In all other respects the License Agreement remains in full force and effect. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as of the day and year set forth after their 
respective names below: 
 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS HYLAND SOFTWARE, INC. 
 
 

 

By:  ________________________________ By: 
                  
         James P. Brown, Mayor Print Name: 
  
 Title: 
  
ATTEST: Date: 

 
 
By: _________________________________ 
        Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk 
 
 
Date:  _______________________________ 

 
Hyland Legal 
 
Approved By:  
 
Date:  

 

-271-

Item G.2.e. 



 



-273-

Item G.2.e. 



 



   DEPARTMENT OF MUNICIPAL OPERATIONS & PROGRAMS 

 

PUBLIC WORKS/PARKS DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PARKWAY 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

     M E M O R A N D U M

 TO: Mayor James P. Brown and Cedar Falls City Council 

 FROM: Mark Ripplinger, Director, Municipal Operations & Programs 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Gold Star Family Monument Request – Veteran’s Memorial Park 

 
 At the September 13, 2018 Park & Recreation Commission meeting, veteran’s 
representatives Sid Morris and Mike Butler requested that a “Gold Star Family” 
monument be considered for installation at Veterans Memorial Park. 
 The purpose of the memorial monument is to honor Gold Star Families, preserve 
the memory of the fallen, and stand as a stark reminder that Freedom is not free. The 
black granite monument features two sides. One side bears the words: Gold Star 
Families Memorial Monument, a tribute to Gold Star Families and Relatives who have 
sacrificed a Loved One for our Freedom. The other side tells a story through the four 
granite panels: Homeland, Family, Patriot, and Sacrifice. The scenes on each panel are 
a reflection of each community’s Gold Star Families and their fallen Heroes. At the 
center of this tribute is the most distinct feature of the monument, the cut out which 
represents the loved one who paid the ultimate sacrifice in the name of Freedom. 
 The project will be entirely funded with private donations. The city may choose to 
help with installation depending on work load. The fundraising will likely need to be 
coordinated through the Amvets where they collect the donations, purchase the 
memorial and then donate it back to the City. Another possibility could be collecting 
funds through the Community Foundation. 

The Department of Municipal Operations and Programs recommends that the 
Gold Star Family memorial monument be approved subject to private donations funding 
the project. Feel free to contact me if you have questions or comments. 

-275-

Item G.2.f. 



CEDAR FALLS PARK & RECREATION COMMISSION 
  110 E. 13th Street     Cedar Falls, IA  50613 

 
 

 
 

 
PARK AND RECREATION COMMISSION 

Minutes 
September 13, 2018 

 
I.  Meeting was called to order at 4:30 p.m. by Erik Blanchard. 

 
II.  Roll Call 

 
Present:  Blanchard, Bowman, Stalnaker, Mattfeld, Lilly 
Absent: Nixon, Struck 
Staff:  Heath, Frost, Ripplinger 

 
III. Introduction of Guests/New Commission Members 
 

• Welcomed Mike Butler and Sid Morris from the Veterans of Foreign Wars who are attending 
the meeting to discuss the Gold Star Family Memorial for Veterans Park. 
 

IV. Approval of Minutes:  July 12, 2018 
Stalnaker had a question about the minutes concerning the Coach Pitch youth baseball league.  
Ripplinger answered his questions. 

 

• Motion by Mattfeld 2nd by Lilly to approve the minutes.  Approved 5-0. 
 

V. Correspondence 
 

• None 
 

VI. Agenda Revisions and Public Forum  
 

• None 
 

VII. Commission Feedback – Questions, Comments 
 

• Verink requested that if the Commission members have comments related to recreation 
facilities, to please pass them on to him or appropriate staff in a timely manner. 
 

VIII. Unfinished Business 
 

A. A “Place To Play” Playground Update 
 

• Ripplinger reported that the fundraising goal has been met.  There will be a ground-breaking 
ceremony at Greenhill Park on September 29th at 11:00 am.  Mattfeld questioned the 
naming of the park.  Ripplinger responded that the park would still be Greenhill Park but 
may possibly be referred to as the “Place To Play” Playground at the park. 
 
 
 
 
 

 

-276-

Item G.2.f. 



 
 
 

            B.  Pickleball Update 
 

• Heath reported that the courts are substantially complete.  Sidewalks to the parking area will 
need to be poured, new benches, electrical and signage installed.  The courts are already 
being used a lot.  Ribbon Cutting September 25th at 4:00 pm with a September 27th at 4:00 
pm rain date.   

• Mattfeld asked if there would be more courts expanded throughout town.  Ripplinger 
responded that there had been some inquiries for northern Cedar Falls however no official 
request has been received. 

 
            C.  Request for Memorial Plaque at Peter Melendy Park 
 

• Peter Melendy is still under construction so there has been no change regarding this 
subject. 
             

            D. Cedar River improvements   
 

• Constultants are waiting to do a bathymetric survey of the river floor.  This has been 
problematic due to high water, flooding, and IDNR rules regarding dropping levels in the 
river.  The survey may not happen in October as planned. 

 
            E.  Pettersen Plaza Update 
 

• Ritland Kuiper will be completing two concepts of the plaza area including cost opinions.  
The concepts will be presented to the Park & Rec. Commission for review.  
 
IX.       New Business 

 
A.  Election of Officers 

 

• Motion by Bowman 2nd by Mattfeld to wait until more members are present.  Approved 5-0. 

• Bowman elected 2nd Vice Chair due to the anticipated absence of Nixon over the next 
several months. 

 
B.  Vets Park – Gold Star Family Memorial – Phase V 
 

• Mike Butler and Sid Morris shared pictures of other Gold Star Family Memorials that are in 
Iowa.  The intent of this particular monument is to honor families of fallen soldiers.   

• The monument would be purchased from the company that manufactures the memorials. 
They are all the same shape and material.  However, the engraving would be decided 
locally.  Mattfeld suggested the “four freedoms” by Norman Rockwell be considered. There 
would be something engraved on both sides of the memorial.  

• There was a question where it should be placed.  Butler and Morris said the Veterans 
groups felt it should be in the Veterans Park to tie all the military memorial pieces together. 
Staff will work with Morris and Butler to find an appropriate location then bring that back to 
the commission for their consideration. 

• Motion by Bowman 2nd by Mattfeld to send a recommendation to City Council to purse the 
concept of placing the Gold Star Family Memorial in an appropriate location in the Veterans 
Park.  Approved 5-0. 
 
 
 
 -277-

Item G.2.f. 



X. Reports 
 

A. Recreation 
 

• Falls being winterized 

• 82,000 Open Rec swimmers this summer 

• Doggie Dip – 401 Dogs and 740 people 

• Holmes and Peet open for open rec swim 

• Labor Day pit flooded at FAC putting 6 motors under water 

• Daily Rec Calendar put on Cardio Machines 

• Staff working on CIP 

• New Umpire Contract being renewed 

• Adult Kickball – 12 teams 

• Falls Adult Softball – 17 teams 

• NFL Flag Football – 510 teams 

• Volunteer coaches being used for Flag Football 

• Staff working on Goals & Objectives 
 
B. PW/Park/Director 
 

• Clay Street shelter dedication – Rotary Sign 

• EAB removal & stump grinding 

• Peter Melendy flood repair 

• Center St Trail improvement ongoing 

• Trail & washout repair 

• Gardens maintenance 

• Bike Repair Station installed at Big Woods Campground 

• Bike rack installed at Beach House 

• Hearst Center Bio Cell 

• Lonetree Rd Tree Planting.  Adult Volunteers and 500 students to plant 100 trees from 
Center St to Big Woods Road.  Tuesday September 25th. 

• Walter Ridge irrigation repair 
 
XI. Agenda Items - Next Meeting 
 

• Rec Center Renaming 

• Seerley Park, “Little Free Library” request 
 
XII. Next Meeting: 

• October 11, 2018 4:30 p.m., Cedar Falls Recreation Center 
 
XIII. Meeting was adjourned at 5:20 pm 
            Motion by Lilly 2nd by Bowman   Approved 5-0 

-278-

Item G.2.f. 



-279-

Item
 G

.2.f. 



-280-

Item
 G

.2.f. 



-281-

Item
 G

.2.f. 



 



1 

   CEDAR FALLS POLICE DEPARTMENT 

  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  220 CLAY STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 
  319-273-8612 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Brown, City Council Members 

From:  Jeff Olson, Director of Public Safety Services/Chief of Police 

Date:  September 25, 2018 

Re: Tobacco Enforcement Agreement 

Attached you will find a tobacco enforcement agreement between the City of Cedar Falls 
and the Iowa Alcoholic Beverages Division.  This agreement requires the Police Division 
to conduct one compliance check on all retail businesses that sell tobacco between 
October 1, 2018 and February 15, 2019.  The Division shall conduct a second 
compliance check on any retailer that is found to be non-compliant during the first 
inspection no later than May 15, 2019. The Iowa Alcoholic Beverages Division will 
reimburse the City seventy-five dollars per compliance check.   

This agreement is similar to those that we have entered into over the past several years 
and I recommend its approval. 

-283-

Item G.2.g. 



 



-285-

Item G.2.g. 



-286-

Item G.2.g. 



-287-

Item G.2.g. 



-288-

Item G.2.g. 



-289-

Item G.2.g. 



-290-

Item G.2.g. 



-291-

Item G.2.g. 



-292-

Item G.2.g. 



-293-

Item G.2.g. 



 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

Administration Division

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council  

 FROM: Jon Resler, PE, City Engineer 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: FEMA Provisionally Accredited Levee Requirement 

 
 
The Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) is requiring that the City provide 
design criteria, operational plan, drainage plan, and maintenance plan information 
regarding the City’s levee for FEMA to continue accrediting the levee with protection 
from the base flood.  Upon request, FEMA allows a Provisionally Accredited Levee 
(PAL) label on the Digital Flood Insurance Rate Map (DFIRM) during the time it takes to 
collect all necessary information. Staff recommends requesting a PAL, allowing Cedar 
Falls the time to complete levee construction and to compile updated documents to 
submit.  We will submit required items for certification at the 500 year flood event by 
November 20, 2020. 
 
The information required for the provisional accreditation is outlined in the attached 
letter from FEMA. FEMA requires that a Letter of Agreement and Request for 
Provisionally Accredited Levee Designation be signed and submitted before November 
20, 2018.  
 
 
Xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 

-295-

Item G.2.h. 



 



-297-

Item G.2.h. 



-298-

Item G.2.h. 



-299-

Item G.2.h. 



 



-301-

Item G.2.h. 



-302-

Item G.2.h. 



-303-

Item G.2.h. 



-304-

Item G.2.h. 



-305-

Item G.2.h. 



-306-

Item G.2.h. 



-307-

Item G.2.h. 



-308-

Item G.2.h. 



-309-

Item G.2.h. 



-310-

Item G.2.h. 



-311-

Item G.2.h. 



-312-

Item G.2.h. 



-313-

Item G.2.h. 



-314-

Item G.2.h. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, CIP Projects Supervisor  
 
 DATE: September 27, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Arbors 3rd Addition 
  Final Acceptance of Improvements 
  Project No. SU-330-3123 
 
 
Construction work has been completed on the public improvements in Arbors 3rd 
Addition. The project was designed by Clapsaddle Garber Associates, Inc. and has 
been completed in accordance with the project plans and the City of Cedar Falls 
standard specifications. The project was inspected by the City of Cedar Falls 
Engineering Division and Clapsaddle Garber Associates. 
 
The Engineering Division has reviewed and approved the project plans and 
specifications, inspected the project through the construction process, and has received 
and reviewed the project reports and certifications. The project documentation is in 
order and the project is complete and ready for City Council acceptance. Attached are 
copies of the maintenance bond from the developer, Midwest Development Corporation, 
and the Arbors 3rd Addition final plat. 
 
Arbors 3rd Addition has been constructed in reasonable compliance with the project 
plans and specifications. The Engineering Division recommends that the City Council 
approve and accept the public improvements for Arbors 3rd Addition.  
 
 
__________________________________________September 27, 2018___ 
Chase Schrage, CIP Projects Supervisor                        Date 
 
 
 
xc:   Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 
   

-315-

Item G.2.i. 



 



-317-

Item G.2.i. 



-318-

Item G.2.i. 



-319-

Item G.2.i. 



-320-

Item G.2.i. 



-321-

Item G.2.i. 



 



A
R

B
O

R
S 

 D
R

IV
E

R
ED

  O
A

K
  L

A
N

E

ERIK  ROAD

TRACT A

STORM W
ATER

MANAGEMENT A
REA

LOT 11
8914-27-427-004

BUSCH, WENDELL D
BUSCH, BEVERLY
DOC # 2017-016182

LOT 12
8914-27-427-003

MIDWEST DEVELOPMENT CO

LOT 13
8914-27-427-001

MIDWEST DEVELOPMENT CO

LOT 15
8914-27-429-002

MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO

LOT 14
8914-27-429-001

MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO

RED  OAK  LANE

ARBOR RIDGE ROAD

TR
A

C
T 

B

TRACT C

TR
A

C
T 

F

TRACT G

LOT 1

LOT 2

LOT 3

LOT 4

LOT 5

LOT 6

LOT 7

LOT 8LOT 9

LOT 10

LOT 11

LOT 12

LOT 13

LOT 14

LOT 15

LOT 16LOT 17LOT 18

LOT 19 LOT 20 LOT 21

LOT 22

LOT 23

LOT 24

LOT 25

LOT 26

LOT 27

LOT 28 LOT 29

LOT 30

LOT 31

LOT 32

LOT 33

LOT 34

UNPLATTED

N

E

1

/
4

-
S

E

1

/
4

 
S

E

C

.
 
2

7

,
 
T

8

9

N

,
 
R

1

4

W

M

I
D

W

E

S

T

 
D

E

V

E

L

O

P

M

E

N

T

 
C

O

D

E

E

D

 
D

O

C

 
#

2

0

1

4

-
0

2

0

2

1

7

R

E

F

 
D

O

C

 
#

 
2

0

1

4

-
1

3

1

3

2

LOT 16
8914-27-430-003

NOWACK, BRIAN J

DOC # 2018-001702

LOT 17
8914-27-430-002

MULLER, JAMES R

MULLER, TONYA S

DOC # 2017-017917

LOT 18
8914-27-430-001

MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO

LOT 12
8914-26-302-002

FUESSEL, ERIK C
FUESSEL, SHERRY L
DOC # 2012-021834

LOT 33
8914-26-301-003

BERMAN, JESSE C
BERMAN, JILL P

DOC # 2014-018835

LOT 34
8914-26-301-004

ROKUSEK DENNIS J
ROKUSEK, KELLI R
DOC # 2017-006202

LOT 35
8914-26-301-005

CHARLTON, ERIC R
CHARLTON,
KATRINA M

DOC # 2008-024344

LOT 36
8914-26-301-006
GIRSCH, EMILY

GIRSCH,
CHRISTOPHER

DOC # 2011-007271

LOT 37
8914-26-301-007

PUGH, RANDY L
PUGH, KRISTA L

DOC # 2006-006576

LOT 38
8914-26-301-008

KIRKLE, TIMOTHY M
KIRKLE, JULIE A

DOC # 2004-018986

LOT 1
8914-26-301-009

KALALA, SRINIVAS
KALALA,

PRASANTHI V
DOC # 2012-005385

LOT 2
8914-26-301-0101

MC GOWAN, TAFF J
MC GOWAN, LISA J
DOC # 2014-005331

LOT 4
8914-26-301-012

CHRIST, JASON N
CHRIST,

MEREDITH A
DOC # 2009-004480

LOT 5
8914-26-301-013

WALKO, JOSEPH M
WALKO, NICOLE L
DOC # 2016-009743

LOT 3
8914-26-301-011

WIEDMAN,
CHRISTOPHER M

WIEDMAN,
HEATHER L

DOC # 2010-013395

POINT OF BEGINNING

TRACT E 

TRACT D 

MAPLE  GROVE  DRIVE

THE ARBORS SECOND ADDITION

LOT 10
8914-27-427-008

WITTROCK, JILL

PECKHAM, MATT

DOC # 2017-016415

LOT 9
8914-27-427-007

HEISELMEYER, RACHEL A

HEISELMEYER, JAMES R

DOC # 2017-015178

LOT 8
8914-27-427-006

MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO

LOT 7
8914-27-427-005

MIDWEST

DEVELOPMENT CO

UNPLATTED

C

I
T

Y

 
O

F

 
C

E

D

A

R

 
F

A

L

L

S

 
A

N

D

C

E

D

A

R

 
F

A

L

L

S

 
C

O

M

M

U

N

I
T

Y

 
S

C

H

O

O

L

 
D

I
S

T

R

I
C

T

D

E

E

D

 
D

O

C

 
#

2

0

0

7

-
0

2

0

7

4

5

TR
A

C
T 

"B
"

TR
A

C
T 

"E
"

ERIK  ROAD

AUTUMN  WOODS  DRIVE

VIKING RD

M
E

A
D

O
W

L
A

R
K

 
L
N

MEADOW

I

R

O

N

W

O

O

D

 

D

R

A
P

 
 
 
P

L
E

W
O

 
 
O

D
 
L
N

ERIK RD

BOXWOOD DR

B

A

R

K

W

O

O

D

 
D

R

VIEW CIR

H
E

D
G

E
W

O
O

D

C
I
R

H
U

D
S

O
N

 
R

D

A

R

B

O

R

S

 

D

R

TIMBER

COVE DR

ARBOR

WAY BLVD

AMBER

VALLEY RD

RED OAK

LN

M
EA

D
O

W
S 

SE
C

O
N

D
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N
D

O
C

 #
20

03
-3

92
72

M
EA

D
O

W
S 

TH
IR

D
 A

D
D

IT
IO

N
D

O
C

 #
20

05
-0

05
96

5

N

0

GRAPHIC SCALE

120'60' 180'

Clapsaddle-Garber Associates, Inc
5106 Nordic Drive

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Ph 319-266-0258 /800-542-7981
www.cgaconsultants.com

SHEET NO.

DRAWN:
CHECKED:

DATE:
DATE:

APPROVED: DATE:

PROJECT NO.DESIGNED: DATE:REVISIONNO. DATEBY DATEBYREVISIONNO.

G:
\C

ed
ar

 F
al

ls
\S

ko
gm

an
 A

rb
or

s 
3r

d 
Ad

di
tio

n 
De

si
gn

 P
h 

(9
95

-1
6)

\S
ur

ve
y\

Fi
na

l P
la

t\T
he

 A
rb

or
s 

3r
d 

Ad
d 

Fi
na

l P
la

t.d
wg

 - 
CG

A 
Pl

an
 - 

 1
0-

17
-1

7 
- 4

:1
2p

m
 - 

SJ
C3

25

CGA THE ARBORS THIRD ADDITION
1 OF 1

995-16

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA FINAL PLATSJC/MDS

ALM 10-18-17

10-18-17

THE ARBORS THIRD ADDITION
FINAL PLAT

Cedar Falls, Iowa
October 2017

NOTES:

LAND DESCRIPTION

”

”

”

”

”

”

”

”

”

” ”

” ” ”

”

27

NE

SESW

NW

LEGEND

Pages or sheets covered by this seal:

Professional Land Surveyor under the laws of the State of Iowa.
my direct personal supervision and that I am a duly Licensed
and the related survey work was performed by me or under
I hereby certify that this land surveying document was prepared

date
Iowa License Number 21428
My License Renewal Date is December 31, 2018

Aaron L. Mueller, PLS

UM

RE
LLE.LNORAA

NE SEDIL C

21428

WAI O

P
R

O
F

E
SS IONAL L AND SUR

V
E

Y
O

R

THIS SHEET ONLY 

LOT 29

LOT 30

LOT 28

LOT 27

UNPLATTED

P

A

N

T

H

E

R

 
F

A

R

M

S

,
 
L

L

C

D

O

C

 
#

2

0

1

3

-
1

3

7

9

3

-323-

Item
 G

.2.i. 



 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
Administration Division wwww Planning & Community Services Division 

Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 
 

Engineering Division wwww Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 
Water Reclamation Division 

Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 

 

  

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: Terra Ray, Engineer Tech II 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: W. 1st Street Reconstruction Project - Property Acquisitions 
  Project # RC-000-3118 
  State Project # STP-57-2(28)-2C-07 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is working with the Iowa Department of Transportation on the 
reconstruction to W. 1st Street from Hudson Road to the Center/Franklin Street intersection. The 
project is in the final design phase, acquisitions of the necessary right of way needs are 
underway to meet the DOT and City’s funding years for construction. The utilities and other 
infrastructure work will be started early next year. The road construction will take place in 2019-
2020. This project includes a total reconstruction of the roadway from a four lane to a five lane 
facility. The project identifies the need for total acquisitions from three (3) properties and partial 
acquisitions from 68 properties. 
 
Appraisals and offers are gradually being sent to the properties affected by this corridor 
reconstruction project. The owners of the following properties have accepted our offer. 
 
Parcel # Owner Address Acquisition Type 

16 Graig-Caldwell 1031 W. 1st Street Partial Acquisition 
Permanent and 
Temporary Easement 

18 Neuman 1017 W. 1st Street Partial Acquisition 
Permanent and 
Temporary Easement  

54 Ark II Real estate Solutions LLC 822 W. 1st Street Partial Acquisition 
Temporary Easement 

67 Todd and Naila Graper 1210 W. 1st Street Partial Acquisition 
Temporary Easement 

    
 
Attached is a map that identifies the location of these properties. 
 
The City will use federal funds for the design and right of way portion of this project. Per an 
agreement with the DOT approved on August 7, 2017, the city will be the lead in property 

-325-

Item G.2.j. 



acquisition and design. All eligible project costs will be split 50% City and 50% DOT which 
includes engineering, right of way, construction and construction administration. The city signed 
as agreement with Snyder and Associates on September 5, 2017 for these services. Funds for 
this project are identified in the Cedar Falls Capital Improvements Program in FY18 and FY20 
under item number 91. If approved, the City Attorney will prepare the necessary closing 
documents and staff will complete the acquisition process for these parcels. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council state their support in the form of a resolution approving 
the acquisitions and authorize the Mayor to execute the agreements for the W. 1st Street 
reconstruction project. 
 
If you have any questions or need additional information, please feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Director 
 Jon Resler, City Engineer 
 David Sturch, Planner III 
  

-326-

Item G.2.j. 



76
75

74 6973 72
66

6571 70 63 62
61

59 58
53 52

51 48 47
45 4478

798081
82 253 4 5 5 6 7 388 26

40

399 31 32
33

34 3735 36
10 12 14 17 19

20
21

22
24

1

77

27
28

67 54

16 18

68 64 60 57
56
55

49 4143

2 29 30
11

23

42

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Tre
mo

nt
 St

Crescent Dr

Fr
an

kli
n S

t

N 
Co

lle
ge

 St

Co
tta

ge
 G

rv

Elm St

W Park Dr

W 3rd St

W 2nd St

Pa
rk

Dr

W 1st St

Edgewood St

Linda Dr

Theimer St

S Forest Rd

Pine St

Hu
ds

o n
R d

Fr
an

cis
 St

Di
vis

ion
 St

Me
mo

ria
l A

ve

Ca
the

rin
e S

t

W 3rd St
Pe

ar
l S

t

Ida St

Ol
ive

 St

Oak St

Parkway Ave

Ell
en

 St

Iow
a S

t

Hu
ds

on
 R

d

Ge
ne

vie
ve

 St

Cl
ay

 St

N 
Fr

an
cis

 S
t

NEllen St

S Park Rd

Linden St

Edgewood St

Maple St

N 
Di

vis
ion

 S
t

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

Forres tR d

Hi
gh

lan
d D

r

Willow Bend Rd

Parkway Ave

N 
Ge

ne
vie

ve
 S

t

Higby Dr

Ba
ke

r D
r

N
H ighlandDr

Center St

I

Signed
Submitted for Approval
Not Signed

-327-

Item
 G

.2.j. 



 



-329-

Item G.2.j. 



-330-

Item G.2.j. 



-331-

Item G.2.j. 



-332-

Item G.2.j. 



-333-

Item G.2.j. 



-334-

Item G.2.j. 



-335-

Item G.2.j. 



-336-

Item G.2.j. 



-337-

Item G.2.j. 



-338-

Item G.2.j. 



-339-

Item G.2.j. 



 



-341-

Item G.2.j. 



-342-

Item G.2.j. 



-343-

Item G.2.j. 



-344-

Item G.2.j. 



-345-

Item G.2.j. 



-346-

Item G.2.j. 



-347-

Item G.2.j. 



-348-

Item G.2.j. 



-349-

Item G.2.j. 



-350-

Item G.2.j. 



-351-

Item G.2.j. 



 



-353-

Item G.2.j. 



-354-

Item G.2.j. 



-355-

Item G.2.j. 



-356-

Item G.2.j. 



-357-

Item G.2.j. 



-358-

Item G.2.j. 



-359-

Item G.2.j. 



-360-

Item G.2.j. 



-361-

Item G.2.j. 



-362-

Item G.2.j. 



-363-

Item G.2.j. 



-364-

Item G.2.j. 



-365-

Item G.2.j. 



-366-

Item G.2.j. 



-367-

Item G.2.j. 



-368-

Item G.2.j. 



-369-

Item G.2.j. 



-370-

Item G.2.j. 



-371-

Item G.2.j. 



-372-

Item G.2.j. 



-373-

Item G.2.j. 



-374-

Item G.2.j. 



-375-

Item G.2.j. 



-376-

Item G.2.j. 



-377-

Item G.2.j. 



-378-

Item G.2.j. 



-379-

Item G.2.j. 



-380-

Item G.2.j. 



-381-

Item G.2.j. 



-382-

Item G.2.j. 



-383-

Item G.2.j. 



-384-

Item G.2.j. 



-385-

Item G.2.j. 



-386-

Item G.2.j. 



-387-

Item G.2.j. 



-388-

Item G.2.j. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
M E M O R A N D U M 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: September 27, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project 
  City Project Number FL-000-1975 
  Change Order No. 2 
  
 
The City of Cedar Falls has awarded the Levee/Floodwall System Improvements 
Project to Iowa Bridge and Culvert, LC of Washington, Iowa. This contractor will be 
raising the level of flood protection along the length of the levee by approximately two 
(2) feet. The improvements to the system will involve both new structural walls as well 
as increased earthen sections. The levee is approximately 6,100 linear feet long, 
beginning at Center Street, running east and south along the Cedar River, and ending 
at the Western Homes Community just south of E. 9th Street. 
 
As introduced during the July 16, 2018 Council Committee of the Whole, attached is a 
change order for additional work for the Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project 
in the amount of $344,804.18. The funding for this project, including change orders, will 
be provided by an Iowa Flood Management Program grant. 
 
The Department of Community Development recommends approving and executing the 
change order with Iowa Bridge and Culvert, LC. for the Levee/Floodwall System 
Improvements Project.   
 
 
 
xc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz Director of Community Development  
 Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 

-389-

Item G.2.k. 



 



-391-

Item G.2.k. 



 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: September 27, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project 
  Project No. FL – 000 – 1975 
  Permanent Utility Easement Agreement 
 
 
 
 
The Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project is currently under construction. This 
project involves raising the level of flood protection along the length of the levee by 
approximately two (2) feet. The improvements to the system will involve both new 
structural walls as well as increased earthen sections.  
 
This project requires a permanent utility easement from one property in order to 
complete the improvements to the Levee/Floodwall System for the 2018 construction 
season. This easement encompasses 450 sq. ft. on 812 Grove Street, with the total 
permanent easement cost of $2,025.00 paid by an Iowa Flood Management Program 
grant. The Permanent Utility Easement Agreement and Purchase Agreement are 
attached for review.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends that the Permanent Utility Easement Agreement 
with the property owner at 812 Grove Street, be accepted by the City Council and 
recorded at the Black Hawk County Recorder’s Office.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
 Jon Resler, PE, City Engineer 
 

-393-

Item G.2.l. 



 



-395-

Item G.2.l. 



-396-

Item G.2.l. 



-397-

Item G.2.l. 



 



-399-

Item G.2.l. 



-400-

Item G.2.l. 



-401-

Item G.2.l. 



-402-

Item G.2.l. 



-403-

Item G.2.l. 



-404-

Item G.2.l. 



-405-

Item G.2.m. 



 



RESOLUTION No. ____________ 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING COMPLETION OF THE TRAFFIC 
SIGNAL INSTALLATION PURSUANT TO THE DEVELOPMENTAL PROCEDURES 
AGREEMENT WITH ANFINSON PROPERTIES, L.L.C., RELATIVE TO HERITAGE 

HILLS ESTATES SECOND ADDITION 
 
 
 
 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has previously approved 
and authorized the execution of a Developmental Procedures Agreement, attached, with 
Anfinson Properties, L.L.C., relative to Heritage Hills Estate Second Addition, and has adopted 
a Resolution approving the final costs for the installation of a traffic signal located at the 
intersection of Greenhill Road and Prairie Parkway relative to Heritage Hills Estates Second 
Addition,  
      AND 
 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it in the best 
interest of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, to approve the completion of this traffic signal 
installation as provided in the Developmental Procedures Agreement. 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, be it resolved by the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
that the traffic signal installation contained in the Developmental Procedures Agreement with 
Anfinson Properties, L.L.C. relative to Heritage Hills Estates Second Addition is hereby 
approved and said public improvement is hereby accepted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, and 
Anfinson Properties, L.L.C., as the Developer, is hereby released from any further obligations 
under said Developmental Procedures Agreement. 
 
 
 
 ADOPTED this ____ day of ______________, 2018. 
 
 
              
       James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC 
City Clerk 
 
 
 
  

-407-

Item G.2.m. 



 



-409-

Item G.2.m. 



-410-

Item G.2.m. 



-411-

Item G.2.m. 



-412-

Item G.2.m. 



-413-

Item G.2.m. 



-414-

Item G.2.m. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: September 27, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Fiber Optic License Agreement 
   Aureon Network Services 
   W 1st Street & Union Road 
 
 
Enclosed is a proposed License Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Aureon 
Network Services to install an additional long distance telecommunications system 
consisting of fiber optic cable within the public right-of way of the City, in order to 
connect to an existing cell tower located at the southwest corner of Union Road and W 
1st Street.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls has entered into previous license agreements with Iowa 
Network Services, now Aureon Network Services. The proposed License Agreement 
follows the terms and conditions set forth in the earlier agreements and is intended to 
protect the City of Cedar Falls right-of way and manage and regulate in a manner 
consistent with federal and state law. 
 
The Engineering Division recommends your approval of this proposed License 
Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
xc:   Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 
 

-415-

Item G.2.n. 



 



-417-

Item G.2.n. 



-418-

Item G.2.n. 



-419-

Item G.2.n. 



-420-

Item G.2.n. 



-421-

Item G.2.n. 



-422-

Item G.2.n. 



-423-

Item G.2.n. 



-424-

Item G.2.n. 



-425-

Item G.2.n. 



-426-

Item G.2.n. 



-427-

Item G.2.n. 



-428-

Item G.2.n. 



-429-

Item G.2.n. 



 



EXHIBIT “A” 

Revised 9/26/2018 

Description of Route of Aureon (INS) System, 2018 Project No. 018-1341 

 

 The facility, Project No. 018-1341, shall consist of one (1) two (2”) inch diameter High-Density 

Polyethylene (HDPE) duct with fiber cable installed at the minimum depths of forty-two (42”) inches in 

grassed areas, forty-eight (48”) inches undercrossing driveways and sidewalks, and sixty (60”) inches 

undercrossing streets. The service being provided is a fiber optic data transmission line to provided data 

connections to the T-Mobile cell tower at the southwest corner of W. 1st Street and N. Union Drive. The 

route of the facility shall be as follows: 

South right-of-way of West 1st Street and the east right-of-way of North Union Road  

 1. The facility, Project No. 018-1341, shall begin at the West City Limits of Cedar Falls, 

entering the City from the west, being located in the south right-of- way (R.O.W.) of West 1st Street at a 

point being twenty three (23’) feet south of the centerline of W. 1st Street at D.O.T. Sta. 846+77, 23 Rt. 

and being approximately one thousand three hundred twenty two and ninety eight hundredths 

(1,322.98’) feet west of the centerline of North Union Road as shown on sheets C.1, G.1, G.2, D.1, F.57, 

F.58, and F.59, Project No. 018-1341”, a copy of which is attached to this exhibit. 

 2. Thence being south of the centerline of West 1st Street, east a distance of two hundred 

eighty four (284’) feet to Sta. 849+61, 23’ Rt., to a proposed “bore pit” as shown on sheet F.57 of said 

exhibit B. 

 3. Thence from said proposed “bore pit”, east-southeast a distance of two hundred one 

and two tenths (201.2’) feet to Sta. 851+62, 31’ Rt., to a sixty (60’) foot radius concave southerly a 

distance of eleven and five tenths (11.5’) feet to Sta. 851+73, 32’ Rt. as shown on sheet F.58 of said 

exhibit B.  

               4. Thence southeasterly a distance of one hundred eighty three and five tenths (183.5’) 

feet to Sta. 853+56, 43’ Rt., to a ten (10’) foot radius concave easterly a distance of three and four 

tenths (3.4’) feet to Sta. 853+59, 44’ Rt. as shown on sheet F.58 of said exhibit B. 

               5. Thence northeasterly a distance of ninety four and one tenth (94.1’) feet to Sta. 854+53, 

44’ Rt., to a thirteen (13’) foot radius concave southeasterly a distance of three and four tenths (3.4’) 

feet to Sta. 854+56, 45’ Rt. a proposed new Aureon hand-hole as shown on sheet F.58 of said exhibit B. 

               6. Thence southeasterly a distance of one hundred forty one and five tenths (141.5’) feet 

to Sta. 855+97, 53’ Rt., to a forty (40’) foot radius concave easterly a distance of eleven and five tenths 

(11.5’) feet to Sta. 856+08, 54’ Rt. a proposed new Aureon hand-hole as shown on sheet F.58 of said 

exhibit B. 

               7. Thence easterly a distance of two hundred nineteen (219’) feet to Sta. 858+27, 52’ Rt., 

to a fifteen (15’) foot radius concave southeasterly a distance of five and four tenths (5.4’) feet to Sta. 

858+32, 54’ Rt. a proposed new Aureon hand-hole as shown on sheet F.58 of said exhibit B. 

-431-

Item G.2.n. 



EXHIBIT “A” 

Revised 9/26/2018 

               8. Thence southeasterly a distance of one hundred eighteen and six tenths (118.6’) feet to 

Sta. 859+49, 93’ Rt., to a fifty (50’) foot radius concave northeasterly and a distance of three and four 

tenths (3.4’) feet to Sta. 859+83, 95’ Rt. a proposed new Aureon hand-hole as shown on sheets F.58 and 

F.59 of said exhibit B. 

               9. Thence northeasterly a distance of ninety (90’) feet to Sta. 860+42, 77’ Rt., to  a 

proposed new Aureon hand-hole being 21’ east of the back of curb of North Union Road and 38’ south 

of the back of curb of West 1st Street as shown on sheet F.59 of said exhibit B. 

               10. Thence southeasterly a distance of eighteen and four tenths (18.4’) feet to Sta. 860+49, 

94’ Rt., to a fifty (50’) foot radius concave southerly and a distance of fourteen and eight tenths (14.8’) 

feet to Sta. 860+51, 108’ Rt., to a point being three (3’) feet west of the east right of way (R.O.W.) line of 

North Union Road as shown on sheets F.58 and F.59 of said exhibit B. 

 11. Thence south a distance of ninety seven (97’) feet to Sta. 860+51, 205’ Rt. to an “existing 

Aureon pull box A”, being three (3’) feet west of the east right of way (R.O.W.) line of North Union Road 

as shown on sheet F.59 of said exhibit B. (Total facility horizontal length in City right-of-way is one 

thousand five hundred and seven tenths (1,500.7’) feet. 

  

-432-

Item G.2.n. 



Exhibit B

-433-

Item
 G

.2.n. 



Exhibit B

-434-

Item
 G

.2.n. 



Exhibit B

-435-

Item
 G

.2.n. 



Exhibit B

-436-

Item
 G

.2.n. 



Exhibit B

-437-

Item
 G

.2.n. 



Exhibit B

-438-

Item
 G

.2.n. 



Exhibit B

-439-

Item
 G

.2.n. 



 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: September 27, 2018 
 
 SUBJECT: Fiber Optic License Agreement 
   Aureon Network Services 
   Crescent Drive 
 
 
Enclosed is a proposed License Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and Aureon 
Network Services to install an additional long distance telecommunications system 
consisting of fiber optic cable within the public right-of way of the City, in order to extend 
services owned by Bannon Communication along Crescent Drive.  
 
The City of Cedar Falls has entered into previous license agreements with Iowa 
Network Services, now Aureon Network Services. The proposed License Agreement 
follows the terms and conditions set forth in the earlier agreements and is intended to 
protect the City of Cedar Falls right-of way and manage and regulate in a manner 
consistent with federal and state law. 
 
The Engineering Division recommends your approval of this proposed License 
Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 
xc:   Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
  Jon Resler, P.E., City Engineer 
 

-441-

Item G.2.o. 



 



-443-

Item G.2.o. 



-444-

Item G.2.o. 



-445-

Item G.2.o. 



-446-

Item G.2.o. 



-447-

Item G.2.o. 



-448-

Item G.2.o. 



-449-

Item G.2.o. 



-450-

Item G.2.o. 



-451-

Item G.2.o. 



-452-

Item G.2.o. 



-453-

Item G.2.o. 



 



-455-

Item G.2.o. 



 



-457-

Item
 G

.2.o. 



-458-

Item
 G

.2.o. 



-459-

Item
 G

.2.o. 



-460-

Item
 G

.2.o. 



 

 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

Administration Division

  

  

 

 

  

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner I 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: CDBG – Rehabilitation Projects – Bid Opening 
  801 Newman Ave – Project No. 1-18-667 
  911 Bluff Street – Project No. 1-18-668 
  921 Westview Street - Project No. 1-18-669 
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
funds that supports several programs, including housing rehabilitations or housing 
repairs for income-qualifying residents. 
 
In late August, 2018 three rehabilitation projects were bid for 801 Newman Avenue, 911 
Bluff Street, and 921 Westview Street. The owners of these properties all meet the 
program’s income requirements. These rehabilitation projects will significantly improve 
the living conditions of the applicants and bring the homes to code compliance. On 
Wednesday, September 5, 2018 at 9AM, bids were received and opened for the three 
rehabilitation projects, with the low bids from Kirvan Enterprises for all three properties:  
 

801 Newman Avenue Bid Total Hard Costs 
Lead Hazard 
Reduction 
Costs 

To Jo Construction $24,600 $18,500 $6,100 
Brothers Construction $21,449 $18,799 $2,650 
Kirvan Enterprises $18,200 $15,900 $2,300 

 

911 Bluff Street 
(determined historic) Bid Total Hard Costs 

Lead Hazard 
Reduction Costs 

Brothers 
Construction $49,649 

[cannot 
tabulate – line 
item missing] 

$44,977 

Kirvan Enterprises $36,590 $9,950 $26,640 
 

-461-

Item G.2.p. 



 

 

 

921 Westview Street Bid Total Hard Costs 
Lead Hazard 
Reduction 
Costs 

Brothers Construction $24,512 $24,512 $0 
To Jo Construction $21,480 $21,480 $0 
Kirvan Enterprises $18,570 $18,570 $0 

 
The Building Official's estimates were $19,170, $26,650, and $16,750 for the projects at 
801 Newman Avenue, 911 Bluff Street, and 921 Westview Street, respectively. These 
estimates included both rehabilitation hard costs (no more than $20,000 per home) and 
lead hazard reduction costs. Kirvan Enterprises submitted the low bids in the amounts 
of $18,200, $36,590, and $18,570, respectively. 
 
As a result of the competitive bids, the Housing Commission and City Staff recommends 
acceptance of the low bid(s) and entering into contracts, attached, with Kirvan 
Enterprises in the amounts of $18,200, $36,590, and $18,570, respectively.  
 
Please contact me with any questions.  Thank you. 
 
XC: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 
 

-462-

Item G.2.p. 



-463-

Item G.2.p. 



-464-

Item G.2.p. 



-465-

Item G.2.p. 



-466-

Item G.2.p. 



-467-

Item G.2.p. 



-468-

Item G.2.p. 



-469-

Item G.2.p. 



-470-

Item G.2.p. 



-471-

Item G.2.p. 



-472-

Item G.2.p. 



-473-

Item G.2.p. 



-474-

Item G.2.p. 



-475-

Item G.2.p. 



-476-

Item G.2.p. 



-477-

Item G.2.p. 



-478-

Item G.2.p. 



-479-

Item G.2.p. 



-480-

Item G.2.p. 



-481-

Item G.2.p. 



-482-

Item G.2.p. 



-483-

Item G.2.p. 



-484-

Item G.2.p. 



-485-

Item G.2.p. 



-486-

Item G.2.p. 



-487-

Item G.2.p. 



-488-

Item G.2.p. 



-489-

Item G.2.p. 



-490-

Item G.2.p. 



-491-

Item G.2.p. 



-492-

Item G.2.p. 



-493-

Item G.2.p. 



-494-

Item G.2.p. 



-495-

Item G.2.p. 



-496-

Item G.2.p. 



-497-

Item G.2.p. 



-498-

Item G.2.p. 



-499-

Item G.2.p. 



-500-

Item G.2.p. 



-501-

Item G.2.p. 



-502-

Item G.2.p. 



-503-

Item G.2.p. 



-504-

Item G.2.p. 



-505-

Item G.2.p. 



-506-

Item G.2.p. 



-507-

Item G.2.p. 



-508-

Item G.2.p. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council  

 FROM: Iris Lehmann, Planner I 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Design and Site Plan review of property in the Central Business District Overlay 
 
 

REQUEST: 
 
Design and Site Plan Review in the Central Business District 
 

PETITIONER: 
 
Randolph Bryan 

LOCATION: 
 
419 Washington Street 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The owner of the restaurant, Cottonwood Canyon, located at 419 Washington Street is 
proposing to build a new deck on the front of the building to provide additional outdoor seating 
and create higher visibility for the restaurant. The existing accessible ramp and the steps and 
stoop that lead to the front building entrance will remain, but a new wood deck will be extended 
from the ramp approximately 10 feet toward the street. See original and proposed façade 
images below. 
 
 

 
Original      Proposed (not showing skirting or landscaping) 

-509-

Item G.2.q. 



BACKGROUND 
All substantial improvements in the Central Business District, as defined in Section 29-168 - 
CBD, Central business district overlay, must be reviewed and approved by the Planning & 
Zoning Commission as well as City Council. The proposed changes to 419 Washington Street 
qualify as substantial improvements, since the area of the lot being used for restaurant space 
will be expanded and the exterior appearance of the structure will be modified.  
 
419 Washington Street was originally built as a single family home in 1920. The house was 
repurposed into a commercial use in the 1990’s. The current business, Cottonwood Canyon, 
first opened on December 15, 2016. The existing ramp that extends across the front of the 
building was installed to meet commercial ADA accessibility requirements.  
 
  

 

                                         
 
ANALYSIS 
419 Washington Street is located in the C-3, commercial district. The existing use as a 
restaurant conforms to the permitted uses within the C-3 district. Outdoor seating areas add 
vibrancy to the commercial district and are consistent with the goals of the overlay. Since the 

        421 Washington 

415 Washington 

-510-

Item G.2.q. 



proposal is an addition to a repurposed single family home located between two residential 
buildings, the outdoor service area should be designed in a manner that is complementary to 
the original design of the home and to the adjacent residential dwellings (shown in the photos on 
the previous page).  
 

 
Amended Site Plan 

 
The following is an evaluation of the overlay district’s design review requirements: 
 
1. Proportion: In typical residential fashion, the building that houses the restaurant and the two 

adjacent homes are setback from and elevated a few feet above the public sidewalk. 
The abutting dwellings both have front porches that provide semi-private outdoor 
space.  The originally proposed 13 foot by 22.5 foot (292.5 square foot) deck would 
have extended right up to the front property line, about a foot away from the 
sidewalk. While the proposed deck is much larger than the existing front porches in 
the neighborhood, the utilization of this space as proposed would further optimize the 
property as a commercial use and sets this property apart from its neighboring 
residential units. Since access to the deck will be from the ramp, which is elevated 
several feet above the level of the public sidewalk, staff had concerns about how the 
new deck would interface with the public sidewalk. In addition, even with the C-3 
zoning in place, both the property directly to the north and south of this lot are 
residential. To keep in character with the neighboring properties and with the re-
purposed residential structure of the restaurant, staff recommended that the deck be 
setback a minimum of three feet from the public sidewalk. This leaves sufficient room 
for a landscape buffer between the elevated deck and the public sidewalk. This will 
also maintain an attractive pedestrian environment along the public sidewalk and 
provide more of a transition between this commercial use and the neighboring 
residential uses. Staff has discussed this change with the applicant and he is 
agreeable to a 3-foot setback from the public sidewalk and to planting small shrubs 
between the deck and the sidewalk. This would decrease the deck to 225 sqft (10’ x 
22.5’). See amended site plan above. With these changes, staff finds that the 
criterion is met.     

  
2. Roof shape, pitch and direction: The building’s roof is not being altered; this criterion does 

-511-

Item G.2.q. 



not apply for this review.  
 
3. Pattern: The applicant is not proposing to add or remove any openings to the building. This 

criterion is met. 
 
4. Materials and texture: The applicant is proposing to build the deck with the same type of 

wood as the existing ramp that was constructed to meet ADA accessibility 
requirements. While a wood deck is not generally an acceptable material for the 
frontage of a downtown commercial building, it is consistent with material used for 
residential stoops and porches. Given that this residential building has been 
creatively re-purposed for a commercial use, staff finds that it is appropriate to allow 
a wood deck along the frontage of the property as long as it is designed in a manner 
that is complementary to the existing residential structure (see below for more on the 
design). This criterion is met. 

 
5. Color:   As the proposed is an expansion to the buildings use, current design standards are 

applied. As stated above, wood decks are not typical for storefront commercial 
buildings. The standards in the overlay state that any wood used on the façade must 
be painted. As this is a deck, staff is open to allowing opaquely stained wood in a 
color that is consistent with the existing building (so to appear painted). The applicant 
is agreeable to staining the deck and existing ramp in this fashion. To match the 
existing house he chose to stain the wood a Nutmeg Brown, see supplemental 
materials. The criterion is met.     

 
6. Architectural features: The proposed deck 

was designed to visually be an 
extension of the existing ramp. As the 
proposed is an expansion to the use of 
the building, current design 
standards are applied. This criterion 
requires that the design of the 
adjacent buildings be considered in the 
review so that the proposed work is 
compatible with its surroundings. 
The neighboring residential units, 
see images on the previous page, 
both have front porches. For 
consistency the proposed deck 
should be designed to mirror a 
porch aesthetic.  

 
 The original drawing showed the 

posts of the deck exposed and area 
under the deck open. This will 
become a maintenance issue and 
an area for trash and leaves to 
collect. Screening this portion with typical porch skirting will both visually and 
functionally improve the proposal as well as be consistent with best practices for 
porches. In addition, the vertical boards (balusters) on the deck railing (balustrade) 
should connect to both a top rail and a bottom rail. It was difficult to tell if this is what 

-512-

Item G.2.q. 



is proposed in the submitted drawing.  Staff has discussed this issue with the 
applicant and he has agreed to add skirting to his deck and has submitted additional 
details for the balusters, see attached supplemental materials. With these 
amendments staff finds that the criterion is met.  

 
 7. Exterior mural wall drawings, painted artwork, exterior 

painting: not applicable. 
 
8. Signage: The freestanding sign that is currently in the front 

yard will be moved to make room for the proposed 
deck. The sign will be relocated to the other side of the 
walkway, see image to the right. The proposed 
relocation of the sign meets city signage placement 
requirements.  This criterion is met. 

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
City Staff has reviewed the request to build a new deck on the front of 419 Washington Street 
and have the following additional comments: 

• The liquor license for the business will need to be updated to include the area of the 
deck.  

 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
9/12/2018 

Planner Lehmann presented the proposal to the Planning and Zoning 
Commission. She explained that city staff has been working with the 
petitioner, Randolph Brian, to create a plan that is appropriate for this 
location and he is willing to make necessary changes. Randolph Brian stated 
that he is comfortable with any adjustments to the deck. He also noted that 
the neighbors on either side are aware of the project and neither had 
objections. The Planning and Zoning Commission moved to recommended 
approval of the proposed project at 419 Washington Street subject to staff’s 
stipulations:  
1) The wood deck and the existing wood ramp and stoop structure must be 
painted or stained with an opaque color that is consistent with the color of the 
building. 
2) Applicant modifies the size of the deck to ensure it is setback a minimum 
of 3 feet from the public sidewalk and provides a landscape plan including 
how shrubs for the area between the deck and the sidewalk. 
3) Additional details are provided for the construction of the deck. Specifically 
the type of skirting and balustrade details. 

  
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The applicant has provided an updated site plan and additional supplemental materials. With 
these amendments, the Planning and Zoning Commission and the Community Development 
Department recommend approval of the submitted improvements to 419 Washington Street, 
subject to the following stipulation: 

• The liquor license is amended to include the area of the new deck.  
 
Attachments:   Letter of Intent, updated site plan, deck design details 

-513-

Item G.2.q. 



 



-515-

Item G.2.q. 



-516-

Item G.2.q. 



-517-

Item G.2.q. 



 



-519-

Item G.2.q. 



 



-521-

Item G.2.q. 



 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM

Administration Division

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Memorandum of Agreement with the City of Waterloo for HOME/CDBG  
  contract cost share 

 
 
Federal regulations require that communities receiving federal funds from the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) develop a Consolidated Plan 
and an Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing every five years.  The Consolidated 
Plan is HUD’s attempt to streamline the application process for various federal funds 
and coordinate strategies of local organizations geared toward community development 
and housing.  This requirement applies to both Community Development Block Grant 
funds and HOME funds the City receives as a part of the Waterloo-Cedar Falls HOME 
Consortium.  The Five Year Consolidated Plan serves as the City of Cedar Falls 
FY2020-FY2024 (Federal Fiscal Years 2019-2023) Community Development Block 
Grant application and as the Waterloo-Cedar Falls HOME Consortium application.  
Since the CDBG Consolidated Annual Plan has the same requirements as the HOME 
Consolidated Plan, Cedar Falls is able to use the same Plan for both programs.  
 
Cedar Falls will be contracting with INRCOG to complete the Five Year Consolidated 
Plan on Cedar Falls’ behalf.  Since the Five Year Consolidated Plan is required to meet 
the HOME Consortium requirements, Waterloo has agreed to contribute toward the 
cost. Attached is a proposed Memorandum of Understanding outlining Waterloo’s 
contribution will be $8,333 and paid directly to INRCOG, upon being invoiced.  The 
remainder of the contract will be paid by Cedar Falls, totaling $11,667.00. 
 
The Community Development Department recommends that City Council adopt a 
resolution approving the Memorandum of Understanding with the City of Waterloo.  The 
Waterloo City Council is considering the same MOU at their October 1, 2018 meeting. 
 
If you have any questions, please contact me.   
     
xc:  Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

-523-

Item G.2.r. 



 



 
 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
 
 
This memorandum of understanding is between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa hereinafter 
referred to as Cedar Falls, and the City of Waterloo, Iowa hereinafter referred to as Waterloo. 
 
WHEREAS, a 5-Year Consolidated Action Plan is required by the US Department of Housing and 
Urban Development, hereinafter referred to as HUD, in order to maintain the Cedar Falls-
Waterloo HOME consortium, and  
 
WHEREAS, Cedar Falls and Waterloo desire to continue under the HOME consortium for the 
purpose of expanding the supply of decent, safe, sanitary and affordable housing for low and 
moderate-income residents, and  
 
WHEREAS, both Cedar Falls and Waterloo each must have a 5-Year Consolidated Action Plan to 
comply with both HOME and Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) requirements, and 
 
WHEREAS, a 5-Year Consolidated Action Plan also benefits Cedar Falls’ Housing Choice Voucher 
Program (Section 8), and 
 
WHEREAS, Cedar Falls is entering into an agreement with Iowa Northland Regional Council of 
Governments (INRCOG) to complete its 5 -Year Consolidated Action Plan and fulfill requirements 
stated above, and 
 
WHEREAS, the HOME Consortium is a beneficiary of Cedar Falls’ 5 -Year Consolidated Action 
Plan and Administrative funds for the program can contribute toward the costs of developing 
required program elements. 
 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE, Cedar Falls and Waterloo agree as follows: 

1. The total contract with INRCOG to complete the project is $20,000.   
2. Cedar Falls will pay $11,667.00 to INRCOG, proportioned as follows: 

a. One-third of the Needs Assessment and Market Analysis through Section 8 
(Administrative) funds, calculated to be $3,334. 

b. Fifty percent of the remaining project cost through Cedar Falls CDBG 
Entitlement (Administrative) funds, calculated to be $8,333. 

3. Waterloo will pay $8,333.00 directly to INRCOG.   (50% of the remaining project 
cost, after Cedar Falls Section 8 funds are allocated per 2a above.) 

4. Payment shall be due upon receiving an invoice. 
 
 
  

-525-

Item G.2.r. 



City of Waterloo, Iowa 
 
 
BY:  
______________________________________ 

Quentin Hart, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:  
__________________________________ 
 Kelley Felchle, City Clerk 
 
 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
 
BY:  
______________________________________ 

James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
____________________________________ 
 Jacqueline Danielsen, City Clerk 
 

 

-526-

Item G.2.r. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  
 
 
  
 
 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council 
 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: City of Cedar Falls FFY19-23 Community Development Block Grant and  
  HOME Consortium Consolidated Plan and Analysis of Impediments to  
  Fair Housing 
 
Federal regulations require that communities receiving federal funds from the U.S. 
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) develop a Consolidated Plan and 
an Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing every five years.  The Consolidated Plan is 
HUD’s attempt to streamline the application process for various federal funds and 
coordinate strategies of local organizations geared toward community development and 
housing.  This requirement applies to both Community Development Block Grant funds and 
HOME funds the City receives as a part of the Waterloo-Cedar Falls HOME Consortium.  
The Five Year Consolidated Plan serves as the City of Cedar Falls FY2020-FY2024 
(Federal Fiscal Years 2019-2023) Community Development Block Grant application and as 
the Waterloo-Cedar Falls HOME Consortium application.  Since the CDBG Consolidated 
Annual Plan has the same requirements as the HOME Consolidated Plan, Cedar Falls is 
able to use the same Plan for both programs.  
 
In June, the City distributed a Request for Proposals to 12 firms.  Two firms submitted 
proposals:  INRCOG (in collaboration with the Institute for Decision Making and City of 
Waterloo) for a total of $20,000 and Mullin and Lonergan Associates ($33,275).  Staff 
recommends INRCOG because they are local, it is a lower cost, and they have experience 
working in CDBG and HOME programs.  
 
Since the Five Year Consolidated Plan is required to meet the HOME Consortium 
requirements, Waterloo has agreed to pay $8,333 and Cedar Falls will cover $11,667.00 of 
the contract utilizing Housing Choice Voucher and Community Development Block Grant 
funds. 
  
The Community Development Department recommends City Council adopt a resolution 
approving and authorizing execution of a contract with INRCOG to complete the Five Year 
Consolidated Plan and Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing for FFY19-23 (City FY20-
24).  
 
If you have any questions, please contact me.   
     
xc:  Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

-527-

Item G.2.s. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls  
220 Clay Street  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

Administration Division  Planning & Community Services Division 
Phone: 319-273-8600  Fax: 319-273-8610 

 

Engineering Division  Inspection Services Division 
Phone: 319-268-5161  Fax: 319-268-5197 

 

Water Reclamation Division 
Phone: 319-273-8633  Fax: 319-268-5566 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
This Agreement is made and entered by and between ___the Iowa Northland Regional Council of 
Governments (INRCOG) _____, ____229 East Park Avenue, Waterloo, Iowa 50703____, hereinafter 
referred to as “CONSULTANT" and City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereinafter 
referred to as "CLIENT.” 
 
IN CONSIDERATION of the covenants hereinafter set forth, the parties hereto mutually agree as follows: 
 
I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall perform professional Services (the "Services") in connection with CLIENT's 

facilities in accordance with the Scope of Services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto. 
 
II.  CONSULTANT'S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CONSULTANT shall, subject to the terms and provisions of this Agreement: 
  
 (a) Appoint one or more individuals who shall be authorized to act on behalf of CONSULTANT 

and with whom CLIENT may consult at all reasonable times, and whose instructions, 
requests, and decisions will be binding upon CONSULTANT as to all matters pertaining to 
this Agreement and the performance of the parties hereunder. 

 
 (b) Use all reasonable efforts to complete the Services within the time period mutually agreed 

upon, except for reasons beyond its control, as set forth in Exhibit A. 
 
 (c) Perform the Services in accordance with generally accepted professional grant 

administrative standards in existence at the time of performance of the Services. If during 
the two year period following the completion of Services, it is shown that there is an error in 
the Services solely as a result of CONSULTANT's failure to meet these standards, 
CONSULTANT shall re-perform such substandard Services as may be necessary to 
remedy such error at no cost to CLIENT. Since CONSULTANT has no control over local 
conditions, the cost of labor and materials, or over competitive bidding and market 
conditions, CONSULTANT does not guarantee the accuracy of any construction cost 

 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 
CDBG Entitlement Program: Five-Year Consolidated Plan Update 

(FFY 2019-2023) 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BL-000-3170  
 

-528-

Item G.2.s. 



estimates as compared to contractor's bids or the actual cost to the CLIENT. 
CONSULTANT makes no other warranties either express or implied and the parties’ rights, 
liabilities, responsibilities and remedies with respect to the quality of Services, including 
claims alleging negligence, breach of warranty and breach of contract, shall be exclusively 
those set forth herein. 

 
 (d) CONSULTANT shall, if requested in writing by CLIENT, for the protection of CLIENT, 

require from all vendors and subcontractors from which CONSULTANT procures 
equipment, materials or services for the project, guarantees with respect to such 
equipment, materials and services. All such guarantees shall be made available to CLIENT 
to the full extent of the terms thereof. CONSULTANT's liability with respect to such 
equipment, and materials obtained from vendors or services from subcontractors, shall be 
limited to procuring guarantees from such vendors or subcontractors and rendering all 
reasonable assistance to CLIENT for the purpose of enforcing the same. 

 
(e) CONSULTANT will be providing estimates of costs to the CLIENT covering an extended 

period of time. CONSULTANT does not have control over any such costs, including, but not 
limited to, costs of labor, material, equipment or services furnished by others or over 
competitive bidding, marketing or negotiating conditions, or construction contractors’ 
methods of determining their prices. Accordingly, it is acknowledged and understood that 
any estimates, projections or opinions of probable project costs provided herein by 
CONSULTANT are estimates only, made on the basis of CONSULTANT’s experience and 
represent CONSULTANT’s reasonable judgment as a qualified professional. 
CONSULTANT does not guarantee that proposals, bids or actual project costs will not vary 
from the opinions of probable costs prepared by CONSULTANT, and the CLIENT waives 
any and all claims that it may have against CONSULTANT as a result of any such variance.  

 
III. CLIENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
 
 CLIENT shall at such times as may be required for the successful and expeditious completion of the 

Services: 
 
 (a) Provide all criteria and information as to CLIENT’s requirements; obtain all necessary 

approvals and permits required from all governmental authorities having jurisdiction over 
the project; and designate a person with authority to act on CLIENT’s behalf on all matters 
concerning the Services. 

  
 (b) Furnish to CONSULTANT all existing studies, reports and other available data pertinent to 

the Services, and obtain additional reports, data and services as may be required for the 
project. CONSULTANT shall be entitled to rely upon all such information, data and the 
results of such other services in performing its Services hereunder. 

 
IV. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
  

The provisions of the document entitled, "Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of 
Cedar Falls," dated December 13, 2011 as revised January 31, 2017 consisting of 11 pages, 
which are attached hereto, marked Exhibit B, are hereby made a part of this Agreement as if set 
out word for word herein. 
  
CONSULTANT shall furnish to CLIENT a certificate or certificates of insurance containing all 
coverages, endorsements and other provisions required by the Insurance Requirements set forth 
in Exhibit B. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of Exhibit B and the other terms of 
this Agreement, the provisions of Exhibit B shall control. 
 

 CONSULTANT shall obtain and maintain an insurance policy or policies that meet the provisions 
set out in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, attached hereto 

-529-

Item G.2.s. 



and marked Exhibit B. 
 
V. STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN CONTRACTORS WHO 

PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
 The provisions of the documents entitled “Standard Terms and Conditions for Contracts Between 

Contractors Who Perform Professional Services and the City of Cedar Falls,” consisting of three 
pages are incorporated into this Agreement by the Client and attached as Exhibit C. 

 
 
VI. COMPENSATION AND TERMS OF PAYMENT 
 
 Compensation for the services shall be on a not-to-exceed basis in accordance with agency fees 

and other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed. The total cost for 
services provided under this agreement is $20,000 and is broken-down into the following 
elements: public participation and consultation shall not exceed $8,500; needs assessment and 
market analysis shall not exceed $10,000; and formal public input, adoption, and submittal 
expenses shall not exceed $1,500.  However, the City of Cedar Falls shall only be responsible for 
$11,667 of the total cost, as the City of Waterloo is providing $8,333, under a separate 
Memorandum of Understanding, directly to INRCOG for a portion of the services outlined in this 
agreement. 
 
CONSULTANT may bill the CLIENT monthly for services completed at the time of billing. CLIENT 
agrees to pay CONSULTANT the full amount of such invoice within thirty (30) days after receipt 
thereof. In the event CLIENT disputes any invoice item, CLIENT shall give CONSULTANT written 
notice of such disputed item within ten (10) days after receipt of invoice and shall pay to 
CONSULTANT the undisputed portion of the invoice according to the provisions hereof. CLIENT 
agrees to abide by any applicable statutory prompt pay provisions currently in effect. 

 
VII. TERMINATION 
 
 CLIENT may, with or without cause, terminate the Services at any time upon fourteen (14) days 

written notice to CONSULTANT. The obligation to provide further Services under this Agreement 
may be terminated by either party upon fourteen (14) days' written notice in the event of substantial 
failure by the other party to perform in accordance with the terms hereof through no fault of the 
terminating party, providing such defaulting party has not cured such failure, or, in the event of a 
non-monetary default, commenced reasonable actions to cure such failure. In either case, 
CONSULTANT will be paid for all expenses incurred and Services rendered to the date of the 
termination in accordance with compensation terms of Article VI. 

 
VIII. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS 
 

(a) Bid documents, specifications, final project specific calculations, plans, reports, and other 
instruments of service which CONSULTANT prepares and delivers to CLIENT pursuant to 
this Agreement shall become the property of CLIENT when CONSULTANT has been 
compensated for Services rendered. CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments 
of service solely for the purpose of the benefiting the CDBG Entitlement Program. Any 
other use or reuse of original or altered files shall be at CLIENT’s sole risk without liability or 
legal exposure to CONSULTANT and CLIENT agrees to release, defend and hold 
CONSULTANT harmless from and against all claims or suits asserted against 
CONSULTANT in the event such documents are used for a purpose different than originally 
prepared even though such claims or suits may be based on allegations of negligence by 
CONSULTANT. Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed as limiting or 
depriving CONSULTANT of its rights to use its basic knowledge and skills to design or 
carry out other projects or work for itself or others, whether or not such other projects or 
work are similar to the work to be performed pursuant to this Agreement. 

-530-

Item G.2.s. 



 
(b) Any files delivered in electronic medium may not work on systems and software different 

than those with which they were originally produced and CONSULTANT makes no 
warranty as to the compatibility of these files with any other system or software. Because of 
the potential degradation of electronic medium over time, in the event of a conflict between 
the original documents and the electronic files, the original documents will govern. 

 
IX. MEANS AND METHODS 
 

(a) CONSULTANT shall not have control or charge of and shall not be responsible for 
construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety 
measures and programs including enforcement of Federal and State safety requirements, 
in connection with construction work performed by CLIENT's construction contractors. Nor 
shall CONSULTANT be responsible for the supervision of CLIENT's construction 
contractors, subcontractors or of any of their employees, agents and representatives of 
such contractors; or for inspecting machinery, construction equipment and tools used and 
employed by contractors and subcontractors on CLIENT's construction projects and shall 
not have the right to stop or reject work without the thorough evaluation and approval of the 
CLIENT. In no event shall CONSULTANT be liable for the acts or omissions of CLIENT's 
construction contractors, subcontractors or any persons or entities performing any of the 
construction work, or for the failure of any of them to carry out construction work under 
contracts with CLIENT. 

 
X. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR 
 
 CONSULTANT shall be an independent contractor with respect to the Services to be performed 

hereunder. Neither CONSULTANT nor its subcontractors, nor the employees of either, shall be 
deemed to be the servants, employees, or agents of CLIENT. 

 
XI. PRE-EXISTING CONDITIONS 
 
 Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, CONSULTANT shall have no legal responsibility or 

liability for any and all pre-existing contamination. "Pre-existing contamination" is any hazardous or 
toxic substance present at the site or sites concerned which was not brought onto such site or sites 
by CONSULTANT. CLIENT agrees to release CONSULTANT from and against any and all liability 
to the CLIENT which may in any manner arise in any way directly or indirectly caused by such pre-
existing contamination except if such liability arises from CONSULTANT's sole negligence or willful 
misconduct. 

 
 CLIENT shall, at CLIENT’s sole expense and risk, arrange for handling, storage, transportation, 

treatment and delivery for disposal of pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall be solely 
responsible for obtaining a disposal site for such material. CLIENT shall look to the disposal facility 
and/or transporter for any responsibility or liability arising from improper disposal or transportation of 
such waste. CONSULTANT shall not have or exert any control over CLIENT in CLIENT’s 
obligations or responsibilities as a generator in the storage, transportation, treatment or disposal of 
any pre-existing contamination. CLIENT shall complete and execute any governmentally required 
forms relating to regulated activities including, but not limited to generation, storage, handling, 
treatment, transportation, or disposal of pre-existing contamination.  

 
 For CONSULTANT's Services requiring drilling, boring, excavation or soils sampling, CLIENT shall 

approve selection of the contractors to perform such services, all site locations, and provide 
CONSULTANT with all necessary information regarding the presence of underground hazards, 
utilities, structures and conditions at the site.  
 
 
 

-531-

Item G.2.s. 



XII. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 
 
 If a dispute arises out of, or relates to, the breach of this Agreement and if the dispute cannot be 

settled through negotiation, then the CONSULTANT and the CLIENT agree to submit the dispute to 
mediation. In the event CONSULTANT or the CLIENT desires to mediate any dispute, that party 
shall notify the other party in writing of the dispute desired to be mediated. If the parties are unable 
to resolve their differences within 10 days of the receipt of such notice, such dispute shall be 
submitted for mediation in accordance with the procedures and rules of the American Arbitration 
Association (or any successor organization) then in effect. The deadline for submitting the dispute 
to mediation can be changed if the parties mutually agree in writing to extend the time between 
receipt of notice and submission to mediation. The expenses of the mediator shall be shared 50 
percent by CONSULTANT and 50 percent by the CLIENT. This requirement to seek mediation shall 
be a condition required before filing an action at law or in equity. However, prior to or during the 
negotiations or the mediation either party may initiate litigation that would otherwise be barred by a 
statute of limitations, and CONSULTANT may pursue any property liens or other rights it may have 
to obtain security for the payment of its invoices. 

 
 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa and any action at law or other 

judicial proceeding arising from this Agreement shall be instituted in Black Hawk County District 
Court, Waterloo, Iowa. 

 
XIII. MISCELLANEOUS 
 
 (a) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties hereto and 

supersedes any oral or written representations, understandings, proposals, or 
communications heretofore entered into by or on account of the parties and may not be 
changed, modified, or amended except in writing signed by the parties hereto. In the event 
of any conflict between this contract document and any of the exhibits hereto, the terms 
and conditions of Exhibit C shall control. In the event of any conflict among the exhibits, 
Exhibit C shall control. 

 
 (b) This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Iowa. 
 
 (c) CONSULTANT may subcontract any portion of the Services to a subcontractor approved 

by CLIENT. In no case shall CLIENT's approval of any subcontract relieve CONSULTANT 
of any of its obligations under this Agreement.  

 
 (d) In the event CLIENT uses a purchase order form to administer this Agreement, the use of 

such form shall be for convenience purposes only, and any typed provision in conflict with 
the terms of this Agreement and all preprinted terms and conditions contained in or on such 
forms shall be deemed stricken and null and void. 

 
 (e) This Agreement gives no rights or benefits to anyone other than CLIENT and 

CONSULTANT and does not create any third party beneficiaries to the Agreement. 
 

(f) Except as may be explicitly set forth above, nothing contained in this Agreement or its 
exhibits limits the rights and remedies, including remedies related to damages, of either 
party that are available to either party under the law. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written 
below. 
 
 
 
 
 

-532-

Item G.2.s. 



APPROVED FOR CLIENT  APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT 
 
 
By:  By:  
 
 
Printed Name:  __James P. Brown________  Printed Name:          Kevin Blanshan        
 
 
Title: __Mayor of Cedar Falls  Title:        INRCOG Executive Director                       
 
 
Date:  Date:  

-533-

Item G.2.s. 



 
CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
    

Exhibit A 
 

CDBG Entitlement Program: Five-Year Consolidated Plan Update  
(FFY 2019-2023) 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BL-000-3170  
 

   
 
INRCOG Request for Proposals Response is Attached and Integrated in to 
Exhibit A. 
  

-534-

Item G.2.s. 



 
CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 

  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
 

-535-

Item G.2.s. 



 

 

  PROPOSAL: 

Professional Services  
for the  
City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

Community Development Block 
Grant (CDBG) Entitlement Program  

FFY 2019-2023 
Five-Year Consolidated Plan 

and  

FFY 2019 Annual Action Plan 

 

Submitted by: 
Iowa Northland Regional  
Council of Governments 
229 E. Park Ave. 
Waterloo, IA  50703 
319.235.0311 
 

-536-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  1  
 

PROPOSAL 

FIVE-YEAR CONSOLIDATED PLAN AND FEDERAL FISCAL YEAR 2019 ANNUAL ACTION PLAN 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

OVERVIEW 

In response to a June 5, 2018, Request for Proposals, the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments 
(INRCOG), in partnership with the City of Waterloo’s Community Development Department and the University of 
Northern Iowa’s Institute for Decision Making (IDM), is proposing to develop the City of Cedar Falls’ elements of the 
Five-Year Consolidated Plan (Federal Fiscal Years 2019-2023) and Federal Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Action Plan, as 
may be required and funded through the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Entitlement Program and 
governed by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development.  INRCOG will serve as the lead agency for this 
proposal as well as implementation thereof, should our proposal be chosen and a subsequent contract executed. 
 

STATEMENT OF QUALIFICATIONS 

CONSOLIDATED PLAN AND PUBLIC INPUT EXPERIENCE 

Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (Project Lead) 

INRCOG is a public agency created under Chapter 28E of the Iowa Code and serves a six-county area. The City of 
Cedar Falls is a member in good standing and our staff has built a solid relationship with the City’s staff. INRCOG is 
located in close proximity to Cedar Falls and is very familiar with the community including its infrastructure, services, 
and its elected and appointed officials.   

Our agency is proud of the working relationships that have been built with numerous federal and state 
departments, as we have administered numerous programs on behalf of our local government members. Included 
amongst those agencies are the US Department of Commerce, Economic Development Administration; US 
Department of Agriculture; Federal Highway and Federal Transit Administrations; Federal Emergency Management 
Agency; Iowa Economic Development Authority; Iowa Department of Transportation; Iowa Department of Natural 
Resources; Iowa Homeland Security and Emergency Management; and the Iowa Finance Authority. INRCOG also 
provides staff and oversight for several regional bodies including the Black Hawk County Metropolitan 
Transportation Organization; Regional Transportation Authority; Regional Transit Commission; Regional Economic 
Development Commission; and Regional Housing Council.  Further, our agency has acted as the procurement and 
fiscal agent for multi-county emergency management regions. Through our work, our agency has developed 
relationships with several non-profit organizations, including administration of housing-related grants which involves 
working directly with several entities such as The Salvation Army, Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity, Cedar Valley 
Friends of the Family, Operation Threshold, Exceptional Persons, Inc., Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging, 
Northeast Iowa Community Action Corporation, Community Based Services, and House of Hope. 

City of Waterloo-Community Development Department 

The Waterloo Community Development Department has over 40 years of successful grant administration. 
Specifically, the Department has administered Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) funds since 1976 and 
the HOME Investment Partnership Program since 1995. In the last five years, the Department has administered over 
$5,755,317 in CDBG funds and $4,146,012 in HOME funds.  Waterloo Community Development has also recently 
worked with state and federal funds from the 2008 Flood Disaster Recovery efforts and also with the Neighborhood 
Stabilization Program.  Most recently, the Department was awarded a Lead-Based Paint Hazard Control Program 
though HUD.  

-537-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  2  
 

The Department’s mission has been to use federally-funded programs and grants to develop a viable community by 
assisting in providing safe and sanitary housing; supporting and expanding economic development opportunities 
that grow into employment opportunities; continuing to address and prevent slum and blight; and pursuing any 
other potential opportunities that may assist the community.  In order to support the mission, Waterloo Community 
Development works closely with local officials and agencies within the Cedar Valley to provide assistance with the 
dispersal and utilization of HUD funds.  The Department also works to identify long-term needs and issues that may 
affect the community.  Specifically, the Department has fostered relationships with agencies including The Salvation 
Army, Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity, Operation Threshold, Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging, and a 
variety of similar organizations.  

The Institute for Decision Making 
The Institute for Decision Making is the economic and community development outreach unit of Business and 
Community Services at the University of Northern Iowa. Since 1987, IDM has been a trusted partner and resource 
for over 800 economic and community development organizations in Iowa and beyond. IDM services include 
tailored, innovative, and consensus-based communitywide and organizational planning; community and economic 
development-focused technical assistance; applied research; and training to Iowans concerned about their 
community’s economic vitality. IDM’s applied research and input-based focus provides communities, non-profits 
and economic development groups with valuable insights to help them base their decisions, planning, and actions 
on good information, expertly communicated for practical applications in community and economic development. 

Project Approach 

INRCOG and its partners have extensive planning, public input, and CDBG/HOME management experience, as 
administered by the US Department of Housing and Urban Development.  Specifically, all three partners will be 
involved in the process to varying degrees.  INRCOG will coordinate the overall project.  Relying on its public 
engagement and research experience, IDM will conduct the Public Participation and Consultation Element.  For 
obvious reasons, the other partners will attend and participate in the process.  INRCOG will collect and assemble the 
Needs Assessment and Market Analysis Element and develop the Strategic Plan and first year Annual Action Plan.  
The information generated throughout the process will then be provided to the City of Waterloo who will be 
responsible for the format and framework of the Consolidated Plan itself and include both jurisdictions’ needs. 

Currently, INRCOG is preparing Consolidated Plan amendments and Annual Action Plans for the City of Cedar Falls.  
In addition, the City of Waterloo has developed Consolidated and Annual Action Plans for their CDBG Entitlement 
and HOME Programs for decades.  As a result, both entities have a keen awareness of the associated regulations 
and requirements of the programs.  Specifically, our team will utilize HUD Checklists for developing both the 
Consolidated and Annual Action Plans. 

The partners in this proposal are carrying a number of projects at various stages of completion, and the team is 
accustomed to managing multiple important projects at one time.  To ensure that the proposed Plans and processes 
are completed in a timely fashion, a detailed timeline has been included in this document.  Further, we would 
propose monthly meetings between the City and the partners to discuss progress and upcoming milestones.  Finally, 
because our team understands that funding for the City’s Entitlement Program is directly tied to completion of 
these documents, it is imperative that the rigid deadlines established by HUD be met.  Our partners fully recognize 
that the Entitlement Funds provide services and offer funding for housing improvements that Cedar Falls residents 
rely upon.  To that end, our team is committed to providing a quality planning product and experience that satisfies 
not only the HUD requirements but meets the City’s expectations.  

As the Public Participation and Consultation element states, we will strive to build consensus around the housing 
and community development initiatives and concepts identified during the planning process.  Our team will research 
and identify unique approaches to implementing the City’s goals for this program which will then be introduced to 
participants during the public participation effort.  Our proposal includes a robust input process that includes face-
to-face opportunities and an online survey.  Finally, our project will adhere to the current June 2009 Citizen 
Participation Plan, using it as a guide for the formal public input and adoption processes expected at the end of the 
timeframe outlined in this proposal. 

  

-538-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  3  
 

PRIMARY STAFF MEMBERS 

The primary contacts for this proposal and program are 

• INRCOG (Project Lead): Brian Schoon, AICP, Director of Development (bschoon@inrcog.org);  

• City of Waterloo: Rudy Jones, Community Development Director (rudy.jones@waterloo-ia.org); Angie Fordyce, 
CDBG and HOME Coordinator (angie.fordyce@waterloo-ia.org); Maggie Heretakis, Community Development 
Project Specialist (maggie.heretakis@waterloo-ia.org) 

• IDM: Drew Conrad, IDM Director (andrew.conrad@uni.edu); Karla Organist, Program Manager 
(karla.organist@uni.edu); and Cindy Angel, Research Manager (cindy.angel@uni.edu).   

Brian Schoon, AICP, a member of the American Institute of Certified Planners, has been employed by INRCOG since 
September 1991 and is currently serving as the Director of Development. His responsibilities include supervision, 
project administration, budget oversight, and planning functions associated with INRCOG’s housing, planning, and 
economic development efforts, including numerous CDBG projects funded by the Iowa Economic Development 
Authority (IEDA).  Schoon also oversees the Iowa Northland Regional Housing Council and its local Housing Trust 
Fund and staffs the Waterloo Housing Trust Fund and its financial programs. He is currently providing planning 
services to the City of Cedar Falls, including updating the Consolidated and Annual Action Plans related to its current 
HUD CDBG Entitlement Program. Schoon has a Bachelors’ degree in Landscape Design from South Dakota State 
University and a Masters’ degree in Community and Regional Planning from Iowa State University. 
Rudy Jones brings extensive experience, having worked as Waterloo’s Community Development Director since 2002. 
Jones has worked on developing and establishing policies and programs related to community development, 
housing issues, neighborhood renewal, and the implementation of Community Development Block Grants and the 
HOME Investment Partnership Program. Jones has also provided assistance with grant applications, including the 
Lead-based Paint Hazard Control and Lead Hazard Reduction grant, along with their implementation. Jones assisted 
with the successful completion of the 2008 Flood Disaster Recovery efforts and the Neighborhood Stabilization 
Program 3, with both programs providing housing project redevelopments. Jones is active in the community and a 
member of multiple foundations as a board member, including the Community Foundation of Northeast Iowa, the 
Otto Schoitz Foundation, and the Waterloo Housing Trust Fund. Jones received his Bachelors’ degree in Business 
Administration-Management from North Carolina Agricultural & Technical State University. 

Angie Fordyce has been employed with the Waterloo Community Development since September 2017. Fordyce 
administers the Community Development Block Grant Program and the HOME Investment Partnership Program. 
Fordyce also prepares grant applications and sub-recipient agreements and monitors those activities.  Fordyce 
assists with the coordination of planning, acquisition, relocation, housing rehabilitation, demolition, and other such 
activities within Waterloo, in addition to acting as a liaison with Federal, State, and other government agencies and 
organizations. Fordyce has fourteen years of housing experience, with previous experience administrating the Cedar 
Falls Housing Choice Voucher Program and the Community Development Block Grant Program, reporting the Annual 
Action Plan, and preparing the CAPER as required by HUD. Fordyce has experience with the Evansdale Municipal 
Housing Authority, administrating the city’s Section 8 and Public Housing Programs in addition to other work for the 
municipality. Fordyce has extensive licenses and certificates and is trained in the use of many of the HUD Online 
Systems, including EIV, PIC, IDIS, SPEARS, LOCCS, and HHGMS. Fordyce has completed degrees from Hawkeye 
Community College in Accounting and followed with additional degrees in Finance and Banking. 
Maggie Heretakis has been employed with the Waterloo Community Development department since August of 
2017. Her current responsibilities include preparing Waterloo’s Analysis of Impediments and assisting with preparing 
Waterloo’s 5-Year Consolidated Plan, in addition to other daily activities. Currently Heretakis is a member of the 
Waterloo Housing Trust Fund, attends the Black Hawk County Local Homeless Coordinating Board, and the Walnut 
Neighborhood Coalition meetings.  Heretakis comes to Waterloo from Lebanon, New Hampshire where she worked 
as a City Planner, reviewing site development and subdivision applications, as well as assisting the Heritage 
Commission and the Pedestrian and Bicyclist Advisory Committee, and was a member of the Upper Valley 
Transportation Management Association. Heretakis assisted with the management of Safe Routes to School Grants 
awarded by the NH DOT, including meeting with firms, preparing bids, and running community meetings. Heretakis 
worked with the Planning Office organizing public meetings to gather community input on various city projects. 

-539-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  4  
 

Heretakis graduated with a Bachelors’ degree in Geography and Russian Language from Middlebury College and 
attended the University of Kansas for a Masters’ degree in Geography. 
Drew Conrad, CEcD, CERP, EGc(MR) is Director of the Institute for Decision Making, the community and economic 
development outreach program within Business and Community Services at the University of Northern Iowa.  He 
has over 25 years of experience in facilitating strategic planning and regional economic research in communities and 
local and regional economic development organizations.  He designs, delivers, and provides follow-up support for 
economic development services including strategic and short-term planning, community assessments, workforce 
assessments, cluster analysis and target industry analysis and other applied research projects.  Drew has worked on 
collaborative projects with Iowa Workforce Development, Iowa economic Development Authority, the U.S. 
Economic Development Administration, the Center for Regional Economic Competitiveness and the Council for 
Community and Economic Research (C2ER).  Drew is a Certified Economic Developer (CEcD), a Certified Economic 
Research Professional (CERP) and holds an Economic Gardening Professional Certification in Market Research 
(EGc(MR)).  Drew is a graduate of the Economic Development Institute and has earned a BA in American 
History/Pre-Law and a Masters’ degree in Public Policy (MPP). 

Karla Organist is a Program Manager for the Institute for Decision Making (IDM) at the University of Northern Iowa.  
In her role as program manager, she assists communities and economic development organizations with strategic 
planning and programming needs.  Prior to joining IDM, Karla worked for a Council of Governments representing a 
five-county area in Northeast Iowa where she served as the economic development coordinator for Fayette County 
and as senior planner for the entire service area.  Karla was responsible for all aspects of economic development for 
the county and its 11 communities, including business attraction, retention and expansion, entrepreneurial 
development, community development, and workforce development.  As a senior planner, Karla led numerous 
community and stakeholder engagement meetings, and facilitated the completion of several plans and studies, 
including comprehensive plans, housing studies, hazard mitigation plans, and transportation plans.  Karla has 
additional work experience as a business consultant and financial trainer for childcare businesses, entrepreneurial 
experience as a small business owner, and has worked in mortgage banking and elementary school teaching.  Karla 
holds a Bachelor of Arts in Elementary Education from Luther College and Master’s Degree in Community 
Development from Iowa State University. 

Cindy Angel is a Research Manager for the Institute for Decision Making.  She is responsible for completing a variety 
of primary and secondary community and economic development research projects including Target Industry 
Analysis studies, economic impact analysis reports, community assessments, cluster analysis studies, demographic 
profiles, community metrics reports, and the Iowa Business Council’s Competitive Index.  She also coordinates data 
collection for the state of Iowa for the Location One Information system (LOIS). As a part of some of these projects, 
Cindy conducts focus groups and interviews stakeholders to gather qualitative data.  Cindy holds a BA in Marketing 
and Master’s in Business Administration (MBA), is a Certified Economic Research Professional (CERP), a Certified 
Market Research Specialist in Economic Gardening (EGc(MR)) and teaches marketing courses in UNI’s College of 
Business Administration. 

DETAILED PROJECT APPROACH AND WORK PLAN ELEMENTS 

A. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AND CONSULTATION 

The process for public participation will be designed to encourage and maximize public participation in the 
development of a new 5-Year Consolidated Plan and FFY2020 Annual Action Plan for the City of Cedar Falls.  The 
process will place an emphasis on encouraging participation by residents of public and assisted housing 
developments, low income residents of targeted revitalization areas, partner agencies, and other appropriate 
organizations including businesses, developers, community-based organizations and faith-based organizations.  The 
process will be designed to ensure meaningful participation by persons with disabilities and non-English speaking 
residents of Cedar Falls.  A variety of public involvement techniques and approaches will be utilized to gather citizen 
and stakeholder input including focus groups, a web-based survey, and public meetings.  The consulting team will 

-540-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  5  
 

work with City staff to ensure the public participation process complies with the City’s Citizen Participation Plan and 
the Code of Federal Regulations (24 CFR 91). 
Task A1: Finalizing the Process for Public Participation 

Timeline:  September 2018 

The consulting team will meet with City staff and the Housing Commission to finalize the appropriate strategies, 
activities, and timelines for the public participation process.  These discussions will help ensure the appropriate 
target audiences are identified, that useful input will be obtained to support the development of a new 
consolidated plan, and the input process is completed in an appropriate timeframe.  The discussions will also 
help ensure the appropriate timing for the required public comment periods and public hearings.  A plan will be 
developed that outlines key actions, dates, and assignment of responsibility. 

Deliverable:  Public Participation Process timeline and action plan. 

Task A2: Gathering input from Agencies and Related Stakeholders 

Timeline:  September – October 2018 
The consulting team will work with City staff and the Housing Commission to finalize the list of local public 
agencies, nonprofit organizations and other appropriate stakeholders that should be invited to participate in 
focus group sessions and, if necessary, individual interviews.  They will also determine the appropriate locations 
and dates/times for the focus group sessions.  Invitations will be extended to the identified groups.  
The focus group session design will be developed by the consulting team with input from City staff and the 
Housing Commission.  The purpose of the sessions is to identify current trends and issues impacting the 
participating organizations and the community, and to gain insight into the agencies’ and nonprofits’ 
organizational priorities.  The focus group sessions will be facilitated by the consulting team with City staff 
participating where appropriate.  If a key stakeholder is not able to participate in the focus group sessions, an 
individual interview will be scheduled.  The consulting team will also meet with City staff to discuss current 
trends and issues and their organizational priorities.  Input received during the focus group sessions and 
interviews will be documented and summarized by the consulting team.  

Deliverable:  Focus Group Sessions Summary Report. 

Task A3:  Gathering input from Residents and Organizations in the Broader Community 

Timeline:  September – October 2018 
A web-based survey will be utilized to gather input from Cedar Falls residents and organizations in the broader 
community such as businesses, developers, community-based organizations, and faith-based organizations.  
The consulting team will develop the survey instrument with input from City staff and the Housing Commission.  
Where necessary, alternative survey options (i.e. paper survey) will be developed to accommodate persons 
with disabilities and non-English speaking residents.   

Appropriate marketing strategies will be developed to encourage participation by residents of public and 
assisted housing developments and low- and moderate-income residents of targeted revitalization areas.  
Potential strategies include using social media, collaborating with local organizations serving target audiences, 
public service announcements, newspaper articles, organizational newsletters, and the City’s existing 
communication channels to residents and businesses. 

The consulting team will administer the implementation of the survey.  Once the survey is closed, the team will 
organize and analyze the survey data and develop a survey summary report. 

Deliverable:  Survey Summary Report. 

Task A4:  Public Comment Process  
Timeline:  September 2018 – April 2019 

The consulting team will work with City staff and the Housing Commission to schedule, promote, and 
implement the required public comment periods and public hearings for the consolidated plan process.  Formal, 
required public input is outlined in element “D” of this proposal. 

  

-541-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  6  
 

B. NEEDS ASSESSMENT AND MARKET ANALYSIS 

The following tasks and milestones will be completed as part of the needs and market assessments. 
Task B1: Data Collection and Sources 

Timeline: September 2018 – Conclusion of the Project 

From the beginning of the project, the team will be collecting and assembling housing data specific to the City 
of Cedar Falls.  Our product will use and analyze public and private sector data relative to housing.  In addition 
to what is available from public sources such as HUD, Census, American Community Survey, and the City, the 
team will request Multiple Listing Service (MLS) information either through their online systems or from a 
subscribing member of the organization. 

Task B2: Assembling Information 

Timeline: September – December 2018 

As part of providing information that will be included in the Consolidated Plan, the data and supporting 
technical documentation shall be user-friendly and presented in a format that can be uploaded to the 
Integrated Disbursement and Information System (IDIS).  This proposal anticipates providing the following: 

• City Demographic Analysis, including population and housing projections 

• Economic Analysis 

• Housing Market Analysis (Owner and Rental Occupied Units) 

o Supply 
o Demand 

o Condition 

o Cost and Affordability 

• Housing needs will be measured using local input and federal guidance (24 CFR 91.205) 

• Housing market analysis will be completed per 24 CFR 91.210 

• Analysis of impediments to fair housing choice 
Task B3: Integration of Information into the Consolidated Plan 

Timeline: October – December 2018 
As elements of the needs assessment and market analysis are completed, they will be provided to the City of 
Waterloo for integration into Consolidated Plan. 

C. STRATEGIC PLAN AND FIRST YEAR (FFY 2020) ANNUAL ACTION PLAN 

Task C1: Develop Strategic Plan (5-Year) 

Timeline: October – December 2018 

Using information garnered from public input, staff guidance, and analyzed data, a 5-Year Strategic Plan for the 
City, relative to housing and the CDBG Entitlement Program, will be drafted.  Within the Strategic Plan, goals, 
objectives, and action steps will be developed that are tailored to the community.  In addition to housing 
supply, demand, needs, and programs, the plan will address homelessness in the community.  This effort will be 
consistent with 24 CFR 91.215 and 91.220. 

As directed by the City, our team will look at new or innovative programs and uses for the CDBG Entitlement 
funds.  This will include, but not limited to infrastructure improvements, transportation equity, Housing 
Voucher Programs, addressing severely deteriorated and dilapidated housing, sidewalk infill, and utility program 

expansions.   
  

-542-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  7  
 

Task C2: Develop Federal Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Action Plan (AAP) 

Timeline: December 2018 – January 2019 
From the Strategic Planning process, our representatives will work with City staff and the Housing Commission 
to identify first year priority projects that can be included in the Federal Fiscal Year 2019 Annual Action Plan.  
The US Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) Entitlement Action Plan (AAP) Checklist will be 
used to ensure that necessary elements are included in the AAP.  Our team will also complete the necessary 
submission form(s) (SF 424 and SF 424D) and provide them, along with the adopted AAP, to the City for 
uploading into the Integrated Disbursement and Information System (IDIS).  The uploading process will be 
accomplished by the City, through their access account. 

Task C3: Integration into the Consolidated Plan 
Timeline: Ongoing 

As the Strategic Plan is developed, elements will be integrated into the framework of the Consolidated Plan.  
Similar to the FFY 2019 Annual Action Plan discussed in the prior task, the draft Plan will follow the US 
Department of Housing and Urban Development’s (HUD) Entitlement Consolidated Plan Checklist. 

D. FORMAL PUBLIC INPUT, ADOPTION, SUBMITTAL PROCESS (CONSOLIDATED AND ANNUAL 

ACTION PLANS) 

Task D1: Citizen Participation Process (Outlined by the City’s Participation Plan) 
Timeline: February – April 2019 

• Housing Commission Meetings.  In addition to the Public Participation and Consultation Process (Element A 
above), Commission meetings will offer an opportunity for the public to provide input into the planning 
process.  A minimum of two Commission meetings will be used to mark the formal public input process 
required by the City’s Public Participation Plan, as outlined below: 

o Meeting #1: Beginning of the required 30-Day Comment Period (Notice to the Public is Advertised Prior to 
30-Day Comment Period) 

o Meeting #2: Closure of the required 30-Day Comment Period 

o Meeting #2: Recommendation of the draft Plans to City Council 

• City Council Meetings.  As the policymaking body, the City Council will be asked to conduct a formal public 
hearing prior to consideration of the documents.  Necessary Council actions will require a minimum of two 
meetings, one to set the public hearing and resolution and a second to conduct the hearing and formally 
consider the resolution, as indicated below. 
o Meeting #1: Setting the Public Hearing on the Draft Plans (Notice to the Public is Advertised Prior to the 

Council Public Hearing) 

o Meeting #2: Conducting the Public Hearing (At the subsequent City Council Meeting) 
o Meeting #2: Adopting each Plan by Resolution 

Task D2: Integration of both Plans into IDIS 

Timeline: April – May 2019 

• City Staff will upload the Plans into the Integrated Disbursement and Information System (IDIS) 
Task D3: Project Conclusion 

Timeline: May 2019 

• Contract closure 
 

 

  

-543-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  8  
 

DETAILED PROJECT SCHEDULE 

Work under this proposal would begin upon selection of our proposal by the City, which is anticipated to be August 
6, 2018, with executing an agreement. Completion would be on or about May 16, 2019, with submittal of the 
Consolidated and Annual Action Plans to HUD. A detailed timeline is presented below. 

Consultant Selection ................................................................................................................................................ 8/6/18 
Contract Execution ................................................................................................................................................. 8/20/18 

Project Begins ........................................................................................................................................................... 9/1/18 

Meet with Cedar Falls Housing Commission ........................................................................................................ 9/11/18 

Resident household survey.................................................................................................................9/15/18 – 10/15/18 
Agencies and Stakeholders Meetings ................................................................................................9/15/18 – 10/15/18 

Development of Draft Plan .............................................................................................................. 10/16/18 – 12/31/18 

Initial Draft Presented to City Staff and Housing Commission .............................................................................. 1/8/19 

Final Draft Completion ........................................................................................................................................... 1/31/19 
Publish Legal Notice for Beginning of 30-day comment period ............................................................................ 2/4/19 

Public Comment Period Begins (Coincides with Housing Commission Meeting) ............................................... 2/12/19 

Public Comment Period Ends (Coincides with Housing Commission Meeting) .................................................  3/12/19 
Housing Commission Recommendation is Made to City Council .......................................................................  3/12/19 

City Council Sets its Public Hearing ......................................................................................................................... 4/1/19 

City Council Public Hearing held and Adoption of the Consolidated and Annual Action Plans ......................... 4/15/19 

Integrate Consolidated and Annual Action Plans into IDIS ................................................................. 4/16/19 – 5/10/19 
Project Completion or Closeout ............................................................................................................................ 5/16/19 

BUDGET  

Included under separate cover. 

DELIVERABLES 

• Original, final Consolidated and Annual Action Plans, formatted in MS Word, will be provided to the City 
• Each Plan, draft and final, will also be provided to the City in Adobe Portable Document Format (PDF) 
• The City is to provide “other” planning documents to our team, including LMI-mapped areas, Comprehensive 

Plan, prior HUD plans, data, and requested IDIS-generated maps 

PROJECT REVIEW 

Once the project is complete, the City, INRCOG, and its partners will meet to review performance with regard to the 
services provided to the City.   

 

 

-544-

Item G.2.s. 



  P a g e  9  
 

REFERENCES 

Our team is proud to offer the following references regarding our performance managing prior projects.  All three 
partners in this proposal have standing, professional relationships with these references and we are confident you 
will find them in order.  The City is welcome to contact any of references listed below.   

 
US Department of Commerce, Economic Development Administration 

Ms. Cindy Edwards, PE, Area Director 

Denver Regional Office 

1244 Speer Boulevard, Suite 431 
Denver, Colorado 80204 

(303) 844-5360 

cedwards@eda.gov 

 
Iowa Economic Development Authority 

Ms. Nichole Hansen, Community Investments Team Leader 

200 East Grand Avenue 
Des Moines, Iowa 50309 

(515) 348-6215 

nichole.hansen@IowaEDA.com 
 
Salvation Army of Waterloo and Cedar Falls 

Ms. Grace Fee, MPA, Social Ministries Coordinator 

89 Franklin Street 

Waterloo, Iowa 50703 
(319) 235-9358 

grace_fee@usc.salvationarmy.org 

RESUMES 

Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) (Project Lead) 

• Brian Schoon 
City of Waterloo: 

• Rudy Jones 
• Angie Fordyce 
• Maggie Heretakis 

University of Northern Iowa, Institute for Decision Making: 

• Andrew Conrad 
• Karla Organist 
• Cindy Angel 

-545-

Item G.2.s. 



 
COST PROPOSAL: 

Professional Services for the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa  
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Entitlement Program  

FFY 2019-2023 Five-Year Consolidated Plan and FFY 2020 Annual Action Plan 

BUDGET  

INRCOG and IDM are prepared to offer public input and planning services at a cost not to exceed $20,000 for the 
proposed grant program, as outlined below. 

A. Public Participation and Consultation ($8,500) (IDM) 

B. Needs Assessment and Market Analysis ($10,000) (INRCOG) 
C. Strategic Plan and First Year (FFY 2019) Annual Action Plan ($0) (include in existing INRCOG contract) 

D. Formal Public Input, Adoption, and Submittal Processes ($1,500) (INRCOG) 

 

If accepted by the City, INRCOG, on behalf of its partners, is willing to negotiate a contract utilizing the City’s standard 
agreement template.  Insurance requirements, as outlined and stipulated by the City, can be met. 

INRCOG will provide monthly invoices to the City for services provided by our team members.  Allowable expenses 
will include staff time and benefits, travel time and expenses, recording, mailing, and other ancillary expenses 
associated with administering the proposed program.  Services covered by the agreement will be assigned an 
individual, unique program number through which expenses will be tracked and monitored within INRCOG’s 
monthly financial reports and annual independent audit.  INRCOG shall make all financial records available to the 
City upon request. 
 

 

-546-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
    

Exhibit B 
 

CDBG Entitlement Program: Five-Year Consolidated Plan Update 
(FFY 2019-2023) 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BL-000-3170  
 

  Original12/13/11 
Revision 01/31/2017 

 
    INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR  

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design 
contractor that will be performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Exhibit 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Exhibit 1.  Such Certificates shall 
include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Exhibit 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Exhibit 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly licensed to transact business at the location 
of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub-contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 

-547-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this agreement.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this Contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 
terminate this Contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits or greater, if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Exhibit 1: 
 
 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. 

All deviations or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general 
liability form CG 001 shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the 
review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the Work to cover liability arising from 
the products-completed operations hazard and liability assumed under an 
insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to form 

attached. 
 
 Additional Insured Requirement – See Exhibit 1. 

The City of Cedar Falls, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or 
authorities and their board members, employees and volunteers shall be 
named as an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes 
of contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations”  
 
 

-548-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
8. Errors & Omissions:  If the contract’s scope of services includes design 
work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other wrongful acts or omissions (except for 
intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services performed 
by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & Omissions 
coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the contract, and 
continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date of completion of all 
work completed or services performed under the contract.  The limit of liability 
shall not be less than $1,000,000. 
 
9. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
10. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set out in this Contract, City does not 
represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under the indemnities provided to City in this Contract.  The 
City will have the right at any time to require liability insurance greater than that 
otherwise specified in Exhibit 1. If required, the additional premium or premiums 
payable shall be added to the bid price. 
 
11. Indemnification (Hold Harmless) Provision:  To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, the Contractor agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa against any and all claims, demands, suits or loss, including 
any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages which 
may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and 
volunteers working on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including, but not 
limited to, damages arising by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or 
death, and property damages, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa pursuant to the provisions of this contract to the extent arising 
out of the errors, omissions or negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, 
employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of the Contractor.  It is 
the intention of the parties that the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and 
appointed officials, directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on 
behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall not be liable or in any way 
responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense incurred by the 
Contractor, its officers, employees, subcontractors, and others affiliated with the 
Contractor due to accidents, mishaps, misconduct, negligence or injuries either in 
person or property resulting from the work and/or services performed by the 
Contractor pursuant to the provisions of this contract, except for and to the extent 
caused by the negligence of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.   

-549-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
 
The Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for damages or injuries 
which may result to any person or property by reason of or in connection with the 
work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
pursuant to this contract to the extent arising out of the errors, omissions or 
negligent acts of the Contractor, its agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of the Contractor, and agrees to pay the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa for all damages caused to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa premises resulting 
from the work and/or services of the Contractor, its officers, employees, 
subcontractors, and others affiliated with the Contractor to the extent arising out 
of such errors, omissions or negligent acts. 
 
The Contractor represents that its activities pursuant to the provisions of this 
contract will be performed and supervised by adequately trained and qualified 
personnel, and the Contractor will observe, and cause its officers, employees, 
subcontractors and others affiliated with the Contractor to observe all applicable 
safety rules. 
 
12. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of 
subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s 
employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with 
respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out 
of the work performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance 
shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 
 
 
Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-550-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 

EXHIBIT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
 Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  
 
Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                            
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 

 
  

-551-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

-552-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 

 
CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
  

-553-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 

 

$1,000,000 

-554-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
  

-555-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
 

-556-

Item G.2.s. 



CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170 
 

-557-

Item G.2.s. 



The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

© 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.
ACORD 25 (2014/01)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

CANCELLATION

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

LOCJECT
PRO-POLICY

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

OCCURCLAIMS-MADE

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

PREMISES (Ea occurrence) $
DAMAGE TO RENTED
EACH OCCURRENCE $

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $

$RETENTIONDED

CLAIMS-MADE

OCCUR

$

AGGREGATE $

EACH OCCURRENCE $UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER

POLICY EFF
(MM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EXP
(MM/DD/YYYY) LIMITS

PER
STATUTE

OTH-
ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

$

$

$

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

(Mandatory in NH)
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y / N

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO
ALL OWNED SCHEDULED

HIRED AUTOS
NON-OWNED

AUTOS AUTOS

AUTOS

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)
PROPERTY DAMAGE $

$

$

$

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSD
ADDL

WVD
SUBR

N / A

$

$

(Ea accident)

(Per accident)

OTHER:

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

INSURED

PHONE
(A/C, No, Ext):

PRODUCER

ADDRESS:
E-MAIL

FAX
(A/C, No):

CONTACT
NAME:

NAIC #

INSURER A :

INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

6/15/2018

PDCM Insurance
P.O. Box 2597
Waterloo IA 50704

Janet Dufel, CPCU, CIC, CRM, CPIW
319-234-8888 319-234-7702

jdufel@pdcm.com

Philadelphia Ins. Companies
IOWANOR-02 IMWCA

Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments
229 E. Park Avenue
Waterloo IA 50703

* XL Insurance

671772416

A X 1,000,000
X 1,000,000

20,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

X

Y Y PHPK1836495 7/1/2018 7/1/2019

2,000,000

A 1,000,000
X

XX

Y Y PHPK1836495 7/1/2018 7/1/2019

A X X 4,000,000

10,000

Y PHUB633848

X

7/1/2018 7/1/2019

B 0640 7/1/2018 7/1/2019

5,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000
A
C

Professional Liability
Public Officials E&O

PHPK1836495
POL0950362

7/1/2018
7/1/2018

7/1/2019
7/1/2019

Ea Incident/Aggregate
Ea Claim/Aggregate

1000000/2000000
2000000/2000000

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and
their board members, employees and volunteers are an Additional insured on the general liability policy on a primary and non-contributory basis. Governmental
Immunities Endorsement and 30 Day Notice of Cancellation Endorsement are included. Waiver of Subrogation applies under General Liability.

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

-558-

Item G.2.s. 



� � � � � � � � � � � � 	 
 � �

�  � � � �� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � �  � � � � � � � �  � � � � � �  � � � � ! � � � � � " � � � # " $ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � #

% � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � $ � � � &' ( ) ) * + ' , - . / * 0 * + - . . , - 1 , . , 2 3 ' ( 4 * + - / * 5 - + 26 ' 7 * 8 9 . ** : : ; < = > ? ; 8 @ = ; A0 @ B ; C : 5 ; D E C F C D ( D G @ F > H @ = > C F I - J J > = > C F @ K , F E L D ; J M A

6 * ' 2 , ( 0 , , N O 7 ( , 6 - 0 , 0 6 9 + * 8 � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  �  �  � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � �  � � P  � � � � � � � � � � $ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � " Q � � � � � � $ � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  Q � � � � � � � � R Q � � � � � � � S � � � " TR � � � � � � � � �  �  � � T � � R � � � � � �  �  � �  �  � � � � � � � � � � S � � � T  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �� � � � � � �  � � � � � R � � � � $ � � U T � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � P  � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � �  � �� � � $ � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � #% � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � �  � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � Q � � � � � $ � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � �  � � �  � � � � Q � � � � � � � � � � � �� � �  � � P  � � � � � V � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � " � W � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � �� � �  � � P  � � � � #% � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � �   � � �  � � � � � � � � � � Q � � � � � � �  � � � � �    � �  Q � � � � � � � V � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � �� � �  � � � � � � T � � � � � � � � � � T $ � � �  � � � � � � � � � V � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � #% � � V � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � X � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � "  � � � � � � � Q � � � �6 * ' 2 , ( 0 , , , N . , ) , 2 6 ( Y , 0 6 9 + - 0 ' * #V � � � � � � � � � � � � " � � � � � � � � � � "  � � � W � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � �  � � � � �  Q � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � �� � �  � � � � � �  � � � � #

Z [ \ ] ^ _ Z ` a b c d b e e fg g h Z e b ] i \Z ` a b c d b e e f j k l m h n o p
q r s t u s t q r v

w w
-559-

Item G.2.s. 



� � � � � � � � � 	 
 � �  � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

 � � � � � � � � � � �  ! " # $  % & ' & # ( ) % & ! � * * ) % & + �  % , + - . / - 0 1 2 3 � 4 5 �

6 7 ) ! &  8 9 # ! & : &  ; : 9 8 ) * ) & ! )  ! " # $  % & < # 9 ( ) 8 & 8 "  8 & # ; 7 & * 9 = = 9 > )  ? �� � � � 
 � � � @ � A 
 � 
 � @ � � � @ 	 � � � 6 � � � B 
 � @ A 
 � @ � 6C  D � E F � �� 1 G 3 � 5 � H H I J I 4 K 1 L � K M N O 3 H 0 3 O M 4 K P M Q� O � O 2 1 K I R 1 J I 4 K P M Q � 4 S 1 J I 4 K P M Q � 5  4 T 3 O 3 H � U 3 O 1 J I 4 K M
�  * 9 # : $ ; ) 9  # & V " ) # & 8 ; 9 % 9 : < = & ; & ; 7 ) ! ' % 7 & 8 " = & + ) *  9 ; ! 7 9 >  $ W 9 ( & + > ) = = W & ! 7 9 >  )  ; 7 & X & % = $ # $ ; ) 9  ! ,� Y C 3 S J I 4 K � � Z [ \ 4 � M � K � K M N O 3 H ) ! $ : &  8 & 8 ; 9)  % = " 8 & $ ! $  $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ; 7 & < & # ! 9  ] ! ^ 9 #9 # ? $  ) _ $ ; ) 9  ] ! ^ ! 7 9 >  )  ; 7 & ' % 7 & 8 " = & + W " ; 9  = `> ) ; 7 # & ! < & % ; ; 9 = ) $ W ) = ) ; ` * 9 # a W 9 8 ) = ` )  b " # ` a + a < # 9 < & # ; `8 $ : $ ? & a 9 # a < & # ! 9  $ = $  8 $ 8 ( & # ; ) ! )  ? )  b " # ` a% $ " ! & 8 + )  > 7 9 = & 9 # )  < $ # ; + W ` �� Y � 9 " # $ % ; ! 9 # 9 : ) ! ! ) 9  ! c 9 #� Y 6 7 & $ % ; ! 9 # 9 : ) ! ! ) 9  ! 9 * ; 7 9 ! & $ % ; )  ? 9  ` 9 " #W & 7 $ = * c)  ; 7 & < & # * 9 # : $  % & 9 * ` 9 " # 9  ? 9 )  ? 9 < & # $ ; ) 9  ! * 9 #; 7 & $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ] ! ^ $ ; ; 7 & = 9 % $ ; ) 9  ] ! ^8 & ! ) ?  $ ; & 8 $ W 9 ( & ,d 9 > & ( & # �� Y 6 7 & )  ! " # $  % & $ * * 9 # 8 & 8 ; 9 ! " % 7 $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ =)  ! " # & 8 9  = ` $ < < = ) & ! ; 9 ; 7 & & e ; &  ; < & # : ) ; ; & 8 W `= $ > c $  8� Y � * % 9 ( & # $ ? & < # 9 ( ) 8 & 8 ; 9 ; 7 & $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ) !# & V " ) # & 8 W ` $ % 9  ; # $ % ; 9 # $ ? # & & : &  ; + ; 7 &)  ! " # $  % & $ * * 9 # 8 & 8 ; 9 ! " % 7 $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8> ) = =  9 ; W & W # 9 $ 8 & # ; 7 $  ; 7 $ ; > 7 ) % 7 ` 9 " $ # &# & V " ) # & 8 W ` ; 7 & % 9  ; # $ % ; 9 # $ ? # & & : &  ; ; 9< # 9 ( ) 8 & * 9 # ! " % 7 $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ,

� Y f ) ; 7 # & ! < & % ; ; 9 ; 7 & )  ! " # $  % & $ * * 9 # 8 & 8 ; 9 ; 7 & ! &$ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ! + ; 7 & * 9 = = 9 > )  ? $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ =& e % = " ! ) 9  ! $ < < = ` �6 7 ) ! )  ! " # $  % & 8 9 & !  9 ; $ < < = ` ; 9 a W 9 8 ) = ` )  b " # ` a 9 #a < # 9 < & # ; ` 8 $ : $ ? & a 9 % % " # # )  ? $ * ; & # �� Y @ = = > 9 # g + )  % = " 8 )  ? : $ ; & # ) $ = ! + < $ # ; ! 9 #& V " ) < : &  ; * " #  ) ! 7 & 8 )  % 9   & % ; ) 9  > ) ; 7 ! " % 7> 9 # g + 9  ; 7 & < # 9 b & % ; ] 9 ; 7 & # ; 7 $  ! & # ( ) % & +: $ )  ; &  $  % & 9 # # & < $ ) # ! ^ ; 9 W & < & # * 9 # : & 8 W ` 9 #9  W & 7 $ = * 9 * ; 7 & $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ] ! ^ $ ; ; 7 &= 9 % $ ; ) 9  9 * ; 7 & % 9 ( & # & 8 9 < & # $ ; ) 9  ! 7 $ ! W & &  % 9 : < = & ; & 8 c 9 #� Y 6 7 $ ; < 9 # ; ) 9  9 * a ` 9 " # > 9 # g a 9 " ; 9 * > 7 ) % 7 ; 7 &)  b " # ` 9 # 8 $ : $ ? & $ # ) ! & ! 7 $ ! W & &  < " ; ; 9 ) ; !)  ; &  8 & 8 " ! & W ` $  ` < & # ! 9  9 # 9 # ? $  ) _ $ ; ) 9  9 ; 7 & # ; 7 $  $  9 ; 7 & # % 9  ; # $ % ; 9 # 9 # ! " W % 9  ; # $ % ; 9 #&  ? $ ? & 8 )  < & # * 9 # : )  ? 9 < & # $ ; ) 9  ! * 9 # $< # )  % ) < $ = $ ! $ < $ # ; 9 * ; 7 & ! $ : & < # 9 b & % ; ,

h i h j k l m n o p k

q r s t u v q w x y z { y | | }

-560-

Item G.2.s. 



0 1 2 3 � 4 5 � � �  ! " # $  % & ' & # ( ) % & ! � * * ) % & + �  % , + - . / -  � � � � � � � � �

 Y f ) ; 7 # & ! < & % ; ; 9 ; 7 & )  ! " # $  % & $ * * 9 # 8 & 8 ; 9 ; 7 & ! &$ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ! + ; 7 & * 9 = = 9 > )  ? ) ! $ 8 8 & 8 ; 9C 3 S J I 4 K � � � Z � I G I J M � 5 � K M N O 1 K S 3 ~� * % 9 ( & # $ ? & < # 9 ( ) 8 & 8 ; 9 ; 7 & $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ) !# & V " ) # & 8 W ` $ % 9  ; # $ % ; 9 # $ ? # & & : &  ; + ; 7 & : 9 ! ; > &> ) = = < $ ` 9  W & 7 $ = * 9 * ; 7 & $ 8 8 ) ; ) 9  $ = )  ! " # & 8 ) ! ; 7 &$ : 9 "  ; 9 * )  ! " # $  % & �� Y � & V " ) # & 8 W ` ; 7 & % 9  ; # $ % ; 9 # $ ? # & & : &  ; c 9 #
� Y @ ( $ ) = $ W = & "  8 & # ; 7 & $ < < = ) % $ W = & � ) : ) ; ! 9 *�  ! " # $  % & ! 7 9 >  )  ; 7 & X & % = $ # $ ; ) 9  ! c> 7 ) % 7 & ( & # ) ! = & ! ! ,6 7 ) ! &  8 9 # ! & : &  ; ! 7 $ = =  9 ; )  % # & $ ! & ; 7 &$ < < = ) % $ W = & � ) : ) ; ! 9 * �  ! " # $  % & ! 7 9 >  )  ; 7 &X & % = $ # $ ; ) 9  ! ,

-561-

Item G.2.s. 



� � � � � � � � � � � � 	 � � � � � � � 
 � � � � �� �  � � � � � � �

� �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �  � � � !  " # $ " % & ' ( � ) * �

+ , � � � � - . � � � / � � 0 / . - � � � � � � � � � � � � � � 1 � . � � - � - � � - � � 0 , � � . 2 2 . 3 � � 4 56 � 7 7 8 9 6 � : ; < 8 = 8 9 : ; ; � : > � ; � + ? 6 � @ 8 9 : < 8 A : 9 +� B = 8 9 � : = C 6 � = + 9 : 6 + � 9 � A 9 � + 8 6 + � @ 8 ; � : > � ; � + ? 6 � @ 8 9 : < 8 A : 9 +9 : � ; 9 � : C A 9 � + 8 6 + � @ 8 ; � : > � ; � + ? 6 � @ 8 9 : < 8 A : 9 +B � 3 � 2 2 3 � � � �  D . 0 , � � 0 , � � - E � � 0 / � � 0 . � � 2 � � / � � � - � �0 , � - � � � � � � . � F � � � 0 � F � 4 � � � � 0 0 , � � � � � � � -  � � G4 . � � � � / � � 0 � 2 � / / � � � 0 G . � 0 , � � � � � � � -  � � 2 � � � 0 , �� � � � � � - � � H � � � 0 � � � 3 � � 0 � � 4 0 , � 0 3 � � . 0 - . � . !B � � � � � . � � / / � � � 0 G � � � - � � � � � � 3 � 2 2 � . 0 � � D E � � 0 � � 0 .2 � � D � 2 � 0 G � . � � � G 1 . � 0 � . � . � � � 2 � � / . � E � - 4 / � � 0 � �� I � � � � . � 0 , � � 1 1 2 � � � D 2 � 2 � / � 0 . � � � � � � � � � � !

-562-

Item G.2.s. 



� � � � � � � � � 	 
 � �  � � � � �  � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

 � � � � � � � � �  � ! " # $ % ! & ' ( ' $ ) * & ' " � + + * & ' , � ! & - , . / 0 .

1 2 * " ' ! 3 4 $ " ' 5 ' ! 6 5 4 3 * + * ' " * ! " # $ % ! & ' 7 $ 4 ) * 3 ' 3 # ! 3 ' $ 6 2 ' + 4 8 8 4 9 * ! : �� � � � 
 � � � ; � < 
 � 
 � ; � � � ; 	 � � � 1 � � � = 
 � ; < 
 � ; � 1� � � > � � 1 ( ? � � � � � 
 1 
 > � � 
 � ; 1 � � � ( � � ; 	 � � � 1 � � � = 
 � ; < 
 � ; � 1@  A � B C � �� D E F � G � H H I J I K L D M � L N O P F H Q F P N K L R N S� P � P T D L I U D J I K L R N S � K V D J I K L � L H B F N V P I W J I K L � G  K E W M F J F H � W F P D J I K L N

� ! + 4 $ 5 % 6 * 4 ! $ ' X # * $ ' 3 6 4 & 4 5 7 8 ' 6 ' 6 2 * " ( & 2 ' 3 # 8 ' , * + ! 4 6 " 2 4 9 ! % Y 4 ) ' , 9 * 8 8 Y ' " 2 4 9 ! * ! 6 2 ' > ' & 8 % $ % 6 * 4 ! " -� Z @ F V J I K L � � [ \ ] K � N � L � L N O P F H * " % 5 ' ! 3 ' 3 6 4* ! & 8 # 3 ' % " % ! % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 3 6 2 ' 7 ' $ " 4 ! ^ " _ 4 $4 $ : % ! * ` % 6 * 4 ! ^ " _ " 2 4 9 ! * ! 6 2 ' ( & 2 ' 3 # 8 ' , Y # 6 4 ! 8 a9 * 6 2 $ ' " 7 ' & 6 6 4 8 * % Y * 8 * 6 a + 4 $ b Y 4 3 * 8 a * ! c # $ a b 4 $b 7 $ 4 7 ' $ 6 a 3 % 5 % : ' b & % # " ' 3 , * ! 9 2 4 8 ' 4 $ * ! 7 % $ 6 , Y ab a 4 # $ 9 4 $ d b % 6 6 2 ' 8 4 & % 6 * 4 ! 3 ' " * : ! % 6 ' 3 % ! 33 ' " & $ * Y ' 3 * ! 6 2 ' ( & 2 ' 3 # 8 ' 4 + 6 2 * " ' ! 3 4 $ " ' 5 ' ! 67 ' $ + 4 $ 5 ' 3 + 4 $ 6 2 % 6 % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 3 % ! 3* ! & 8 # 3 ' 3 * ! 6 2 ' b 7 $ 4 3 # & 6 " e & 4 5 7 8 ' 6 ' 3 4 7 ' $ % 6 * 4 ! "2 % ` % $ 3 b -f 4 9 ' ) ' $ �� Z 1 2 ' * ! " # $ % ! & ' % + + 4 $ 3 ' 3 6 4 " # & 2 % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8* ! " # $ ' 3 4 ! 8 a % 7 7 8 * ' " 6 4 6 2 ' ' g 6 ' ! 6 7 ' $ 5 * 6 6 ' 3Y a 8 % 9 h % ! 3� Z � + & 4 ) ' $ % : ' 7 $ 4 ) * 3 ' 3 6 4 6 2 ' % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 3* " $ ' X # * $ ' 3 Y a % & 4 ! 6 $ % & 6 4 $ % : $ ' ' 5 ' ! 6 , 6 2 '* ! " # $ % ! & ' % + + 4 $ 3 ' 3 6 4 " # & 2 % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 39 * 8 8 ! 4 6 Y ' Y $ 4 % 3 ' $ 6 2 % ! 6 2 % 6 9 2 * & 2 a 4 # % $ '$ ' X # * $ ' 3 Y a 6 2 ' & 4 ! 6 $ % & 6 4 $ % : $ ' ' 5 ' ! 6 6 47 $ 4 ) * 3 ' + 4 $ " # & 2 % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 3 -

� Z i * 6 2 $ ' " 7 ' & 6 6 4 6 2 ' * ! " # $ % ! & ' % + + 4 $ 3 ' 3 6 4 6 2 ' " '% 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 3 " , 6 2 ' + 4 8 8 4 9 * ! : * " % 3 3 ' 3 6 4@ F V J I K L � � � [ � I E I J N � G � L N O P D L V F j� + & 4 ) ' $ % : ' 7 $ 4 ) * 3 ' 3 6 4 6 2 ' % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 3 * "$ ' X # * $ ' 3 Y a % & 4 ! 6 $ % & 6 4 $ % : $ ' ' 5 ' ! 6 , 6 2 ' 5 4 " 6 9 '9 * 8 8 7 % a 4 ! Y ' 2 % 8 + 4 + 6 2 ' % 3 3 * 6 * 4 ! % 8 * ! " # $ ' 3 * " 6 2 '% 5 4 # ! 6 4 + * ! " # $ % ! & ' �� Z � ' X # * $ ' 3 Y a 6 2 ' & 4 ! 6 $ % & 6 4 $ % : $ ' ' 5 ' ! 6 h 4 $� Z ; ) % * 8 % Y 8 ' # ! 3 ' $ 6 2 ' % 7 7 8 * & % Y 8 ' � * 5 * 6 " 4 +� ! " # $ % ! & ' " 2 4 9 ! * ! 6 2 ' > ' & 8 % $ % 6 * 4 ! " h9 2 * & 2 ' ) ' $ * " 8 ' " " -1 2 * " ' ! 3 4 $ " ' 5 ' ! 6 " 2 % 8 8 ! 4 6 * ! & $ ' % " ' 6 2 ' % 7 7 8 * & % Y 8 '� * 5 * 6 " 4 + � ! " # $ % ! & ' " 2 4 9 ! * ! 6 2 ' > ' & 8 % $ % 6 * 4 ! " -

k l k m n o p q r s n

t u v w x y t z { | } ~ | � � �

n n
-563-

Item G.2.s. 



Consultant CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170  

14 | P a g e  

    
Exhibit C 

 
CDBG Entitlement Program: Five-Year Consolidated Plan Update 

(FFY 2019-2023)  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number BL-000-3170  
 

  2/9/12 
 

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR CONTRACTS BETWEEN 
CONTRACTORS WHO PERFORM PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AND THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS 
 

 This document outlines the Standard Terms and Conditions for all Contractors 
who perform work or services for the City of Cedar Falls under a contract.  The term, 
“Contractor,” as used in this document, includes an engineer, an architect, and any other 
design professional providing professional services to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 
under a contract (but excludes construction contractors). 
 
 1. This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a writing signed 
by an authorized representative of the City of Cedar Falls and of the Contractor. 
 
 2. Time is of the essence of this Contract. 
 
 3. Contractor shall be an independent contractor with respect to the services 
to be performed under this Contract.  Neither Contractor nor its subcontractors, agents, 
or employees, shall be deemed to be employees or agents of the City. 
 
 4. Contractor shall perform all duties in accordance with all applicable 
federal, state and local laws and regulations. 
 
 5. If Contractor breaches this Contract, the City shall have all remedies 
available to it at law or in equity. 
 
 6. Severability.  If any provision of this Contract is declared invalid, illegal, or 
incapable of being enforced by any court of competent jurisdiction, all of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full force and effect, and no 
provision shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed 
herein. 
 
 7. Assignment.  Contractor may not assign this Contract or any of its rights 
or obligations hereunder, without the prior written consent of the City, which consent 
may be withheld in the sole and absolute discretion of the City. 
 
 8. Survival of Obligations.  All obligations and duties which by their nature 
extend beyond the term of this Contract shall survive the expiration or termination of this 
Contract. 
 

-564-

Item G.2.s. 



Consultant CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170  

15 | P a g e  

 9. Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue and Trial.  This Contract shall be 
construed in accordance with, and all disputes hereunder shall be governed by, the laws 
of the State of Iowa, excluding its conflicts of law rules.  The parties hereto agree that 
the exclusive jurisdiction and venue shall be in the Iowa District Court for Black Hawk 
County, and in no other jurisdiction or location, and shall not be removed to federal 
court.  The parties hereby agree to waive the right to trial by jury and agree to submit all 
disputes to a trial by judge alone.  The parties agree that no disputes under this Contract 
shall be submitted to binding arbitration, but may be submitted to mediation by mutual 
consent of both parties. 
 
 10. Any failure of Contractor to comply with the Insurance Requirements for 
Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls set forth on Attachment A, shall constitute a 
default under this Contract. 
 
 11. Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event of litigation, the City shall under no 
circumstances be obligated for payment of any attorneys’ fees of Contractor or any other 
party, arising out of such litigation. 
 
 12. Payment.  Payment of Contractor’s invoices shall be due no sooner than 
thirty (30) days from the date of invoice.  In the event any invoices are not paid within 
thirty (30) days, the City shall pay interest thereon at the rate provided for by 
Section 668.13(3), Code of Iowa, computed monthly. 
 
 13. The City shall not be obligated to maintain confidentiality of Contractor 
documents or records that are furnished to the City if such documents are public records 
under the Iowa Open Records Law, Chapter 22, Code of Iowa, and the City shall have 
no responsibility to Contractor for disclosure of such records. 
 
 14. Under no circumstances shall the City waive any damages against the 
Contractor or any other party arising out of any breach of this Contract, whether 
consequential, indirect, special, or punitive damages. 
 
 15. Under no circumstances shall the Contractor’s liability to the City be 
limited to any specific amount or sum, whether that amount is the compensation paid by 
the City to the Contractor under this Contract, or the dollar amount of coverage provided 
for in the Insurance Requirements for Contractors for the City of Cedar Falls, Attachment 
A. 
 
 16. No waiver of the City’s subrogation rights against the Contractor or any 
other party shall conflict with the provisions of the City Insurance Requirements, 
Attachment A. 
 
 17. Limitations Period.  There shall be no limitation, except as provided for by 
Iowa law, on the period of time within which the City may make any claim against the 
Contractor or other party under the provisions of this Contract. 
 
 18. This Contract shall not be binding on the City unless and until approved 
by the City Council of the City at a duly constituted meeting, and signed by the Mayor 
and City Clerk of the City. 
 

-565-

Item G.2.s. 



Consultant CDBG Entitlement Program: Consolidated Plan Update 
Project No. ____________  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. BL-000-3170  

16 | P a g e  

 19. Warranties.  Contractor represents and warrants that all services 
furnished to the City under this Contract shall be furnished in a skilled and workmanlike 
manner, in accordance with the degree of skill and care that is required by current, good 
and sound practices applicable to the Contractor’s industry or profession, and as 
otherwise required by applicable law. 
 
 20. Force Majeure.  Neither party to this Contract shall be liable to the other 
party for delays in performing the services, or for the direct or indirect cost resulting from 
such delays, that may result from acts of God, acts of governmental authorities, 
extraordinary weather conditions or other natural catastrophes, or any other cause 
beyond the reasonable control or contemplation of either party.  Each party will take 
reasonable steps to mitigate the impact of any force majeure. 

-566-

Item G.2.s. 



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Mayor Brown & City Council  

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

 DATE: September 26, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Gaming Grant Letter of Intent – Downtown Streetscape Project  

 
A downtown streetscape plan was developed in 2015.  The City’s CIP #95 outlines project 
funding to implement much of this project, in partnership with Community Main Street and 
Cedar Falls Utilities.  A Gaming grant is also identified as a funding source for the project.  
A Letter of Intent is the first step in the Gaming grant application process.  A resolution of 
support from the local jurisdiction is required with that submittal. 
 
The grant request includes several components, leveraging several downtown projects that 
all contribute to improving and expanding the downtown district.  Many of these elements 
were described at a Council Committee meeting on June 4, 2018.  The project involves 
improvements along State Street, Washington, 2nd, 3rd and 6th Streets.   State Street and 6th 
Streets have been recently reconstructed, so this project would add streetlamps and a “hub” 
every two blocks.  Each hub includes a pad with a bench, trash receptacle and bike rack 
surrounded by brickwork.  Washington Street will see the same improvements, needing the 
additional investment of underground conduit to facilitate the streetlamps.  2nd and 3rd 
Streets would have larger scope improvements.  Before streetscaping enhancements, the 
street will be reconstructed; one block of 2nd St (Main to Washington) and two blocks of E 
3rd St (State to Washington).  These reconstruction projects would include corner bump outs 
and colored crosswalks, consistent with the streetscape plan.  This was done on 6th Street 
in 2017.  The project would span 5 years, wrapping up in 2023.  The City has also been 
planning to reconstruct the brick sidewalks along the Parkade, outlined in CIP #94.  Finally, 
reconstruction of the 100 block alley (CIP #83-Main Street alley) is also anticipated.  Grant 
funds are being requested to support all of these components.  The total project cost is 
currently estimated to be $3.5M.   Grant funding will be requested for 35% of the project, 
$1,235,500. 
 
Staff recommends the City Council approve a resolution of support for the Gaming grant 
Letter of Intent.  The application deadline is October 1, 2018.  The City is then notified if a 
full application is invited.  The process with the Gaming Commission is typically six months 
for funding requests higher than $500,000.  An award would hopefully occur in March 2019. 
 
Attachments:  Downtown Streetscape Plan 
 
Xc:  Carol Lilly, Executive Director, Community Main Street 

-567-

Item G.2.t. 



 



!R

!R

!R !R

_̂

!R !R !.
!.

!.

!.

!.

!.
!.

!.

!. !.

!.!.

!.

!.

!.!.

!.

!. !.

!.

!.!.

!.
!R

!.!.

!.!.

_̂

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!.

!.

!R

!R!R

!R

!R
!R

!R

!R

!R!R

!R

!R

!.

!.

!R
!R

!R
!R

!R

!.

!.

!.!.

!.

!.

!R

!R

!R

!R
!R

!R

!R
!R

!R
!R

!R

!R

!R
!R

!R

!R
!R

!R

!R

!R !R
!R!R

!R!R

XW
!R

!R

")

XW!(
")

XW
")

")

")

!(
XW

XW

XW

!(

XW

XW

!(
XW

!(

") ")

!(

XW

")

!(XW
XW

XW
")
")

!(

!(

")
")

")
")

XW
XW

XW
XW

!(

XW

XW !(

!(
")

")XW

XW

")

")

")

!R ")

!(

XW

!R

")

")

XW

!(
XW

XWXW
")
!(

XW

!(

")")

")
")

!(
XW

!(

XW

")
!(

XW")

!( ")

XW
!( ")

!(

")

!(

!R!R

!R

!.

!.

!.

!.

!.

!.

!.

!.

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!.
!R

!R !R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!. !R !R

!.
!. !R

")

!R
!. !.

!R !R

!.

!.!.
XW
!( !R !R"&

!.!.

!.
!R !R !R

!R!R!R

!(

!.

!R !R

!R

!(

!R

!R

!R

!R

"&

!R

!.

!R

!R

!R

!(

!.

!.

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!R

!.

!.

!R

!R

!R
!R

"&

"&

_̂
!R!R !R

!. !.

!R

!R

!.
!.

!.

!R

!R
!R

!R

!R

!R

!(

"&

!R

!R

!(

!(

!(

"&

E 2nd St

E 7th St

E 5th St

E 4th St

Cl
ay

 S
t

W
as

hi
ng

to
n 

St

M
ai

n 
St

St
at

e 
St

E 3rd St

W 4th St

E 5th St

W 2nd St

W 1st St

W 3rd St

W 7th St

W 5th St

W 6th St E 6th St

E 1st St

Streetscape Proposed

!. Open Double Light

!R Open Single Light

!. Double Light Ph 1

!R Single Light Ph 1

"& Bike/Trash/Bench Ph 1

!( Trash Ph 1

_̂ Kiosk Ph 1

!. Double Light Ph 2

!R Single Light Ph 2

"& Bike/Trash/Bench Ph 2

!( Trash Ph 2

!. Double Light Ph 3

!R Single Light Ph 3

!( Trash Ph 3

!. Double Light Ph 4

!R Single Light Ph 4

"& Bike/Trash/Bench Ph 4

") Bench Ph 4

XW Bike Rack Ph 4

!( Trash Ph 4

I
Date:

4/20/2018

Downtown Streetscape Plan
Streetscape item locations subject to final design.

If all goes as planned, project to be completed by end of 2022.

-569-

Item G.2.t. 



 



 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor James P. Brown and City Council 

 FROM: David Sturch, Planner III 

 DATE: September 27, 2018 

 SUBJECT: Urban Chickens and Ducks 
 
A presentation on urban chickens was made at the Committee of Whole meeting on 
August 20, 2018. Staff provided a summary of past discussions on this subject and 
provided a list of guidelines to consider when drafting a new ordinance. The committee 
made a motion recommending the following: 
 

• Chickens and ducks allowed in residential zoning districts 
• Limit of three (3) animals, with no roosters 
• Chickens and ducks must be kept in a clean and sanitary enclosed structure 
• Said structure must be located at least 25 feet from any other adjacent residential 

dwelling 
• Land use permit is required for chicken/duck coop structure 
• Coop structure located in back yard area only 
• Termination of chickens/ducks for health reasons 

 
Staff proposes an amendment to Chapter 6, Animals, of the Cedar Falls Code of 
Ordinances by repealing Sections 6-113 and 6-114. Staff modeled the proposed 
chicken and duck ordinance after the licensing requirements for dogs and cats. 
Requiring a license rather than a land use permit will keep the regulations similar to 
those for other small animals kept in small numbers for personal use as distinguished 
from using a property for a stable or a kennel, which can trigger larger land use issues.  
 
The requirements and conditions for obtaining a license follow the recommendations 
made by Council. The owner of chickens and ducks must apply for an annual license for 
each animal. No more than three animals of any combination may be kept on any given 
property and the animals must be kept in an enclosed coop, which includes an indoor 
roofed area and an outdoor area that is fenced on all sides including across the top, so 
the animals cannot escape. The coop must be located in the rear yard and at least 25 
feet from any residential dwelling located on other properties. There are provisions for 
upkeep and maintenance of the coop and for revoking the license in the case of a 
health advisory that requires chickens and ducks to be exterminated in the interests of 
public health.  

-571-

Item G.3. 



STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 

Staff recommends amending Chapter 6, Animals, of the City Code of Ordinances as 
indicated on the following pages. New proposed language is underlined. Language 
proposed to be deleted is indicated with strike-through notation.  
 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager 

-572-

Item G.3. 



Proposed Amendments to Chapter 6 – Animals 
Strikethrough notation indicates current language proposed to be deleted from the City 
Code. Underlined text indicates new language proposed to be added to the City Code.  
 
Sec. 6-113. - Keeping of agricultural animals. 

No horse, mule, cow, calf, swine, sheep, goat, llama, camel, ostrich, peacock, chicken, 
goose, duck, turkey or other agricultural animal or specialized breed of such agricultural 
animal shall be kept on any property that is not located in the A-1 Agricultural Zoning District 
under Chapter 29, Zoning, of this Code, with the exception that horses may be kept on 
properties that are zoned R-1, Residential District, on the terms provided in Section 29-143 of 
Chapter 29, Zoning, of this Code. following exceptions: 

(a) Horses may be kept on properties that are zoned R-1, Residential District, on the terms 
provided in Section 29-143 of Chapter 29, Zoning, of this Code; and  

(b) Chickens and ducks may be kept in districts other than the A-1 Agricultural Zoning 
District in accordance with the provisions in section 6-114. 

Sec. 6-114. - Keeping of chickens and ducks in districts other than the A-1 Agricultural 
Zoning District as non-conforming use. 

(a) Existing non-conforming use. The keeping of chickens that are located on any 
property that is not zoned A-1, Agricultural Zoning District, under Chapter 29, Zoning, 
of this Code, as of November 1, 2006, is hereby declared to be a non-conforming 
use. Any person who owns or possesses chickens that are located on any property in 
any zoning district other than the A-1, Agricultural Zoning District under Chapter 29, 
Zoning, of this Code, as of November 1, 2006, may continue to keep not more than 
three chickens, but not to include roosters, on such property, as long as such 
chickens are kept in a totally enclosed structure which is located outside of a 
residential dwelling, and which is located at least 25 feet from any other residential 
dwelling. 

(a) Conditions and limitations. The keeping of chickens and ducks as allowed under this 
section shall be subject to the following conditions and limitations: 
 

(1) The owner of chickens and ducks shall obtain a license for each animal 
annually as set forth in this section; and  

 

(2) On any given property there shall be a limit of three chickens and ducks, in any 
combination, for a total of three animals, but not including roosters or drakes; 
and  
 

(3) Chickens and ducks shall be kept in a totally enclosed coop. The coop shall 
include an indoor roofed area as well as an outdoor area, which shall be fenced 
in on all sides, including across the top to prevent the chickens and/or ducks 
from escaping. The coop shall be located in the rear yard of the property and 
shall be located at least 25 feet from any residential dwelling located on other 
properties; and 
 

(4) The coop shall at all times be kept in a proper state of repair. The owner shall 
properly dispose of all accumulations of manure and shall otherwise maintain the 
property in a condition such that the keeping of chickens or ducks does not 

-573-

Item G.3. 



2 
 

create a public nuisance, including foul odors, accumulation of flies, or other 
conditions that pose a threat or hazard to public health, safety or welfare. 

(b) Licensing provisions. The owners of all chickens and ducks shall annually obtain a 
license as provided in this article. 

(1) The owner of a chicken or duck for which a license is required shall, on or 
before January 1 of each year, apply to the city clerk or to the designee of said 
city clerk for a license for each chicken or duck owned by him/her. Such 
application for license may be made after January 1, and at any time, for 
chickens and ducks which have come into the possession or ownership of the 
applicant. The amount of the fee shall be established annually by resolution of 
the City Council. 

(2) Delinquency. All license fees for chickens and ducks become delinquent on 
April 1 in the year in which they are due and payable, and a penalty in an 
amount to be established annually by the City Council shall be added to each 
unpaid license fee on or after such date. 

(3) Non-transferable. A license issued for one chicken or duck shall not be 
transferable to another chicken or duck. 

(4) Duration of license. All chicken and duck licenses shall expire on January 1 of 
the year following the date of issuance. 

(5) The application for and the receipt of a chicken or duck license shall constitute an 
implied consent by the owner to permit an inspection of both real and personal 
property under his/her control for the purpose of enforcing compliance with and 
carrying out the provisions of this chapter, including inspection for cruelty to 
animals.  

(c) Termination of non-conforming use by discontinuation. In addition, if such person 
discontinues the keeping of chickens on such property for a period of one year, such 
non-conforming use shall terminate, and the use of the property shall thereafter 
conform to the requirements of Section 6-113. The keeping of such chickens shall be 
specific to the property on which the chickens were located on November 1, 2006, 
and shall be specific to the person keeping such chickens on such property as of 
such date, and may not be transferred to any other person or to any other property. 
Termination of keeping of chickens and ducks for health reasons. In the event of 
issuance of an advisory by any department of public health, federal, state or local, 
that all chickens and ducks must be exterminated in the interests of public health, 
safety, or welfare, the keeping of all chickens and ducks under this section shall 
immediately terminate and the license issued by the City shall be revoked. Chickens 
and ducks shall not thereafter be kept until such time as (i) the advisory is cancelled 
or rescinded by the issuing department or authority, and (ii) the owner has obtained a 
new license. 
 

(d) Violation. The keeping of chickens and ducks in the city in violation of any of the 
provisions of this division shall constitute a municipal infraction, which, upon a finding 
by a court that the violation has been proven, shall result in imposition of a civil penalty 
as provided in section 1-9 of this Code, together with a court order for abatement or 
correction of the violation. 

-574-

Item G.3. 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepared by: David Sturch, Planner III, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, (319) 273-8600 
 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 
 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING DIVISION 4, AGRICULTURAL NON-DOMESTIC 
ANIMALS AND EXOTIC ANIMALS, OF ARTICLE II, ANIMAL CONTROL, OF 
CHAPTER 6, ANIMALS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU THEREOF A NEW DIVISION 4, 
AGRICULTURAL NON-DOMESTIC ANIMALS AND EXOTIC ANIMALS.  
 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 
 
Division 4, Agricultural Non-Domestic Animals and Exotic Animals, of Article II, Animal Control, of 
Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its 
entirety, and a new Division 4, Agricultural Non-Domestic Animals and Exotic Animals, is enacted in 
lieu thereof, as follows: 
 
Sec. 6-113. - Keeping of agricultural animals.  

No horse, mule, cow, calf, swine, sheep, goat, llama, camel, ostrich, peacock, chicken, goose, duck, 
turkey or other agricultural animal or specialized breed of such agricultural animal shall be kept on any 
property that is not located in the A-1 Agricultural Zoning District under Chapter 29, Zoning, of this 
Code, with the following exceptions: 

(a) Horses may be kept on properties that are zoned R-1, Residential District, on the terms provided 
in Section 29-143 of Chapter 29, Zoning, of this Code; and 

(b) Chickens and ducks may be kept in districts other than the A-1 Agricultural District in 
accordance with the provisions in section 6-114. 

(Ord. No. 2607, § 1, 11-13-06) 

Sec. 6-114. - Keeping of chickens and ducks in districts other than the A-1 Agricultural Zoning 
District.    

(a) Conditions and limitations. The keeping of chickens and ducks as allowed under this section shall 
be subject to the following conditions and limitations: 

-575-

Item G.3. 



2 
 

(1) The owner of chickens and ducks shall obtain a license for each animal annually as set 
forth in this section; and 
 

(2) On any given property there shall be a limit of three chickens and ducks, in any 
combination, for a total of three animals, but not including roosters or drakes; and  
 

(3) Chickens and ducks shall be kept in a totally enclosed coop. The coop shall include an 
indoor roofed area as well as an outdoor area, which shall be fenced in on all sides, 
including across the top to prevent the chickens and/or ducks from escaping. The coop 
shall be located in the rear yard of the property and shall be located at least 25 feet from 
any residential dwelling located on other properties; and   
 

(4) The coop shall at all times be kept in a proper state of repair. The owner shall properly 
dispose of all accumulations of manure and shall otherwise maintain the property in a 
condition such that the keeping of chickens or ducks does not create a public nuisance, 
including foul odors, accumulation of flies, or other conditions that pose a threat or 
hazard to public health, safety or welfare. 

(b) Licensing provisions. The owners of all chickens and ducks shall annually obtain a license as 
provided in this article. 

(1) The owner of a chicken or duck for which a license is required shall, on or before 
January 1 of each year, apply to the city clerk or to the designee of said city clerk for a 
license for each chicken or duck owned by him/her. Such application for license may 
be made after January 1, and at any time, for chickens and ducks which have come into 
the possession or ownership of the applicant. The amount of the fee shall be established 
annually by resolution of the City Council. 

(2) Delinquency. All license fees for chickens and ducks become delinquent on April 1 in 
the year in which they are due and payable, and a penalty in an amount to be 
established annually by the City Council shall be added to each unpaid license fee on or 
after such date. 

(3) Non-transferable. A license issued for one chicken or duck shall not be transferable to 
another chicken or duck. 

(4) Duration of license. All chicken and duck licenses shall expire on January 1 of the year 
following the date of issuance. 

(5) The application for and the receipt of a chicken or duck license shall constitute an implied 
consent by the owner to permit an inspection of both real and personal property under 
his/her control for the purpose of enforcing compliance with and carrying out the 
provisions of this chapter, including inspection for cruelty to animals.  

(c) Termination of keeping of chickens and ducks for health reasons. In the event of issuance of an 
advisory by any department of public health, federal, state or local, that all chickens and ducks 
must be exterminated in the interests of public health, safety or welfare, the keeping of all 
chickens and ducks under this section shall immediately terminate and  license issued by the city 
shall be revoked. Chickens and ducks shall not thereafter be kept until such time as (i) the 
advisory is cancelled or rescinded by the issuing department or authority, and (ii) the owner has 
obtained a new license. 

-576-

Item G.3. 



3 
 

(d) Violation. The keeping of chickens and ducks in the city in violation of any of the provisions of 
this division shall constitute a municipal infraction, which, upon a finding by a court that the 
violation has been proven, shall result in imposition of a civil penalty as provided in section 1-9 
of this Code, together with a court order for abatement or correction of the violation. 

(Ord. No. 2607, § 1, 11-13-06) 

Sec. 6-115. - Indoor pets.  

Gerbils, hamsters, guinea pigs, rabbits, mice, birds, snakes, insects, lizards, and other similar animals 
that are normally maintained as household pets and kept in an enclosure inside a principal or accessory 
structure located on a property are not, by the provisions of this article, prohibited in any zoning district in 
the city.  

(Ord. No. 2607, § 1, 11-13-06) 

 
INTRODUCED:  _____________________________________________________________________  
 
PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:    ______________________________________________________  
 
PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:  ______________________________________________________  
 
PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:  ______________________________________________________  
 
ADOPTED:  _________________________________________________________________________  
 
 
 
  ______________________________________  
 James P. Brown, Mayor 
 
 ATTEST: 
 
  _________________________________  
 Jacque Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

-577-

Item G.3. 



 


	AGENDA
	A. Call to Order by the Mayor.
	B. Roll Call.
	C. Approval of Minutes of the Regular Meeting of September 17, 2018.
	[180917MINUTES.doc]

	D. Agenda Revisions.
	E. Special Order of Business:
	1. Public hearing on a proposed ordinance granting a partial property tax exemption to Standard Distribution Co. for construction of a warehouse addition at 317 Savannah Park Drive.
	[1_Council Memo for Tax Exemption 10-01-18.docx]
	[2_Standard Distribution Co Site Map.pdf]
	a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 2018)
	b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk.
	c. Oral comments.

	2. Pass an ordinance granting a partial property tax exemption to Standard Distribution Co. for construction of a warehouse addition at 317 Savannah Park Drive, upon its first consideration.
	[3_Partial Property Tax Exemption Ordinance - Standard Dist. Co.docx]

	3. Public hearing on a proposed Agreement for Private Development and conveyance of certain city-owned real estate to Six Kids, L.L.C.
	[1_Council Memo for Six Kids LLC 10-01-18.docx]
	[2_Six Kids, LLC Site Map.pdf]
	[3_CLEAN Authorizing Resolution for Six Kids, LLC.docx]
	[4_Agreement for Private Development - Six Kids, LLC.docx]
	[5_Quit Claim Deed - Six Kids, LLC.pdf]
	a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 2018)
	b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk.
	c. Oral comments.

	4. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development and a Minimum Assessment Agreement with Six Kids, L.L.C., and approving and authorizing execution of a Quit Claim Deed conveying title to certain real estate to Six Kids, L.L.C.
	5. Public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, Agricultural District, to HWY-1, Highway Commercial District, of property located in the southwest corner of Highway 58 and West Ridgeway Avenue, subject to certain conditions.
	[1_City Council Staff Report Henry Property Rezoning 10-01-18.docx]
	[2_ZoningLocationMap.pdf]
	[3_Rezoning Plat (5-18-2018).pdf]
	[4_Henry Farm Concept Site Plan 180614.pdf]
	a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 2018)
	b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk.
	c. Oral comments.

	6. Pass an ordinance amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property located in the southwest corner of Highway 58 and West Ridgeway Avenue from A-1, Agricultural District, and placing the same in HWY-1, Highway Commercial District, subject to certain conditions, upon its first consideration.
	[5_Ordinance Rezoning.docx]
	[6_Signed Conditional Zoning Agreement 09-25-18.pdf]

	7. Public hearing on the proposed rezoning from A-1, Agricultural District, to R-1, Residence District, of property located at the north end of Lakeshore Drive.
	[1 CC staff Report on park ridge estates rezoning 9-26-18.docx]
	[2 ZONING_LOCATION MAP.pdf]
	[3 Rezoning Exhibit 8.5x11.pdf]
	a. Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published September 21, 2018)
	b. Written objections filed with the City Clerk.
	c. Oral comments.

	8. Pass an ordinance amending Section 29-107 of the Code of Ordinances by removing property located at the north end of Lakeshore Drive from A-1, Agricultural District, and placing the same in R-1, Residence District, upon its first consideration.
	[4 Ord-Rezoning Park Ridge Estates.docx]


	F. Old Business:
	1. Pass Ordinance #2931, amending Chapter 29, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to design guidelines in the Central Business District Overlay Zoning District, upon its third & final consideration.
	[Ord 2931-CBD Overlay Amendment.docx]


	G. New Business:
	1. Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.)  
	a. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of September 17, 2018 relative to the following items:
(1) Promotion of Household Hazardous Materials Drop-off & Electronics Recycling Event – September 22, 2018. 
(2) Bills & Payroll.
	[Comm of the Whole 09 17 18.doc]

	b. Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to a certified list for the position of Information Systems Technician I.
	[Info Systems Tech I-Cert List 9-18.pdf]

	c. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of August 2018.
	[Monthly Report - August 2018.pdf]

	d. Approve a request for a street closure and parking variance for the Pink Ribbon Run on October 6, 2018.
	[1-Special Event Request Council Memo.doc]
	[2-Pink Ribbon Run.pdf]

	e. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses:
(1) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal.
(2) Chapala 2, 1704 West 1st Street, Class C liquor - renewal.
(3) Peppers Grill & Sports Pub, 620 East 18th Street, Class C liquor - renewal.
(4) Casey's General Store, 601 Main Street, Class E liquor - renewal.
(5) Fareway Store, 214 North Magnolia Drive, Class E liquor - renewal.
(6) Casey's General Store, 2425 Center Street, Class C beer & Class B native wine - adding Class B wine.
(7) Casey's General Store, 5226 University Avenue, Class C beer & Class B native wine - adding Class B wine.
(8) Casey's General Store, 5908 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B native wine - adding Class B wine.
	[Liquor Beer 9-27-18 (2).doc]


	2. Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 
	a. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow property located at 1028 West 12th Street.
	[1-Final Assessments Memo.pdf]
	[2-Assessment-1028 W 12th St-Supporting docs.pdf]

	b. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow property located at 424 Balboa Avenue.
	[3-Assessment-424 Balboa Ave-Supporting docs.pdf]

	c. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to mow and clear overgrown vegetation on the property located at 933 West 13th Street.
	[4-Assessment-933 W 13th St-Supporting docs.pdf]

	d. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Wantman Group, Inc. (WGI) to perform parking consulting services relative to a Downtown Parking Study.
	[1-DT Parking Study Consultant ccmemo-2018.doc]
	[2-Final Letter Agreement_Cedar Falls.pdf]

	e. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Amendment to SIRE Technologies Maintenance Agreement with Hyland Software, Inc. relative to the City's agenda management software.
	[1-Amendment memo.docx]
	[2-AMENDMENT TO SIRE TECHNOLOGIES MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT - 17201068.doc]
	[3-SIRE2009Agreement.pdf]

	f. Resolution approving and authorizing placement of a Gold Star Family monument in Veterans Memorial Park, subject to funding by private donations, as recommended by the Parks & Recreation Commission.
	[Gold Star Monument - Veterans Park-ALL.pdf]

	g. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a 28E Agreement for Tobacco, Alternative Nicotine and Vapor Product Enforcement with the Iowa Alcoholic Beverages Division.
	[1-tobacco grant council request 2018.doc]
	[2-2018 Tobacco Grant.pdf]

	h. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Letter of Agreement and Request for Provisionally Accredited Levee (PAL) Designation with U.S. Homeland Security relative to the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) accreditation of the levee.
	[1. FEMA Provisionally Accredited Levee.docx]
	[2. FEMA Levee Letter and Agreement.pdf]
	[3. FEMA Levee Accreditation Information.pdf]

	i. Resolution approving and accepting completion of public improvements in The Arbors Third Addition.
	[1. Memo-Final Acceptance of Arbors 3rd.pdf]
	[2. Maintenance Bond.pdf]
	[3. Arbors 3rd Final Plat.pdf]

	j. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of four Owner Purchase Agreements, and approving and accepting four Owner's Temporary Grading Easements and two Public Utility Easements, in conjunction with the West 1st Street Reconstruction Project.
	[1.council memo on w 1st street ROW acquisitions 9-13-18.docx]
	[2.W1stPropAcq181001 map.pdf]
	[3.1172_001.pdf]
	[4.1173_001.pdf]
	[5.1174_001.pdf]
	[6.1175_001.pdf]

	k. Resolution approving and authorizing Change Order No. 2 to the contract with Iowa Bridge & Culvert, LC for the 2017 Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project.
	[1. Levee - Change Order.docx]
	[2. Levee Change Order 2.pdf]

	l. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Owner Purchase Agreement, and approving and accepting a Partial Release of Real Estate Mortgage and Permanent Utility Easement, in conjunction with the 2017 Levee/Floodwall System Improvements Project.
	[1. Levee Easement.docx]
	[2. Purchase Agreement.pdf]
	[3. Release of Mortgage.pdf]
	[4. Easement.pdf]

	m. Resolution approving and accepting completion of traffic signal improvements in the Heritage Hills Estates Second Addition.
	[1. Signed Memo.pdf]
	[2. Resolution.doc]
	[3. Developmental Agreement.pdf]

	n. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Aureon Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system in the West 1st Street & North Union Road public right-of-way.
	[1. Memo Aureon 1st Street.docx]
	[2. Aureon License Agreement-1st Street.pdf]
	[3. Exhibit A.pdf]
	[4. Exhibit B.pdf]

	o. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a License Agreement with Aureon Network Services relative to installing a fiber optic telecommunications system in the Magnolia Drive & Crescent Drive public right-of-way.
	[1. Memo Aureon Crescent Drive.docx]
	[2. Aureon - Crescent Drive.pdf]
	[3. Exhibit A.pdf]
	[4. Exhibit B.pdf]

	p. Resolution approving and accepting the low bids, and approving and authorizing execution of three Rehabilitation Contracts with Kirvan Enterprises LLC, relative to Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) housing rehabilitation projects. 
	[1. Council memo-Rehab contracts.docx]
	[2. Rehab contract for 801 Newman.pdf]
	[3. Rehab contract for 911 Bluff.pdf]
	[4. Rehab contract for 921 Westview.pdf]

	q. Resolution approving a Central Business District Overlay Zoning District site plan for a deck addition at 419 Washington Street.
	[1. CC Staff report-Cottonwood Canyon.docx]
	[2. letter of intent.pdf]
	[3. updated site plan.pdf]
	[4. Supplimental materials.pdf]

	r. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Memorandum of Understanding with the City of Waterloo relative to Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) preparation of the City's FY20-24 Five-Year Consolidated Action Plan for the Community Development Block Grant & HOME Programs.
	[1. Council memo cost-share MOU.docx]
	[2. MOU Waterloo payment 9-21-18.docx]

	s. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Professional Service Agreement with the Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) relative to preparation of the Five-Year Consolidated Plan and Analysis of Impediments to Fair Housing for FFY 19-23 (City FY20-24). 
	[INRCOG contract - Consolidated Plan-ALL.pdf]

	t. Resolution of support for a grant application to the Black Hawk County Gaming Association relative to the Downtown Streetscape Project.
	[1. Council memo LOI submittal 10-1-18B.docx]
	[2. FINAL DtownStreetscape11x17.pdf]


	3. Pass an ordinance amending Chapter 6, Animals, of the Code of Ordinances relative to keeping of chickens and ducks, upon its first consideration.
	[1-cc memo on urban chickens on 9-27-18.doc]
	[2-Section 6-113 6-114 strikethrough (9-27-2018).final.docx]
	[3-Section 6-113 6-114 6-115 Ordinance clean (9-27-2018).final.docx]


	H. Allow Bills and Payroll.
	I. City Council Referrals.
	J. City Council Updates.
	K. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be reasonably expected to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce the price the governmental body would receive for that property, following Public Forum.
	L. Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City business.)
	M. Adjournment.



